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Company Profile 2 B4

A property developer providing mid-high end products
in southern China, Shenzhen Investment Limited is
43.09%-owned by Shenzhen's city government. It has been
listed in Hong Kong as a red chip (604.HK) since 1997.

Our land reserves are about 11.12 million square meters (GFA),
of which 2.05 million square meters are under construction.
We also hold approximately 600,000 square meters (GFA) of
investment properties at prime locations in Shenzhen. In
addition to providing stable rental income, these investment
properties also have potential for redevelopment.
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Corporate Information

RNAEH

Executive Directors
Mr. GUO Limin, Chairman
Mr. LU Hua, President (appointed on 21 June 2011)

Mr. XU Ruxin, President (resigned on 21 June 2011)

Mr. MOU Yong
Mr. LIU Chong

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. WU Jiesi

Mr. HUANG Yige (appointed on 27 March 2012)
Mr. LIU Biao (resigned on 27 March 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WONG Po Yan

Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael

Mr. LI Wai Keung

Company Secretary
Mr. LEE Ka Sze, Carmelo

Authorised Representative
Mr. GUO Limin
Mr. LU Hua

Auditors

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

Legal Adviser
Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo, Solicitors & Notaries

Principal Bankers
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Ltd.
The Bank of East Asia, Ltd.

The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Ltd.
Nanyang Commercial Bank Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Ltd.

Registered Office

8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre
9 Science Museum Road
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Tricor Standard Limited

26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

Website
http://www.shenzheninvestment.com
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Shareholding Structure
RERE

RE(RE)ERAA
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited

KERUEREERABAL

Strategic Investors and the Public

RIYIBERR AR D A
Shenzhen Investment Limited
B 1724555 Stock Code: 604

BHEZERAR
Road King Infrastructure Limited
BR12%E Stock Code: 1098

AEReXBERRAT
Coastal Greenland Limited
BR#41X%%E Stock Code: 1124

TEHBAR

Principal Subsidiaries

B3N

Principal Associates
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Financial Highlights
BBRE

2011 2010 Change in
HK$ million HK$ mi!lion Percentage
BEET BEATL #BEIM
Restated
]
Results EF
Revenue Wz 7,320.58  6,502.46 13%
Cost of sales $HE K AR 4,653.45  4,158.77 12%
Gross profit EX 2,667.13  2,343.69 14%
Share of profits and losses of associates &AL HE & A B F 12 &5 18 609.58 392.52 55%
Share of profits and losses of JEIEHAERIERE
jointly-controlled entitles i ) K 5 48 185.27 39.58 368%
Profit before tax B 5t Al it 2,892.29  2,440.53 19%
Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders [i% 3R & Ak FF s F 1,522.08  1,324.78 15%
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREKRZF CGEM) 42.86 37.47 14%
Dividend per share (HK cents) AR GBI 15.00 14.00 7%
Financial Position B % 5iR %
Net assets after non-controlling interests ~ FRIFIEMRER L FEE  15,543.38 13,474.90 15%
Cash and deposits (including pledged RekEFXR(BHEDEM
deposits and restricted cash) FREZREES) 5,236.38  6,179.79 -15%
Net loans FER 11,242.91 6,267.41 79%
Net assets per share after PR SR A i 2 12
non-controlling interests (HK$) BFEE (BT 4.29 3.81 13%
Major Ratios FELE
Gross profit margin (%) = R AE (%) 36.43 36.04 1%
Net debts to net assets after JF 8 TG BR SRR
non-controlling interests (%) s é/?éf?tt (%) 72.33 46.51 56%

FIERERAT 2011FF#H



Analysis of Revenue and Profit

W 2= & 0% A 2 47
2011 2010
HK$ million HK$ million
EX-Yi BEBT
Restated
e

Property development
Property investment
Property management
Manufacturing
Transportation services

Others

MEER
YRR E
g
3

B8R

Hfth

5,053.06 4,660.71
446.78 390.85
899.70 732.28
311.49 280.54
240.68 238.91
368.87 199.17

Property development
Property investment (Note)
Property management
Manufacturing
Transportation services

Others

UE 5

MERE (M)

mEER
2
EHRTG

H At

1,808.82 1,196.74
790.67 1,044.25
19.31 (7.25)
12.78 10.55
13.52 35.16
214.62 73.53

Note:  Segment results after increase in fair value of investment properties of
approximately HK$311.32 million (2010: HK$595.37 million).

MiaE: PBEXEDEFARENEAAENE
MH3I2BEEBT (=T T4
595.37E&ET) °
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Building in
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Terra Golden Valley Project

Located in Che Gong Miao, Futian District,

Shenzhen with the project comprises Cloud Pine,

Sea Pine, Red Pine, Water Pine and Golden Valley 6th,
with total construction area

of 350,000 square meters.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

In 2011, in facing such an unfavourable industry
environment, the Group had recorded steady and
satisfactory results through boosting its sales, conduct
prudent financial policies, reform and innovation,
thanks to the efforts of every staff.

—T——%F > BHEIFWITERE ZKEIEE%EIH/D

W INIRIEE -~ BRI - REAH - HEEE
S TIRTERITRFES o

Business Review K EE
In 2011, China’s macroeconomic situation was complicated and =T ——% FERHLEERLBEHS
volatile. The central government launched the stringent monetary % - AR BFHEITE AN EE BRI

policies and took a series of austerity control measures like ﬂ%im?mimﬁﬁT@%BEE% PR A8
home purchasing restriction and price cap on real estate market % — R7IE&E M FIEEHE - B BB
to effectively suppress investment and speculative demand. 1&& & # 1% & sk : R B K 0 s (R &
At the same time, it increased the construction of affordable EERXR BV REEMNERELHED

housings to establish the dual system of affordable housings and ~ ZJ T8 R o F A - 135 IFE R RF A
commodity residential housings. During the year, the market 3 ' ——@HMXZEBREZMH - —#F

regulating measures began to show effects, the volume of WMEMER ZEEXFEB T
housing transactions was severely shrunk in the first and second-

tier cities, real estate transaction prices began to drop in the first-

tier cities.

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Annual results and payment of dividends

During the year, the Group achieved a turnover of HK$7,320.6
million, representing an increase of 12.6% over the same period
of last year; Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent
was HK$1,522.1 million, representing an increase of 14.9%
over the same period of last year. Basic earnings per share was
HK42.86 cents, representing an increase of 14.4% over the same
period of last year. The Board recommended a final dividends of
HK8.0 cents per share for 2011.

Property development and sales and land reserves

During the year, the Group recorded 428,000 square meters in
property sales, representing a decrease of 9.2% over the same
period of last year, and achieved a net revenue in property sales
of HK$5,053.1 million, representing an increase of 8.4% over the
same period of last year. The Group achieved the contracted sales
income of approximately RMB 4.6 billion, thereby completing
98% of this year’s sales target. It achieved a new construction
area of 1.82 million square meters, representing an increase of
approximately 80% over the same period of last year, providing
sufficient supply for 2012.

During the year, the Group had newly added land with gross
floor area of 0.62 million square meters in Jiangsu Taizhou. As
at 31 December 2011, the Group had attributable gross floor
area in land reserve of 9.90 million square meters (excluding
the interests attributable to the Group in its three principal
associated companies), of which attributable gross floor area was
2.32 million square meters.

Structure optimization with promoting reform

During the year, the Group set up a commercial property
platform-Shum Yip Land Company Limited ORZE i HR A
A]) and integrated its internal regional housing companies
to further distinct the management structure and improve its
competitiveness. Moreover, the Group implemented a market-
oriented talent recruitment, evaluation and remuneration system,
and recruited talents with high quality from the market which
enhanced staff motivation and management standard.

FYERERAT 2011FF#H
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Healthy financial position

As at 31 December 2011, cash on hand for the Group amounted
to HK$5,236.4 million (including pledged deposits and restricted
cash) with net gearing ratio of 72.3%. During the year, the
Group successfully signed a four-year term syndicated loan
of US$209 million and HK$1,026 million and a 3-year term
commercial bank loan of HK$800 million at preferential rates in
order to refinancing those syndicated loans and optimize its debt
structure. As a result, the proportion of long term debts of the
Group increased to 69.9% from approximately 23.7% at end of
year and thereby its debt structure is being optimized.

Business outlook

Industry prospect

In 2012, with the tangled and complicated global economic
environment, the domestic economy is in the process of
transform from high growth to steady growth, facing the dual
pressures of slowing growth and inflation with uncertain
increment. The Central Economy Work Conference had clearly
signified to implement the fundamental direction of a proactive
fiscal policy and prudent monetary policy, and reiterating that
the real estate control policies will remain intact. With the
macro policies fine-tuning and the decrease in deposit reserve
rate towards the end of last year, the liquidity crunch situation
and enterprise operating environment will be mitigated in 2012.
However, the overall direction of the central government’s
control towards real estate market remains unchanged, the
austerity policies in suppressing the investment and spectacular
housing demand will continue, but will be eased out amicably
for the rigid demand of first-home buyers so as to facilitate
the rational adjustment of the structure and price level in real
estate market. Under the background of continuous control
policies, slowdown in sales and escalating overall debts level
in the industry, the real estate industry will experience a more
severe situation in the first half of 2012, with real estate prices
have further room for downward adjustments. As the policy
trend, its controlling effect and real estate market development
are interactive, the Group will closely monitor the economic
situation and industry policy development to cope with the
market changes on a timely basis.

Chairman’s Statement FE#HR %
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With the increasing costs in raw materials, labour and capital
funding, the profit margin for real estate enterprises is being
pressing down; the high growth module attained by real estate
enterprises through relying on the pre-sale mechanism and
financing leverage is facing a great challenge. The requirements
by property buyers on products, brand and services are
increasing continuously, with market competition becoming
more and more intense, rendering industry consolidation
emerging one after another. It has become a trend that major
enterprises will aim at scale expansion development and
medium-sized enterprise will look for professional development.
The Group, under the premise of ensuring steady operation, will
fully leverage on its own resource advantages, optimize regional
positioning and assets structure, and increase the professional
standard to form the core competitiveness to further enhance its
position in the industry.

Shenzhen

As affected from the stringent austerity measures, the housing
market in Shenzhen was still in downturn in 2011, with annual
trading volume remained at a sluggish level of 2.70 million
square meters, and housing price declining substantially. As one
of first-tier cities in the PRC, Shenzhen has clustered a large
number of market-oriented enterprises with innovative ability,
and has obvious competitiveness in terms of high and new
technology, financial and high-end services industries. Shenzhen
is one of cities having highest resident income in the PRC, with
a resident population of 10.0 million. The increase in local
resident income has driven the strong demand for consumption
upgrading and rigid demand for housing. These provide a wider
development room for the real estate market in Shenzhen,
especially commercial property market that are fast growing.
As such, the Group is of full confident about the long term
development potential and real estate market in Shenzhen.

FIERERAT 2011 FF#H
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Operating strategy

The Group will primarily adopt a prudent development approach
and focus its resources in the development of Shenzhen, so as
to establish Shenzhen and Pearl River Delta as the core district
with certain key cities as supplements to the regional layout. We
persist the residential property development in the medium and
high-end markets and stably expand the scale of commercial
properties with reasonable resources rationalization. At the same
time we enhance its sales level, optimize the assets structure to
ensure fund security and steady growth.

Real estate operation

The core of this year’s focus is to strive for the increase in sales
and return of capital. The Group aims to achieve a saleable
area of 1.53 million square meters with sales value reaching
approximately RMB15.0 billion in 2012, representing an increase
of approximately 60% over the same period of last year. The
target contracted sales of the Group is RMB6.0 billion in 2012,
representing an increase of 30% as compared with the actually
completed contracted sales income over the same period of last
year. The major projects include Terra Building (A KXE) ,
Qingshuihe Auto Logistic Park CEZAAEYEE ) , Noble Times
(RIEIR ) , Shum Yip Royal Garden (JRE4E ) , Shum Yip City
(RZ3) , Yundonghai (£%/8), Saina Bay (ZEM &), Euro-
view Garden (BXZ=EE%5), Wanlin Lake (### ), Nanhu Rose
Bay (K ¥2/2) and Rui Cheng (&%) > of which Terra Building
and Qingshuihe Auto Logictic Park project in Shenzhen are
non-residential projects and are received good response from
the market. The Group will take sales through rate as a leading
indicator to arrange its overall sales tasks, and adopt the flexible
pricing strategy to strive for achieving the sales target.

In order to realize the sustainable development and steadily
promote the development of projects, the Group plans to
construct 26 new projects with gross floor area of 2.45 million
square meters in 2012. The Group will timely and appropriately
adjust its development pace based on project sales conditions
and external financing environment in refining its project
development progress. On one hand, it will ensure striking a
balance of the cash position among the projects and on the other
hand, ensures the sufficiency of saleable volume for this year and
the year ahead.

Chairman’s Statement E[E3}
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Land reserves

The Group maintains its existing scale of land reserves with
structure optimization based on prudent principles. The Group
will focus its development in Shenzhen, strive to achieve a
breakthrough in obtaining high quality assets injection by
parent company and urban regeneration projects to complement
its quality land resources. At the same time, the Group will,
according to the market conditions, seek opportunities, and
adjust the land reserve structure to improve its land bank quality.

Re-development

The Group has 5 re-development projects in Shenzhen, which
are locating at Sungang, Qingshuihe, Shangbu, Chegongmiao
and Guanlan respectively, with total planned gross floor area of
approximately 1.60 million square meters. Such projects, with
considerable profitability, are important resources of the Group
in focusing on the development in Shenzhen. The Group will,
by leveraging on its government background advantage and
established coordination mechanism, speed up the progress
in project planning application, demolition and land usage
procedures registration, strive to facilitate the pre-sale launch for
Qingshuihe Auto Logistic Park Phase | project, and obtain the
confirmation on land usage planning indicators for the projects
in Sungang.

Commercial property

As one of first-tier cities in the PRC, Shenzhen has a vast
development prospect in commercial property sector. The
Group has many re-development projects located at the prime
locations in Shenzhen. These projects will be planned to
develop integrated urban complex comprising office premises,
commercial properties, hotels and residential buildings in the
future. Moreover, Shum Yip Group, the controlling shareholder,
has over 3.0 million square meters of land sites located at the
core districts in Shenzhen. The Group will strategically enter into
the commercial property industry, recruit high calibre talents,
train up professional teams, strive for developing a model of
commercial property concurrent with its own characteristics,
explore various financing channels to commit ourselves to
become a premier commercial property operator in Shenzhen.
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Healthy financial position

The Group will adhere to the consistent principle of maintaining
healthy financial position, actively explore various financing
channels, endeavour to reduce financing costs to provide
adequate protection of financial resources for its business
development.

Corporate Prospect

In 2012, with difficulties and opportunities co-existing, the
Group will ensure a stable operation, grasp market opportunities,
leverage on its resources advantages, optimize its layout to
sustain a steady growth. The Board is in full confidence that the
Group will achieve a rapid growth in next three years.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, stakeholders and organizations for
their full support and trust on Shenzhen Investment during the
past year.

GUO Limin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2012
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Garden Hill

Located in the Safflower Lake Scenic Area

of the mountain city of Huizhou.

The project covers an area of 497,800 square meters,
with total construction area

of 630,000 square meters.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER W R

Business review

In 2011, the Group endeavoured to overcome the impact of
stringent monetary policies and real estate austerity control
and focused its efforts in ensuring stable finance, accelerating
property sales, improving management standard, thereby being
able to maintain a steady development momentum.

Overall Results

During the year, the Group achieved a turnover of HK$7,320.6
million, representing an increase of 12.6% over the same period
of last year. Gross profit margin was 36.4%, representing an
increase of 0.4 percentage points over the same period of last
year. Among which, gross profit margin of property development
was 40.5%, representing an increase of 2.2 percentage points
over the same period of last year. Profit for the year attributable
to owners of the parent was HK$1,522.1 million, representing
an increase of 14.9% over the same period of last year. Basic
earnings per share was HK42.86 cents, representing an increase
of 14.4% over the same period of last year.

Property development and sales

During the year, the Group recorded 428,000 square meters in
property sales (excluding the interests attributable to the Group
in its three principal associated companies), representing a
decrease of 9.2% over the same period of last year and achieved
a net revenue in property sales of HK$5,053.1 million (net of
business tax), representing an increase of 8.4% over the same
period of last year. During the year, among the settlement
projects categorized by net sales amount, 20.2% was office
buildings and shops. The products under this part were slightly
affected by the real estate austerity control and with high
profitability. Accordingly, gross profit margin of real estate
development increased by 2.2 percentage points to 40.5% over
the same period of last year.

£ c)

—E——% K'Elﬂj]ﬁﬁﬁiﬁéi%fﬁ%
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FA-ANEBEEREFETE7,320.68
BB R EF12.6% - FEFERE
36.4% bt EFRIE_ EFO0.41EH 75 2B
Horh b EE 5 3 E A X R40.5% 0 A B
ERR2.21E & 5 B o B IR AR FE (G 457
1,522 1B &8 Rtk EA14.9% °
FRREKRZAF H42. 86781 Bt EFF
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MEBBREE
FR-AEBLEEYEHEMIE42.8
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Table of Property Sales Booked in 2011 01T FHEEYHEBEER

1 Wanlin Lake Phase II Residential 3,064 14,355 42
&8 — B =

2 Wanlin Lake Phase Ill Residential 4,552 8,226 35
B = 88 F=

3 Wanlin Lake Phase V Residential 33,770 5,596 178
& MO8 T B T=

4 Noah Mountain Forest Phase | Residential 2,102 3,018 6
g LAk — R F=

5 Noah Mountain Forest Phase Il Residential 2,903 5,685 16
U F=E

6 Noah Mountain Forest Phase Il Residential 32,519 4,556 140
#hae LAk =2 F=

7 Garden Hill Residential 35,422 4,842 162
ERUEZE F=

8  Jinxiu Jiangcheng Phase 1.1(Residential ) Residential 41,148 4,686 182
WAEZWIHEE F=

9 Jinxiu Jiangcheng Phase 1.1(Shops) Shops 808 8,772 7
ko2 AR TE L]

10  Snow Pine Building Office-buildings 35,293 21,886 744

11 Tianan Golf Longyuan Residential 12,133 44,377 518
REmBAEE T=

12 Nanhu Rose Bay Phase | Residential 1,946 19,001 35
MRS — HR F=

13 Nanhu Rose Bay Phase Il Residential 2,175 10,772 22
98 B R /& — BB =

14 Nanhu Rose Bay Phase IlI Residential 7,805 36,099 266
FEMBERE =5 F=

15  Purple Kylin Hill District | Residential 9,985 25,796 243
EBL—= F=

16 Purple Kylin Hill District Il Shops Shops 308 28,928 8
KB R Bkl

17 Purple Kylin Hill District Ill Residential 70,099 11,940 790
EBL=[= =

18 Royal Spring Garden - Shops Shops 5,499 12,563 65
BRI — A Bk

19  Royal Spring Garden — Houses Residential 42,942 7,197 291
WRIL—FFE F=E

20 Royal Spring Garden — Parking lots Parking lot 1,797 7,977 13
A SR — Bz B

21 Shum Yip City Phase | District | Residential 2,229 6,714 14
REW—H—E =

22 Shum Yip City Phase | Shops Shops 2,139 16,515 34
REW —HRE Bkl

23 Shum Yip City Phase | District Il Residential 50,166 6,325 299
AER R F=E

24 Shum Yip City Parking lots Parking lot 24,187 3,522 80
RE B AL B

25 Others & 3,264 1,757 6

20 FYERERAT 2011FF#H






During the year, the Group achieved 501,731 square meters
in contracted sales area and contracted sales income of
approximately RMB4,586 million, representing an increase of
6.5% over the same period of last year.

2011 Annual Contracted Sales Table

FAAREEER A RESMEES01,731
FHK AREEBAARES 5868
Bt Rkt EFA6.5% -

2011 FEEREERE

1 Wanlin Lake 65,125
B

2 Garden Hill Phase | 13,930
F1h %5 —H

3 Noah Mountain Forest 57,209
& 25 AR

4 Jiangsu Splendid Phase | 71,532
BRI —

5  Euro-view Garden 18,627
(69 =¥ )

6  Snow Pine Building 2,503
E VN

7 Tianan Golf Longyuan 16,536
RS BREE

8  Wuhan Nanhu Rose Bay 21,758
HOER W HIRE

9  Chengdu Yihu Rose Bay 5,486
BXER G W B S

10 Purple Kylin Hill 71,309
KB

11 Royal Spring Garden 47,700
2R 1L

12 Shum Yip City 48,121
REW

13 Noble Times 28,345
SR B

14 Yundonghai 27,441
%8

15 Maanshan Hua Fu 6,109
BEILER

386 5,934
140 10,023
313 5,478
340 4,758
136 7,279

60 23,967
708 42,817
229 10,532

66 12,042
972 13,631
351 7,351
267 5,545
303 10,680
269 9,820

46 7,473
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Project development and land reserves

During the year, the Group had 18 newly constructed projects
with new construction area of approximately 1.82 million square
meters, a significant increase over the same period of last year.
The Group had 12 completed projects with a completed area of
approximately 1.05 million square meters.

During the year, the Group purchased a parcel of land in
Taizhou. The site area of newly added projects was 260,000
square meters, with gross floor area of 620,000 square meters,
land acquisition costs of approximately RMB1.1 billion and
average floor area land premium of approximately RMB1,780 per
square meter.

As of the end of December 2011, the Group had a total gross
land reserve of 10.78 million square meters (in gross floor
area) with attributable gross floor area of 9.90 million square
meters (excluding the interests attributable to the Group in its
three principal associated companies). Of which, the Group
had 24 property projects under construction with a total gross
floor area of approximately 2.72 million square meters and an
attributable gross floor area of 2.32 million square meters. At
present, the Group’s land reserve in first-tier cities accounted
for approximately 14.4%; land reserve in second-tier cities
accounted for approximately 14.8%; land reserve in third-and
fourth-tier cities accounted for 70.8%. Our diversified land
reserves are sufficient to meet the development needs in the next
five to six years.

HEMAERTHHEE
FRNAREBEFHFIIER18E  FHHEL
HELN1828F Ktk EFREAF K
BREE TTERNRME TIEELD
1058 F 5K

FERANEBERIMNEE 00 FILIE
B EiE268 T 50K - R EHE E62
BX K BHEANAREI1ET:
FHEEEN AR, 7807T, FH

BT+ A KNEE+H
BN AREEmEAT,0788F X
M EEMIEIIE F K (TNEIER
EEE=REBH A QARG ERS
He - FEBEHAE AEREERELD
2728 F K R EEmME2328 F
FHAKe BAl AEBE G TA i
EEA1E14.4% « TR EE
#9(514.8% : ZPUERE T (570.8% ° %
LR L HEBRAImERRAZEANF
Ei9fEa e 3=2 e
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Table of land reserves by city distribution

+ T 2 R

Percentage of

Gross Attributable Attributable

Province City floor area floor area floor area
BEZEHE

N W MEREEE EEEEEE bt E
(sqm) (F772K) (sqm) (FF7K) %

Guangdong E®  Shenzhen &Il 1,136,225 1,076,576 10.88%
Huizhou /M 999,770 999,770 10.10%

Foshan @8 [L| 1,541,697 1,541,697 15.58%

Dongguan ® 58 187,531 187,531 1.90%

Heyuan JA /R 887,379 887,379 8.97%

Guangzhou &M 349,236 349,236 3.53%

Hubei j#dk Wuhan & # 187,006 98,178 0.99%
Hunan #7 Changsha &% 1,107,334 914,711 9.24%
Anhui Z & Maanshan 5%z 1L 1,444,251 1,444,251 14.60%
Chaohu 54 167,431 133,945 1.35%

Jiangsu )T & Jiangyan Z1E 1,455,133 1,349,861 13.64%
Changzhou & /! 171,377 171,377 1.73%

Sichuan F3)I| Chengdu f% #P 859,519 455,248 4.60%
Xinjiang # & Kashi P& {t+ 285,668 285,668 2.89%
Total &5t 10,779,557 9,895,428 100.00%

Land Reserve * ik E

Land reserves sorted by Usage

BARS Bz B

Land reserves sorted by Provinces

BEOGD Bz A

B 5096% Guangdong E# B 9047% Residential &

B 099% Hubei it g;g%cg
I 924%  Hunan i B 580% Logistics %7
15.95% Anhui Z# . 1.28%  Industrial T2
I 1537% Jiangsu ST 2.45%  Hotel SEE
4.60%  Sichuan JI|
2.89%  XinJiang ¥758

24 FIERERAT 2011FF#H



Furthermore, during the year, the Group acquired the 60% equity
interests in a land arrangement project which has an area of
approximately 807 acres in ChengHua District, Chengdu and
started the land consolidation works of demolishing buildings,
land levelling and electricity and water supply, etc. The Primary
Land Development Arrangement Project will provide more
opportunities for the Group to acquire land reserves at low costs
in future.

Property investment

During the year, the Group’s investment property continued
to maintain a steady growth. The total area of our investment
properties was over 600,000 square meters, with an achieved
rental income of HK$446.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately 14.3% over the same period of last year. During
the year, the Group recorded a revaluation gain of HK$311.3
million in its investment property portfolio and had already been
accounted for as profit for the year.

BEo - REEE R F A RS T Ak ER T A EE
[ 49807 A K9 L 1 — A FAEE I8 B 60%HY
A - WHtREITEEMIFE - LT
B HEHKE L HEIETEe £ —
RFAIEE AR E B R RIEK AN E
RtFEEREES Ko

MERE

FRN AEEETYEREEBEE
REBLERE -AEBEREMELR
FEiBiBe0E T K AHERHEE W
A446.8E BB b EFRE EFALD
14.3% - FR AEBBREMES
AEMEE3N3EEB T BAR
FH)E

Noah Mountain Forest

AL

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

25



26

Commercial property

During the year, the Group established Shum Yip Land Company
Limited ORFE M AR A Al) as its commercial property
operation platform to manage all the potential city complex
projects of the Group in Shenzhen and elsewhere. At present,
the Group is striving for developing a development model for
the Group’s commercial property and prepares commercial
property plans, equips itself well in preparing the Group for the
development of commercial property business.

Jointly-controlled entities

During the year, Taizhou Shum Yip Investment Development
Limited (a 51% owned company of the Group) made a net
profit contribution of HK$185.3 million to the Group. The
principal activity of this company is providing relevant service
to local governments in primary land development arrangement.
During the year, part of the land was successfully sold through
government public land auction, of which one parcel of land was
acquired by the Group.

Performance by associated companies

During the year, performance of the Group’s investments in
associated companies was satisfactory. Of which, Shenzhen
Tianan Cyberpark Co., Ltd., made a net profit contribution of
HK$277.4 million to the Group, representing an increase of
18.7% over the same period of last year. Road King Infrastructure
Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong, made a net profit
contribution of HK$223.1 million to the Group, representing
an increase of 30.9% over the same period of last year. Coastal
Greenland Limited, another listed company in Hong Kong,
turned from loss into profit and made a profit of HK$23.4 million
to the Group, as compared to the loss of HK$69.7 million in
the same period of last year. The Group made a provision for
impairment of approximately HK$200 million in respect of
the investment in Coastal Greenland in accordance with the
accounting standards.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H
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Financial position

During the year, the Group successfully entered into a 4-year
term syndicated loan of US$209,000,000 and HK$1,026,000,000
and a 3-year term commercial bank loan of HK$800,000,000
with eight commercial banks (including Bank of China) at
preferential interest rates in Hong Kong in order to optimize its
debt structure.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s total bank loans amounted
to HK$16,479.3 million, of which HK$15,802.1 million were
floating-rate loans, and the rest were fixed rate loans. Long-
term loans amounted to HK$11,514.0 million, representing
approximately 69.9% of the total bank loans, and short-term
loans were HK$4,965.3 million, representing approximately
30.1% of the total bank loans.

As of 31 December 2011, the Group’s cash balance (including
pledged deposits and restricted cash) was HK$5,236.4 million,
of which approximately 75.5% and 24.5% were denominated
in Renminbi and other currencies (mainly in US$ and HKS$)
respectively. As the Group’s main operating cash flow is in
Renminbi, while the assets held and debts committed are mainly
stated in Renminbi and US Dollar respectively, exchange rate
movements will have positive financial impact to the Group in
the short run.

B 3RO

FR-ABLEEEBER AE5EUER
A RIERBEPBFITESRE ¥R
1IN EF2.09BE 2 M10.26/8%8 T
AFHREE R A RSIEBITH3F
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R—E——F+=-_A=+—H &
BERITE @5 16,479.3 B BB T
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As at 31 December 2011, the Group had net assets (after non-
controlling interests) of HK$15,543.4 million and the ratio of net
debts to net assets (after non-controlling interests) was 72.3%.

Table of financial position

HK$ million

B BET

Bank loans IRITE X
Long-term loans RHER
Short-term loans HMEER
Floating-rate loans FRER

Cash (including pledged deposits and
restricted cash) XRHEL)
Net loans FER

Net asset after non-controlling interests Bk 32 B 2 18 )% & B2

Net gearing ratio FEAREBELE
Ratio of long-term loans REVE PTG H B

R—ZZE——F+-_A=+—8 &&
BRI TR B FEE A15,543.4
BEBI  FERIGERIEIERERRF
BENEERE72.3%-°

Be BROERERR

BB R &
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
20114 20104
12A31H 12H31H
(Restated)
(rgE%)
16,479.3 12,447.2
11,514.0 2,951.7
4,965.3 9,495.5
15,802.1 11,398.6
5,236.4 6,179.8
11,242.9 6,267.4
15,543.4 13,474.9
72.3% 46.5%
69.9% 23.7%

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2011, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited,
the parent company of the Group is interested in approximately
43.91% of the Group, and is the largest shareholder of the
Group.

During the year, a total of 3,400,000 share options granted
were exercised. During the year, the Group issued a total of
86,056,214 shares to the shareholders who chose to receive scrip
dividends as interim dividends, of which, a total of 68,372,565
shares were issued to Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, the
largest shareholder, which had elected to receive all its dividends
in scrip dividends. During the year, the Group did not repurchase
any share of the Group.

As at 31 December 2011, the issued share capital of the Group
was 3,626,024,304 shares (31 December 2010: 3,536,568,090
shares).

FIERERAT 2011FF#H
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Staff headcount and remuneration

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a total staff number
of 19,009, of which 30 were stationed in Hong Kong (mainly
managerial and finance-related personnel), and the rest were in
China.

During the year, the Group implemented a market-oriented
talent management solution to conduct competition for posts
and two-way selection for all middle management positions
and professional positions, and executed the new market-
oriented remuneration mechanism according to professional
qualifications, industry experience and relevant market trends
to further improve the employment mechanism and incentive
mechanism. In addition, the Group increased the efforts in
professional recruitment from the market to optimize the team
structure. The adoption of the market-oriented approach to
recruit high-end talents will ensure the provision of human
resources for future business development, especially for the
resources of commercial real estate team.

Employee benefits include salaries, allowances, medical
insurance and mandatory retirement contributions. We also issue
bonuses and grant share options, under the share option scheme
of the Group, to employees based on individual performance and
the results of the Group.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERSRITHRAE

Executive Directors #1TE=E

GUO Limin
IR

Mr. GUO Limin, aged 49, is Chairman of the Board of Directors of Shum Yip Group
Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and Shenzhen Investment Limited. He
holds a master’s degree in International Business from Hunan University of China
and a bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering from Beijing Institute of Chemical
Industry, and obtained a degree in EMBA from Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology in December 2011. Prior to joining Shum Yip in August 2009 and being
appointed Chairman of the Board of Shenzhen Investment Limited on 9 September
2009, he was chief of State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of Shenzhen Municipality, chairman of Shenzhen Airport (Group) Company, deputy
director of Development Planning Commission of Shenzhen Municipality, secretary
of administration office of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Government, secretary
of administration office of Ministry of Chemical Industry of P.R.C. At present, he
is a non-executive director of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd.,
Road King Infrastructure Limited and Coastal Greenland Limited, all being listed
public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Guo has over twenty years of experience in
administrative management.

BIREE TOt+hm REEBERAR REX(RE)ERARALFIIZERER D
RAESEREFE FHEEATEARAREREZBRLBURIER(CTISRICETRR
RBITEM IN-F——F+ - AEGBEARRABEMBAR - —FTNF/\ AN
AREEE RAFENANBERIERERRABDEEREIF HUZA BERNTE
BEEEEEEZEBES@TME AYTHRESEEBRARESR  RIMERTE B
BRRITARBERABME BFREIHHRABWESFRL - RE RAFEL
MARRAFEFLZRE (FE)BRNERLAF BHEZERARARAEZECHKER
BRARZHEANTEZ - RETRERSTHER _+Z2F2&%-

LU Hua
=

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

Mr. LU Hua, aged 48, was appointed as Executive Director and President of Shenzhen
Investment Limited on 21 June 2011. He is currently the President of Shum Yip Group
Limited and Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited. He holds a doctorate degree in
Political Economics from Nankai University and a master’s degree in Finance from
University of Reading in UK. Mr. LU had served successively as chairman of Shahe
Industrial Co., Ltd., (A Share Company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
Stock code: SZ000014), secretary of party committee and chairman of Shenzhen
Shahe Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. and acting general manager of Shenzhen Property
Development Company Ltd. He has vast experience of over twenty years in property
development, corporate governance and administrative management.

BRESE W+ N\R RZTE——F XA+ —BEZEARIERBRARNITE
ERBH - RRERZEBARAAEAE (RE)BRAFAH REAERASZZ
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Directors and Senior Management EEZERSRITHAE

Executive Directors #1TESE

MOU Yong
25

Mr. MOU Yong, aged 49, is a director of Shum Yip Group Limited and Shum Yip
Holdings Company Limited, he is an Executive Director of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. He is also a director of various members of Shum Yip. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Chinese Language and Literature from Shanxi University of
Technology. Presently, he is a lawyer of People’s Republic of China and Arbitrator
of Shenzhen Arbitration Commission. He joined Shum Yip in November 2009. Prior
to this, he held positions in State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Shenzhen Municipality as chief of Management Office of Enterprise
Leaders and chief of General Office. Mr. Mou has extensive experience in corporate
governance and administrative management.

EBEE Wt+thm REREEEERAFALAE (FE)ARAFAES  RYIER
BRARATES RN AAEREZRKERAZES REBREETANERERE
EXBREXELBU-RATEARAMBEN  RINFHEZESHFRE - —FTAEF
T—AMAREEE A REEFRITEAEEEEEEEZESLXEEAEE
BERRR WAETE ECXEERTHERSFERAEE  TIEKR-

LIU Chong
EIES

Mr. LIU Chong, aged 52, is currently the Vice President of Shum Yip Group Limited,
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and Shenzhen Investment Limited, and an
Executive Director of Shenzhen Investment Limited. He holds a bachelor’s degree and
postgraduate qualification from Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics, majoring
in Accounting. Presently, he is a Senior Accountant. Prior to joining Shum Yip in April
2010, he served successively as deputy general manager and financial controller of
Shenzhen SDG Company Limited CRINTT R EBEHR 2 A]) , director and financial
controller of Shenzhen Petrochemical (Holdings) Co., Ltd., director and financial
controller of Shenzhen Health Mineral Water Co., Ltd., director of Shenzhen Tellus
Holdings Company Limited. At present, he is an independent director of Shenzhen
Shenxin Taifeng Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu has 29 years of experience in finance and
accounting management.
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Non-Executive Directors HITEE

WU Jiesi

FYERERAT 2011FF#H

Dr. WU Jiesi, aged 60, is a Non-Executive Director of Shenzhen Investment Limited.
Dr. WU holds a doctorate degree in Economics. He conducted post-doctorate
research work in theoretical economics at the Nankai University in the PRC and was
conferred a professorship qualification by Nankai University in 2001. Dr. WU served
in various capacities with the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China from 1984 to
1995 and was the president of the Shenzhen Branch. Later, he has been the deputy
mayor of the Shenzhen Municipal Government from 1995 to 1998. And from 1998
to 2000, he has been the assistant to the Governor of Guangdong Province. Dr. WU
had been the chairman and honorary president of Guangdong Investment Limited, a
director and honorary president of Guangdong Tannery Limited, an executive director
of Hopson Development Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director
of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. He was also an independent non-executive
director of a listed public company on New York Stock Exchange, namely Yingli Green
Energy Holding Company Limited. At present, Dr. WU is a non-executive director and
deputy chairman of a listed public company in Hong Kong, namely China Aoyuan
Property Group Limited; He is also an independent non-executive director of China
Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited, Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited,
and a non-executive director of China Water Affairs Group Limited and Silver Base
Group Holdings Limited, all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Dr.
WU has rich experience in finance and corporate management.

REZBL N5 RYNEBRERAFFJTESF KRB HEREEBLEM A
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Non-Executive Directors 3k #HTE S

HUANG Yige
B8

Mr. HUANG Yige, aged 43, is currently a director and financial controller of Shum
Yip Group Limited and Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited. He was appointed
as independent non-executive director on 27 March 2012 of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. He holds a master degree in business administration and has qualifications
as a senior accountant and chartered accountant in PRC. Mr. HUANG had served
as director and financial controller of Shenzhen Metro Group Co., Ltd, financial
controller of Shenzhen Agricultural Group Co., Ltd, administrative controller and also
assistant financial controller and investment general manager of A. Best Department
Store Supermarket Co., Ltd, assistant to president of PU)||3HERZEZEER S E RN BRA
A]. He has extensive experience in corporate management, finance management and
treasury operation.

B REE WOt =m RERXEEERAR XX (FE)ERAPNEST LT HR
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BEBRERVBRIAERRELKE W)IEREFEREBRNER A FLED)
BER -RECKER UBERNENEFS T EAMEEZLELR-

LIU Biao
2=

Mr. LIU Biao, aged 38, is a director and Financial Controller of Shum Yip Group
Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, he is also a non-executive director of
Shenzhen Investment Limited (resigned on 27 March 2012). He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in International Accounting from Xiamen University and a master’s degree in
Business Administration (MBA) from Tongji University in Shanghai. Presently, he is a
Senior Accountant and Certified Public Accountant of People’s Republic of China. He
joined Shum Yip in April 2008 and was appointed as director and financial controller.
Prior to this appointment, he held positions in Shenzhen Cereals Group Company
Limited as director and financial controller, Shenzhen Fiyta Holdings Limited as
manager of Finance Department and Audit Department. Mr. Liu has more than
10-year working experience in corporate financial management, finance and audit.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors B Y EHITES

WONG Po Yan
BERMR

Mr. WONG Po Yan, G.B.M, C.B.E., J.P., aged 89, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director on 16 December 1996. Mr. Wong holds an honorary
doctorate degree in Business Administration from the City University of Hong
Kong and an honorary doctorate degree in Social Science from Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is the founder of United Overseas Enterprises, Ltd, the honorary
president of Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is
formerly the vice chairman of the Basic Law Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region under the Standing Committee of the National People’s
Congress of the PRC, a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council and chairman
of the Airport Authority of Hong Kong. At present, Mr. Wong is an independent non-
executive director of the following listed public companies in Hong Kong: namely,
Allied Group Limited, Fintronics Holdings Company Limited, China Electronics
Corporation Holdings Company Limited, Sinopec Kantons Holdings Limited, Alco
Holdings Limited and Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited.
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LI Wai Keung
FRA
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Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 55, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
on 27 September 2004. Mr. Li graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic and holds a
master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of East Asia. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Li had worked for Henderson Land
Development Company Limited (a listed company in Hong Kong). Mr. Li is currently
a non-executive director of GDI, an executive director and financial controller of
GDH Limited and financial controller of Guangdong Holdings Limited. He was an
independent non-executive director of Hong Long Holdings Limited (a listed company
in Hong Kong) for the period from March 2010 to May 2011. He is also an executive
director of Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited (being a listed public Company in
Hong Kong) and an independent non-executive director of Hans Energy Company
Limited and China South City Holdings Limited, a director of Shenzhen City Airport
(Group) Company Limited, a member on the Council of the Hong Kong Chinese
Orchestra Limited, and also vice chairman of the Financial and Accounting Affairs
Steering Committee of the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association ( & # Bl 1> 2
HheENEeEXZES
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Independent Non-Executive Directors B Y F #TESE

WU Wai Chung
RER

Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael, aged 62, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on 9 October 2002. He was formerly the deputy chairman of
the Shanghai Stock Exchange and a Commissioner in the Strategy & Development
Committee of the China Securities Regulatory Commission. Prior to that, he was
deputy chairman, chief operating officer and executive director responsible for the
Intermediaries Division, comprising the Licensing and Intermediaries Supervision
Departments until his departure from the Securities and Futures Commission on 31
December 1997. At present, Mr. Wu is an independent non-executive director of SW
Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited and an executive director of Tradelink Electronic
Commerce Ltd, all being listed public companies in Hong Kong.

RERELE N+ R-ZEZ_FTANBEBZERBIUIFATES BELEE
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Senior Management S &R THA B

Mr. LIANG Kaiping, aged 53, is currently Vice President of Shum
Yip Group Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and
Shenzhen Investment Limited. At present, he is chairman of Shum
Yip Pengji Holdings Company Limited and Shum Yip Southern
Land (Holdings) Co. Ltd.. He graduated from Wuhan University,
holding a master’s degree in history. He joined Shum Yip in 2000
and held position as deputy managing director of Shenzhen Shum
Yip Investment Company Ltd. and director and deputy general
manager of Shenzhen Shum Yip Logistics Group Holdings Co.,
Ltd. Prior to the appointments, he was director and president of
Shenzhen Futian Investment and Development Company, general
manager of Shenzhen Futian Real Estate Development Company
Ltd. ORI R EEHERE R 7)) , and deputy director of Office
of Futian District Committee of Shenzhen. Mr. Liang has over
twenty years of experience in corporate management.
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Mr. MA Xinjian, aged 59, is a graduate of Henan Xinyang Normal
University and a Senior Economist. Mr. Ma joined Shum Yip
in 1994. He is currently chairman and secretary of the Party
Committee of Shum Yip Terra Holdings Co., Ltd. Prior to this
appointment, he was secretary of the Party Committee and
deputy general manager of Shenye Pengji Holdings Company
Limited, chairman and secretary of the Party Committee of Shum
Yip Southern Land (Holdings) Co., Ltd. He also served in the
organizations, namely Hubei Provincial Military Region DPA,
Hubei Provincial Economic Commission. Mr. Ma has more than
twenty years of corporate management experience.

J[HEEE AT AR EERNAREE
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Mr. ZHANG Baowu, aged 56, is the President of Shum Yip Land
Company Limited. He holds a Bachelor of Engineering Degree
at Hefei University of Technology, a senior economist and joined
Shum Yip in July 1999. He once worked as Chairman of Shum
Yip Southern Land (Holdings) Co., Ltd., general manager of
Hengli International Company Limited, special duty supervisor
of Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, assistant to president
of the Group, general manager of investment department, and
general manager of Shum Yip Southern Land (Holdings) Co.,
Ltd.. Prior to this, he once worked in various positions like
section chief level/staff member of Development and Reform
Commission of Anhui Province, secretary of deputy division
chief level of The General Office of the People’s Government
of Anhui Province, manager of Anhui Chemical and Material
Company Limited and manager of Shenzhen Nanyou Chemical
and Material Company Limited. He has rich experience in
administration management, corporate management, real estate
development and operation.
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Mr. TAM Ping Lung, aged 60, is Deputy General Manger and
Secretary of the Board of Shenzhen Investment Limited. He
holds an MBA degree. Prior to joining the Company in February
1997, Mr. Tam held senior positions in various multinational
corporations and had 9 years of experience in an international
accounting firm in Hong Kong.
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Mr. LU Jigiang, aged 41, is currently Co-secretary of Board and
Chief Legal Officer of Shenzhen Investment Limited. He holds a
master’s degree of Civil and Commercial Law from Law School of
Peking University. Presently, he is a PRC Lawyer and Arbitrator of
China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
(CIETAC). He joined Shum Yip in November 2003. Prior to this,
he worked in China Commercial Group. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in corporate operation management, law affairs,
compliance and risk management control.
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Mr. ZHANG Xuebin, aged 50, is currently the General Manager
of Financial Planning Department of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. He obtained a master’s degree of Management
Engineering from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology. He joined Shum Yip in 1996. He has successively
held positions as general manager of Financial Planning
Department of Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and
Shenzhen Investment Limited, assistant to general manager and
manager of General Administration Department of Shum Yip
(Shenzhen) Industry & Trade Development Co. He has more than
17 years of experience at finance department.
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Mr. ZHU Guogqiang, aged 39, is currently the general manager
of Strategic Management Department of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. Mr. Zhu obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration (MBA) from Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology. He joined Shum Yip Group Limited and Shenzhen
Investment Limited in 2004, and held positions as general
manager of Assets Management Department and [nvestment
Department in Shenzhen Investment Limited. Prior to this, he
worked in Shenzhen Construction Investment Holdings. Mr.
Zhu has been familiar with the real estate market and property
development process and has maintained good communication
with investors and capital markets.
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Overview

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standard of corporate governance. The Directors strongly
believe that good corporate governance is an essential element in
steering the development of the business of the Group.

The Board and its management understand that it is their
responsibility to establish a good corporate management
system and practice and strictly comply with the principles of
independence, accountability, responsibility and impartiality so
as to improve the operation transparency of the Company, protect
the interest of shareholders and create values for shareholders.

The following is a summary of our improvement in corporate
management in accordance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices:

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year of 2011, the Company had complied with
the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited for the time being in force (hereinafter
referred to as the “Listing Rules”).

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Structure
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Corporate Governance Report ®¥E4H

Board of Directors

Responsibilities

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board is responsible
for formulating the overall strategy and policy of the Company,
to supervise and evaluate the business and financial performance
of the Company. Through the setting up of appropriate risk
control policies and procedures, the Board ensures the operation
of the Company is running effectively and by setting up a
comprehensive corporate governance structure, it is able to
facilitate the communication with its shareholders.

Nomination of Directors

The Board is responsible for selecting and nominating suitable
candidates eligible to join the Board of Directors of the
Company. The executive directors are responsible to review and
assess the conduct, qualifications of the candidates and whether
they possess the respective business experience applicable to the
Company. Thereafter, they will present their recommendations to
the Board for consideration and approval.

During 2011, the Board nominated and appointed Mr. LU Hua as
executive director and President.

In order to comply with the forthcoming amendments to the
Listing Rules which will become effective on 1 April 2012, the
Company has established a nomination committee on 27 March
2012 (“Nomination Committee”). The Nomination Committee
comprising one executive director (Mr. LU Hua) and two
independent non-executive directors (respectively Mr. WONG
Po Yan and Mr. LI Wai Keung). The Chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. WONG Po Yan. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee will be posted on the websites of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company.
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Composition

Composition of the Board

ExgdAm

(As at 31 December 2011)

(BE-_F——F+-_HA=1+—Hi)

4 Executive Directors + 3 Independent Non-executive Directors + 2 Non-executive Directors

MURTES + ZUBLIFATES + MUFRTESF

After their appointments, all directors shall offer themselves
for re-election at annual general meetings. The term of each
director shall not be more than three years and shall retire once
every three years. The retiring directors can offer themselves for
reappointment and re-election. In the event of a vacancy, the
proposed candidate for the position shall be submitted to the
Board for review and approval, with the objective of appointing
persons with leadership capabilities for maintaining and
enhancing the management standards of the Company.

Chairman and President of the Board

The Chairman and the President of the Board are two clearly
defined independent positions and are held by Mr. GUO Limin
and Mr. LU Hua respectively.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for leading the
Board, to formulate good corporate governance practices and
procedures together with the directors, decide the strategic plans,
business plans and investment proposals of the Company, assess
the performance of the Company and supervise the business
affairs of the management in ensuring an effective operation of
the Board.

The President of the Board shall lead the management to run the
daily operation of the Company and to formulate and implement
policies of the Company in ensuring the approved policies are
executed effectively. He is also accountable to the Board in
respect of the overall operation of the Company.

Executive Directors

The executive directors segregate their duties and are responsible
for managing different business segments of the Company, guide
the management team of the Company in accordance with the
formulated strategies and measures, execute the daily operation
of the Company effectively and responsible for ensuring
the businesses are in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.
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Non-executive Directors And Independent Non-executive
Directors

The primary functions of non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors are to provide advices
and recommendations regarding the decision and business
development of the Company based on their own professional
qualifications and experience, with the objective of assisting the
Company to enhance the management standard of its operation
and financial aspects for protecting the interest of shareholders.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, each of the
independent non-executive directors shall issue a confirmation
letter confirming his/her independence with the Company.

All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) shall have a fixed tenure and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company.

Board Meeting Records

The board meetings of the Company are held on a regular basis.
Four regular board meetings were held for the year ended 31
December 2011 and the attendance were as follows:

FHITESRBIYFHUTES

FATEENBYIFRTESTTIER
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Attendance
Directors = HE =
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. GUO Limin (Chairman) MIRKE(EFE) 4/4
Mr. LU Hua (President) = ‘EE?EE (T #H) 2/
(Appointed on 21 June 2011) (RZE——FRAZ+—BEEE)
Mr. XU Ruxin (President) bR e (T HHEE) X 2/
(Resigned on 21 June 2011 ) (RZE——F A+ HHIET)
Mr. MOU Yong 2 BRHE 4/4
Mr. LIU Chong g Rx4& 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHBITESE
Mr. WONG Po Yan BRI £ 4/4
Mr. LI Wai Keung FEBEE 4/4
Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael REBELE 4/4
Non-Executive Directors HHITEE
Dr. WU Jiesi RERELT 4/4
Mr. LIU Biao 2 BFrh&E 4/4

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

43



44

Model Code

The Board adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules (hereinafter
referred to as the “Model Code”) in January 2005 as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding securities transactions by
directors. Having made specific enquiry to all the directors, all
directors confirmed that throughout the year, they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding
directors’ securities transactions. In addition, the Board has
adopted provisions of the Model Code as written guidelines for
relevant employees (as defined in provision A.5.4 in Appendix
14) in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.
Such relevant employees shall abide by the provisions of the
Model Code.

The Board established two committees, namely Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee respectively, with primary
functions of monitoring the relevant matters of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Board has adopted new terms of reference for the Audit
Committee pursuant to the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
posted on the website of the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, who are all equipped with commercial and financial
skills and experiences required for understanding financial
statements. Mr. LI Wai Keung is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and other members are Mr. WONG Po Yan and Mr.
WU Wai Chung, Michael.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include the
proposal of appointing external auditors or its replacement,
supervise the internal auditing system of the Company and
oversee the financial information of the Company and its
disclosure, examine the internal control system of the Company
and responsible for the communication functions between
internal audit and external audits.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2011, and the
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is 100%.
During 2011, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010, the
internal control system of the Group for the year 2011 and the
interim report of the Company for the year 2011.

In order to comply with the forthcoming amendments to the
Listing Rules which will become effective on 1 April 2012,
certain terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been
revised on 27 March 2012.

Director’s Responsibilities on Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities of supervising
the preparation of financial statements of each financial period
which shall consistently adopt suitable accounting policies and
to comply with the accounting standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and to reflect the
financial position, the results during the period and cash flow of
the Company in a true and fair manner.

The responsibility statement issued by the auditors of the
Company is set out on page 65 of the annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration
The external auditor engaged by the Company is Ernst & Young.

This accounting firm shall not take up any non-auditing
assignment to ensure its independence. The disclosure regarding
the auditors” remuneration is set out in note 6 of the annual

report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established its Remuneration Committee on
1 January 2005 with specific written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Committee include the study of all
the remuneration policies and the structure of the directors
and senior management; and to set up decent and transparent
procedures to determine the remuneration policies and to make
recommendations to the Board.

The Remuneration Committee comprised three independent non-
executive directors and chaired by Mr. WONG Po Yan. Mr. LI
Wai Keung and Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael are members of the
Committee.

No member or any of his associates is allowed to determine
their respective remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
makes recommendation to the Board regarding the general
remuneration policy and structure of all directors and senior
management. In determining the remuneration of directors and
senior management, the Remuneration Committee shall consider
factors such as time commitment and responsibilities of directors,
employment conditions of other positions within the Group and
whether the remuneration should be performance-based. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on
the website of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2011
with full attendance from its members. During 2011, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed the director fees of all
current non-executive directors, determined the remuneration of
all current executive directors and determined and proposed to
determine the number of share options and the terms of share
options to be granted to executive directors and non-executive
directors.

In order to comply with the forthcoming amendments to the
Listing Rules which will become effective on 1 April 2012,
certain terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have
been revised on 27 March 2012.
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Investors Relationship and Shareholders’ Interests

The Group treasures the communication with its shareholders
and investors. The Company meets with the investors regularly
to enhance corporate transparency. During the year, the Group
met a number of investors, held 2 press conferences and many
presentation seminars, telephone conferences, and participated
in investors conferences organized by institutional investors.

The Company encourages its shareholders to attend annual
general meetings. The Chairman and members of the Board shall
attend the general meetings and be available to answer questions
regarding the business of the Company.

To foster effective communications, the Company shall provide
extensive information in its annual report, interim report and
newspaper announcements and also disseminates information
relating to the Group and its business to the public in time
through its website.

Internal Control

The Board shall be overall responsible for supervising the
operations of all business units under the Group. Suitable
candidates will be appointed by the Board to join the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
attend the board meetings and oversee the operations of those
companies. The management of each business is accountable for
the operation and performance of the business under its area of
responsibility.

The Board has conducted a review of the internal control
system of the Group, including the consideration on the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, pursuant to the Code and it
considers that all the material aspects of internal control of the
Group are adequate and effective during the year.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRSE

The directors present their annual report and audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2011.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
and associates are set out in note 20 and note 22 to the financial
statements, respectively. There were no changes in the nature of
the Group's principal activities during the year.

Results and Dividends

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the
financial position of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 67 to 190.

An interim dividend of HK7.00 cents (2010: HK7.00 cents) per
share was paid on 10 November 2011. The directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK8.00 cents (2010: final
dividend of HK7.00 cents) per ordinary share in respect of the
year to shareholders on the register of members on 28 June 2012.
This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial
statements as an allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the published results of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interest of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 191. This
summary is not part of the audited financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 14 and note 19 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Principal Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 20 to the financial statements.
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Principal Associates

Particulars of the Company’s and the Group’s interests in its
principal associates are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Bank Loans
Details of the bank loans of the Company and the Group are set
out in note 31 to the financial statements.

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year, together with the reasons thereof, are set
out in note 35 and note 36 to the financial statements.

Purchases, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities during the year.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statements of changes in
equity, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted
to HK$561,021,000, of which HK$290,082,000 has been
proposed as final dividend for the year.

In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$5,537,268,000 may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, both the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers and the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less than
30% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date

of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. GUO Limin
Mr. LU Hua (appointed on 21 June 2011)

Mr. XU Ruxin (resigned on 21 June 2011)

Mr. MOU Yong
Mr. LIU Chong

Non-executive directors:
Dr. WU Jiesi
Mr. HUANG Yige (appointed on 27 March 2012)

Mr. LIU Biao (resigned on 27 March 2012)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. WONG Po Yan

Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael

Mr. LI Wai Keung

In accordance with Article 92 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. LU Hua and Mr. HUANG Yige will retire at the
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for

re-election.

In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. MOU Yong, Dr. WU Jiesi and Mr. LI Wai Keung
will retire by rotation at the annual general meeting and being

eligible offer themselves for re-election.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 30 to 37 of
the annual report.

Emoluments of Directors and the Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the directors’ emoluments and of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements respectively.

Interest Capitalised

Interest of approximately HK$538,970,000 was capitalised
during the year in respect of the Group’s property development
projects.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Pension Schemes
Details of the pension schemes are set out in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

Update on Director’s Information
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change in
information of the Directors since the date of the Company’s
Interim Report 2011 is set out below:

Dr. WU Jiesi resigned as an independent non-executive director
of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. in July 2011.

Mr. LI Wai Keung was appointed as a non-executive director
of Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited during the period from
October 2011 to March 2012 and was re-designated as an
executive director in March 2012. He also resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Hong Long Holdings
Limited in May 2011.
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Directors’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
were as follows:-

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the

EEzRMER
RIS R IED ([E5 R
SIRDI)) E3526TE 2 BRMAH
LA HUE FTAREERTEER
SEEFANEGRAAREBHAR
SFARA R ([R5 )2 AR
T RZB——FT-A=+—8 &
AFZEERBBIRABREA TS
ARFREMAREE (8 LES
RAEGEHIEXVED) 2 11  FERIAR 1D
RES 2 HERAR

ARRIEG REERGD 2R

Company:
Underlying
shares Percentage of
Nature of Number of  pursuant to Aggregate issued share
Name of director Capacity interests shares share options interests capital
BEERE HERT
Z 1 R&Z
EEpg 5% BEME RHEE RO EA BES ot
(Note)
ik:3)
GUO Limin Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 522,435 6,300,000 6,822,435 0.19
PIR ExBEEA Engn
LU Hua Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 1,044,871 4,016,000 5,060,871 0.14
BE ExBEAA Engn
MOU Yong Beneficial owner Beneficial interest - 4,016,000 4,016,000 0.1
£5 ERBEBA BnEn
LIU Chong Beneficial owner Beneficial interest = 4,016,000 4,016,000 0.11
EIES ExBEEA Engn
WU Jiesi Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 3,400,000 = 3,400,000 0.09
BER ExBEAA Entn
WONG Po Yan Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 3,400,000 - 3,400,000 0.09
AR ERBEBA EnEn
LI Wai Keung Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 1,045,697 = 1,045,697 0.03
X ERBEBA EnEn

Note:  The underlying shares represent interests of options granted to the

Directors under the Share Option Scheme to acquire for shares of the

Company, further details of which are set out in note to the financial

statements under the heading “Share Option Scheme”.
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
associated corporation — Road King Infrastructure Limited:

Report of the Directors EZEERE

RAEHEEE 2 By R ARBE ) 2 &F
R-RYEZBERAF:

Underlying
shares Underlying Percentage of
Number of  pursuant to Shares of Aggregate issued share
Name of director ~ Capacity shares  share options debentures interests capital
REBEERE e BT
Al BE Rkxz
BEf? &t igrig G BH#E LT Y § Bl
GUO Limin Beneficial owner = 150,000 = 150,000 0.02
HUR EREAA
WONG Po Yan Beneficial owner 50,000 - = 50,000 0.01
IR BB

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares and underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.

Share Options

Details of the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 5 June 2002 and the 10 percent limit under the share option
scheme refreshed on 12 June 2006 are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.
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The following share options were outstanding under the share

PATR 200 6 O AR 4 8 R &1 81 T () R

option scheme during the year: 1Tk 2 BE AR HE
Number of share options
BREHA
Other Date of Exercise
At1 Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled changes At31 grant of price of
January during during during during during December share  Exercise period of share
2011 the year the year the year the year the year 2011 options  share options options
R=8--%
R=B-—-% FREM = R BRE
-A-B  REARE  RERAE REREHM REREH 28 =t-A  RREEE FRERESE Tie®
HKS
per share
BREL
Directors
Ez
GUO Limin 6,300,000 - - - - - 6,300,000 19/72010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015* 239
FUR
XU Ruxin (resigned 5,986,000 = = = = (5,986,000) = 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
on 21/6/2011) Note 1
BEb(RZF——F iR
AA=t-BHE)
LU Hua (appointed - - - = = 4,016,000 4,016,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
on 21/6/2011) Note 2
B E(RF——F B2
AAZT-BEZE)
MOU Yong 4,016,000 - - - - = 4,016,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
£ B
LIU Chong 4,016,000 = = = = = 4,016,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
EIIES
WU Jiesi 3,400,000 - (3,400,000) - - - - 29/5/2006  29/5/2006-28/5/2011* 2.165
HER
23,718,000 - (3,400,000) - - (1,970,000) 18,348,000
Other employees
LR
In aggregate 900,000 - - - - = 900,000 4712007 4/7/2007-3/7/2012 4.768
Adt
[SIVAY
65,512,000 - - - - 5,986,000 71,498,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
Note 1
iR
4,016,000 = = = = (4,016,000) = 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
Note 2
Bk
4,016,000 - - - - - 4,016,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
Note 3 Note 3
Bt a3
4,016,000 - - - - - 4,016,000 9/12/2010  18/7/2012-18/7/2015*** 2.814
78,460,000 - - - - 1,970,000 80,430,000
102,178,000 - (3,400,000 - - - 98,778,000
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Options will be exercisable in the following manner:-

Maximum proportion of option
exercisable including proportion
of option previously exercised

Report of the Directors EEEHRE

* RBRE R IR oI5 AT

Exercisable Period

AT AT 258 AR A B 7S L 51

(BERACTERRELLSH) AATEHE

1/3 1st year from the date of grant of option
BRHBRERMESE—F

2/3 2nd year from the date of grant of option
BREBREBSRESE-F

3/3 3rd year to 5th year from the date of grant of option

Options will be exercisable in the following manner:-

Maximum percentage of Share Option exercisable

EROBRERSRAE=EFRF
o PRI IR T 5 7 A AT{E

Period for exercise of the relevant
percentage of the Share Option

HEEALL Bl EE R HE 2
AT T 258 AR A B 1= Lt 5 TRHHE
40% at any time after the expiry of 2 years from the Date of Grant up to
3 years from the Date of Grant
R ESEMEENREERE A RES =F 2 EMERH
70% at any time after the expiry of 3 years from the Date of Grant up to
4 years from the Date of Grant
R BB =FEmEEE R B HR N E 2 AR E
100% at any time after the expiry of 4 years from the Date of Grant up to

Options will be exercisable in the following manner:-

Maximum percentage of Share Option exercisable

T 17 652 58 % 48 % 75 L 4

5 years from the Date of Grant

R B SR OFEEREEER S AR R F 2 EAFE
o BEIRRERIIR TP 0T A AT -

Period for exercise of the relevant
percentage of the Share Option
6 88 L 51 B B 4 2

TSR

40%

70%

100%

at any time after the expiry of 1 year and 222 days from the Date
of Grant up to 2 years and 222 days from the Date of Grant

B RHEF S22 AEREEERE A HRFRET222R
Z BT [

at any time after the expiry of 2 years and 222 days from the Date
of Grant up to 3 years and 222 days from the Date of Grant

RHASRAMFET202AEREREERE A PR =F%2228
Z AE AR R

at any time after the expiry of 3 years and 222 days from the Date
of Grant up to 4 years and 222 days from the Date of Grant

R EHEG =FT22AERREERE A HETmET2220R
ZAE A7 B
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Notes:

1. Mr. XU Ruxin resigned as director of the Company on 21 June 2011 and

remained as an employee of the Group.

2. Mr. LU Hua was formerly an employee of the Group and was appointed as
director of the Company on 21 June 2011.

3. 4,016,000 options were held by Mr. LIU Weijin who resigned as director of
the Company on 30 December 2010 and remained as an employee of the
Group.

4. During the year, no options were granted and 3,400,000 options were

exercised under the Share Option Scheme.

5. During the year, no options were lapsed and cancelled under the Share

Option Scheme.

6. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options
exercised during the year was HK$2.576 per share (2010: HK$3.16 per

share).

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares and underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.

Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES” and “SHARE OPTIONS”, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debts securities (including debentures) of, the Company or its
associated corporations and none of the directors, or their spouse
or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe
for equity or debt securities of the Company or its associated
corporations, or had exercised any such rights.
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of
the shareholders, other than a director or chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:-

Interest in shares of the Company:

Report of the Directors EEEHRE

FERR
RZE——F+=ZA=+—H BR
(ARBEFHERHITHRABRIN R
ARBERMD EAERD ((EARFD
BITRANS %A £) R AL R
ARAREZ R E ROIF33615%T
UEFEZERM S AR IT

B AD RIRRD 2 43

Percentage of

Number of shares shares of
Long Short  the Company
Name Capacity Nature of interest Position Position in issue
EARF
ROHE ERTRGZ
L gt BHEME H#e HE B
AEEEBRAA Interest of controlled Corporate interest  1,592,104,053 - 43.91
corporation (Note)

RESEARAT REAEES (M) ArER

Shum Yip Holdings Beneficial owner (Note)  Beneficial interest ~ 1,592,104,053 - 43.91

Company Limited
A% (RE)BRAR E&aEAA (M) Eafgn

Note:  Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited is wholly-owned by &% & @A R
AR REEBER AT is deemed to be interested in the 1,592,104,053
shares beneficially held by Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the register which was required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO showed that the Company
had not been notified of any interests or underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2011.

Saved as disclosed above, no person, other than the directors of
the Company, whose interest are set out in the section “Directors
interest in shares” above, had registered an interest in the share
capital of the Company that were required to be recorded.

fim: RE(EE)BRAFGHFTEEELR
RA2EHE - RESERR R AWK
ARRF (EB)ERARERIFTAZ
1,592,104,053 8% B 17 R B 2

B EXFHEBEEN R ——F+ =
BA=+—R8 BREEHFRBEEEHE
33616 F AR E 2 Z e A 7 EH 71 A
N RV EE A 2 ANRA ) 2 (E ] #E 25 s A
RARZ D ©

fr EXFTIREES  BIEA R EE N
SIMZAE (BEERSHN EX[EEZ
PefntEas | —80) EEARBRANPE
MATRsk -
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Connected Transactions
Details of the connected transactions for the year are set out in
note 41 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, which
need to be disclosed as, connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors as regards their
independence to the Company pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that each of the independent non-
executive directors is independent to the Company.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float, as not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares are held by the
public.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee since
September 2004 for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process and
internal controls. The audit committee currently comprises
Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael and Mr. LI
Wai Keung, independent non-executive directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the Group's results for the year in a
meeting held on 27 March 2012.
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Continuing Disclosure Requirements Under Rule 13.21

of The Listing Rules

Banking facilities with covenants relation to specific performance
of the controlling shareholder:

By an agreement (“1st Facility Agreement”) dated 29 September
2006 entered into between, among others, the Company as
borrower and a syndicate of lenders (“Lenders”), a transferable
term loan facility of up to USD$465 million (“1st Facility”) is
made available by the Lenders to the Company on the terms
and conditions as stated therein. The Tst Facility will be made
available to the Company within 6 months from the date of
the 1st Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
the Lenders in full any outstanding advances made thereunder
on the date falling 60 months from the date of the 1st Facility
Agreement. The Company intends to use the 1st Facility to first
refinance in full all outstanding loan amounts under certain
existing bank loans to the Company, and thereafter finance the
general corporate funding requirements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2011, the 1st Facility had been
fully repaid.
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By an agreement (“2nd Facility Agreement”) dated 6 February
2008 entered into between the Company as borrower and
the Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited as lender (“BOC”) a
transferable term loan facility of up to HK$1,000 million (“2nd
Facility”) is made available by BOC to the Company on the
terms and conditions as stated therein. The 2nd Facility will be
made available to the Company within 6 months from the date
of the 2nd Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
BOC in full any outstanding advances made thereunder by way
of three instalments namely, (i) HK$200 million be repaid in full
on the date falling 12 months from the date of the first advance
of the 2nd Facility (“First Advance”) (“1st Repayment Date”); (ii)
HK$300 million be repaid in full on the date falling 24 months
from the First Advance (“2nd Repayment Date”); and (iii) HK$500
million be repaid in full on the date falling 36 months from
the First Advance. The Company intends to use the 2nd Facility
to finance the general corporate funding requirements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2011, the 2nd
Facility had been fully repaid.

By an agreement (“3rd Facility Agreement”) dated 18 March
2008 entered into between the Company as borrower and DBS
Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch as lender (“DBS”) a term loan
facility of up to HK$300 million (“3rd Facility”) is made available
by DBS to the Company on the terms and conditions as stated
therein. The 3rd Facility will be made available to the Company
within 6 months from the date of the 3rd Facility Agreement and
the Company shall repay to DBS in full any outstanding advances
made thereunder on the date falling 36 months from the date of
the first advance of the 3rd Facility. The Company intends to use
the 3rd Facility to finance the acquisition by the Company and its
subsidiaries of interests in property development projects and/or
shareholding interest in property development company(ies). As
at 31 December 2011, the 3rd Facility had been fully repaid.
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By an agreement (“4th Facility Agreement) dated 3 April 2008
entered into between the Company as borrower and China
Construction Bank Corporation, Hong Kong Branch as lender
(“CCB”) a transferable term loan facility of up to HK$300 million
(“4th Facility”) is made available by CCB to the Company on the
terms and conditions as stated therein. The 4th Facility shall be
made available to the Company within 6 months from the date of
the 4th Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to CCB
in full any outstanding advances made thereunder on the date
falling 60 months from the date of the 4th Facility Agreement.
The Company intends to use the 4th Facility to finance the
general corporate funding requirements of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

By an agreement (“5th Facility Agreement”) dated 28 September
2010 entered into between, among others, the Company as
borrower and a syndicate of lenders (“Lenders”), a transferable
term loan facility of up to US$400 million (“5th Facility”) is
made available by the Lenders to the Company on the terms
and conditions as stated therein. The 5th Facility will be made
available to the Company within 6 months from the date of
the 5th Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
the Lenders in full any outstanding advances made thereunder
on the date falling 48 months from the date of the 5th Facility
Agreement. The Company intends to use the 5th Facility to
finance the general corporate funding requirements of the
Company and its subsidiaries.
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By an agreement (“6th Facility Agreement”) dated 16 September
2011 entered into between the Company as borrower and a
syndicate of banks, a US$209,000,000 transferable term loan
facility and a HK$1,026,000,000 transferable term loan facility
(“6th Facilities”) were provided to the Company on the terms and
conditions as stated therein. The 6th Facilities shall be repaid by
the Company in instalments with the last repayment date falling
48 months from the date of the 6th Facility Agreement.

By a letter (“7th Facility Agreement”, together with the 1st
Facility Agreement, 2nd Facility Agreement, 3rd Facility
Agreement, 4th Facility Agreement, 5th Facility Agreement,
6th Facility Agreement, collectively known as the “Facility
Agreements”) dated 17 October 2011 entered into between
the Company as borrower and a bank, a HK$600,000,000
term loan facility and a CNY200,000,000 term loan facility,
which aggregate amount shall not exceed HK$800,000,000
(“7th Facility”) was provided to the Company on the terms and
conditions as stated therein. The 7th Facility shall be repaid by
the Company in instalments with the last repayment date falling
36 months from the date of the Company’s entering into the 7th
Facility Agreement.
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Under the Facility Agreements, it will be an event of default if
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip Holdings”),
ceases to own beneficially at least 35% of the issued share
capital of the Company, ceases to be the single largest
shareholder of the Company, ceases to have management
control of the Company, or Shum Yip Holdings ceases to remain
beneficially owned as to at least 51% by the Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Government of The People’s Republic of China and in
which event all amounts due under the facilities may be declared
to be immediately due and payable.

Auditors

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

GUO Limin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2012
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Purple Kylin Hill

Located in the center of Longgang District, Shenzhen.
The project covers an area

of 145,000 square meters, with total

construction area of 204,000 square meters.




Independent Auditors’ Report
B AR

Elf ERNST & YOUNG

= ik

To the shareholders of Shenzhen Investment Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 67 to 190, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B AR

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement

malaEk

Year ended 31 December 2011
BE—_T——F+_A=+—HI&E

2011 2010
Notes HK$/000 HK$'000
Bt = FET FH&T
Restated
Fed==gdl
REVENUE U 3 5 7,320,584 6,502,460
Cost of sales SHE A (4,653,449) (4,158,770)
Gross profit E7 2,667,135 2,343,690
Other income and gains H At W A K F15 5 463,778 357,759
Fair value gains/(losses), net: DB (EE)FE:
Equity investments at fair value BRERBAANBAEZ
through profit or loss A% #E 1% B (1,077) (954)
Financial liabilities at fair value BREBRBEALBFEZ
through profit or loss =R 65,861 103,019
Increase in fair value of investment
properties REMERELE N 19 311,316 595,372
Selling and distribution costs SHE R o $HA AR (226,787) (155,349)
Administrative expenses TEFAX (725,522) (661,540)
Other expenses H 7 2 (256,689) (367,570)
Finance costs & B AN 7 (200,562) (206,000)
Share of profits and losses of: T FE A g A K 1S
Jointly-controlled entities HREEGHIE 185,265 39,579
Associates fAl/NG]| 609,575 392,521
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B A 0% F 6 2,892,293 2,440,527
Income tax expense FTS T F 52 10 (1,076,534) (863,660)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 1,815,759 1,576,867
Attributable to: T 5l kL :
Owners of the parent BRREAR A 11 1,522,078 1,324,780
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR HE 2 293,681 252,087
1,815,759 1,576,867
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BAFZEREZEEA
THE PARENT EiEgREF 13
Basic K
— For profit for the year —F R HK42.86 cents®Bfll  HK37.47 cents/&ll
Diluted 3
— For profit for the year —F AR HK42.86 centsiEfll  HK37.34 cents/&{ll

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed

in note 12 to the financial statements.

BRARNFERIKEFRRS 215 808 158K

12 °
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEREWER

Year ended 31 December 2011
BE—_T——F+_A=+—HI&E

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 1,815,759 1,576,867
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit2HE U&=
Available-for-sale investments: Al ERE
Changes in fair value NAEEF (5,676) (17,520)
Income tax effect Fristis & 1,419 3,229
(4,257) (14,291)
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates FEAGEE & A A E fth 2 e 162,448 62,588
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations MBI ER Z8 819,615 500,438
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX FREMEZEWE  BRE#E 977,806 548,735
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR FRE2EMWELTE 2,793,565 2,125,602
Attributable to: T AL
Owners of the parent ISTNEIE7Z =N 2,428,837 1,830,693
Non-controlling interests FEIERHE 364,728 294,909
2,793,565 2,125,602
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e Bk &

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2011 2010 2010
= —TTF —TTF
+=ZA=+—H +=-—A=+—H” —H—8
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(=3 FEx FHET FHT
Restated Restated
EE5 KB
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - FE MR 14 630,160 628,878 586,747
Intangible assets BREE 15 81,372 84,305 88,092
Prepaid land lease payments A LA EFRIE 16 48,863 30,738 4,118
Goodwill [EES 17 322,704 322,625 322,600
Investment properties Se-E/ES 19 5,560,792 4,902,151 4,105,782
Investments in associates SR /NEIE ) 22 5,276,081 5,010,384 4,970,160
Investments in jointly-controlled
entities HREHEEEE 21 430,866 171,008 125,927
Held-to-maturity investment HERIHMERE 23 - 385,938 383,518
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 24 29,913 34,014 46,744
Other long term assets HMRMEE 25 1,386,939 156,876 439,635
Deferred tax assets ELEREEE 34 438,845 332,348 262,642
Pledged deposits BEHEMAER 30 12,427 = =
Total non-current assets FRBEEELTE 14,218,962 12,059,265 11,335,965
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories & 26 91,677 60,286 63,200
Completed properties held for sale BREGEZBERYE 3,348,072 2,441,670 1,775,443
Properties under development BERYE 18 15,111,752 10,813,762 9,404,382
Trade receivables & i B 3R 27 143,407 199,449 423,933
Prepayments, deposits and FERFIR A& REMRE
other receivables WA 28 2,995,350 2,042,731 1,141,814
Equity investments at fair value BRERRAREFNEZ
through profit or loss g i 29 19,487 20,564 21,510
Held-to-maturity investment REZIHRE 23 387,968 - -
Restricted cash XRFRE 30 126,425 = =
Cash and cash equivalents RekBE&EED 30 5,097,524 6,179,790 6,365,549
Total current assets MEBERTE 27,321,662 21,758,252 19,195,831
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans SHEETER 31 4,965,249 9,495,479 3,088,485
Derivative financial instruments TESRMIE - 65,861 168,880
Trade payables & 1+ BR 5K 32 264,717 141,725 88,250
Other payables and accruals H A fE T R IE R IEET B A 33 4,815,051 4,085,327 4,471,746
Due to the ultimate holding company  JE{J & & IZ A BB 41(c)(ii) 54,641 41,616 102,390
Tax payable J& 5 338 1,806,695 1,400,478 1,123,261
Total current liabilities mENE AR 11,906,353 15,230,486 9,043,012
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 15,415,309 6,527,766 10,152,819
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES HEERABEE 29,634,271 18,587,031 21,488,784
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e Bk &

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2011 2010 2010
= —T-TF —TTF
+ZHA=+—H +=-A=+—8” —H—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(i TR FHT T
Restated Restated
"E| B
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans T ERITE R 31 11,514,038 2,951,719 7,374,447
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEBE 34 1,107,296 935,515 702,659
Total non-current liabilities FRBEERE 12,621,334 3,887,234 8,077,106
Net assets BEFE 17,012,937 14,699,797 13,411,678
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to FAREE AR
owners of the parent R
Issued capital B TR A 35 181,301 176,828 176,392
Reserves 1 37(a) 15,071,996 13,050,515 11,966,669
Proposed final dividend R AR AR B 12 290,082 247,560 246,948
15,543,379 13,474,903 12,390,009
Non-controlling interests FEERER 1,469,558 1,224,894 1,021,669
Total equity - g 17,012,937 14,699,797 13,411,678
GUO Limin LU Hua
IR B
Director Director
3 3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ReEREHX

Year ended 31 December 2011
BE—_T——F+_A=+—HI&E

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRTREARE
Available-
Acquisition for-sale
Share of non- Capital Share Asset  investment Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium  controlling ~ redemption option Capital ~ revaluation revaluation  Statutory  fluctuation  Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital account  interests reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividends Total  interests equity
i e
B&f R 2R RERE R BEEfy REER En28 #ER
A EER 33 i BE  ERER #h BE  iERER @ REEN  RERR E1 B RESE
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Lif:3 FERL TEn TiEn FERL TER TiEn TR TER TiEn TR FEL TEn FiEn FEL TEn
At 1 January 2010 R-2-25-A-R 176392 5,384,872 - 2,036 46,211 59,019 60,940 20235 1,040666 1,793,102 3,559,588 246,948 12,390,009 1,021,669 13,411,678
Profit for the year ERgf] - - - - - - B - B - 1324780 - 1324780 252,087 1,576,867
Other comprehensive
income for the year: - FAEH2ENE
Changes in fair value
of available-for-sale
investments, AfhEREZ
net of tax AEER R - - - - - - - (14,291) = B - - (14,291) - (14,201)
Share of other
comprehensive ERBERDEL
income of associates  2EX & - - - - - - (1,768) = = 64,356 = = 62,588 - 62,588
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations ~ AEFNEKEREE - - - = = - = = - 457616 = - 457616 082 500438
Total comprehensive
income for the year  FAZEHEEE - - - - - - (1,768) (14,291) = 521,972 1,324,780 - 1,830,693 204909 2,125,602
Adjustment to prior
year's final dividend  AEFERHREZHE 12 = = = = = - - - - - (612) 612 - - -
Final 2009 dividend ~ BER-FRNE
declared RERE - - - - - - - - - - - (475600 (247,560) - (47,560
Acquisition of non-
controlling interests AR ER - - (78831 - = B - - - B - - (78831) (3,530)  (282,361)
Share options
exercised EiTfRERE 35037 #6 13,335 - - (2,939) - - - - - - - 1082 - 10,832
Share issue expenses  REETTHX 357 - (10) - - - - - - - - - - 10) - (10)
Share options lapsed ! - - - - (38129) - - - - - 38,125 - - - -
Equity-settled share
option expense - - - - 10,661 - - - - - - - 10,661 - 10,661
Share of reserves of
associates BEBRLTRRE - - - - 6,669 - - - - - - - 6,669 - 6,669
Interim 2010 dividend =% -FEH R 12 = = = = = = = = = = (247,560) = (247,560) = (247,560)
Proposed final 2010
dividend RE-F-FERERE 12 - - - - - - - - - - (475600 247,560 - - -
Dividends paid to
non-controlling
shareholders RMEBERERZRE - - - - - - - - - - - - - B8154) (88154
Transfer from retained
profits ERARDER - - - - - - - - 129383 - (129383 - - - -
RZE-%%
At31 December 2010 TZA=+-A 176,828 5398197  (278,831)* 2,036* 24T 59,019¢ 59,172% 5944F 1,170,049 2,315,074*  4297378* 247,560 13474903 1,224,894 14,699,797
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ReEREHX

Year ended 31 December 2011

BE-T——F+-A=+—ALFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BRTRAARL
Available-
Acquisition for-sale
Share of non- Capital Share Asset  investment Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  controlling ~ redemption option Capital ~ revaluation revaluation  Statutory  fluctuation  Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital account  interests reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividends Total  interests equity
i e
BEf R 2R RERE R BEEfy REER En28 #ER
A EER 33 i BE  ERER &R BE  iERER B REEN  RERR E1 BE  RESE
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Lif:3 FEL TEn TiEn FERL TER TEn T TER TEn TR FEL TEn FiEn FERL TEn
At 1 January 2011 RZF-——%-A-R 176,828 5398197  (278,831) 2,036 2477 59,019 59172 5,944 1,170,049 2315074 4,297,378 247,560 13474903 1,224,894 14,699,797
Profit for the year ERigf] - - - - - - B - B - 1,522,078 - 1522078 293,681 1815759
Other comprehensive
income for the year: - FAEH2ENE
Changes in fair value
of available-for-sale
investments,
net of tax = = = = = = = (4,257) = = = = (4,257) = (4,257)
Share of other
comprehensive ERBERDEL
income of associates ~ £EX & - - - - - - 4399 - - 158,049 - - 162,448 - 162,448
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations ~ AEFINEKEREE - - = = = - = = - 748568 = - 748568 71,047 819615
Total comprehensive
income for the year  FRZEREEE - - - - - - 4399 (4257) - 906617 1,522,078 - 242887 364728 2,793,565
Adjustment to prior
year's final dividend  AEFERHREZHE 12 = = = = = - - - - - (238) 238 - - -
Final 2010 dividend ~ BER-%Z-%
declared RERE - - - - - - - - - - - (4798 (247,798) - 4779
Acquisition of non-
controlling interests AR ER - - 32,409) - - - = - - - - B (32409 (19123 (51532
Acquisition of
a subsidiary hE-EHEAR - - - - - - - - - - - - - 4,936 4936
Share options exercised E {T(E g 35037 170 9,163 = = (1972) - - = = - = o 7361 = 7,361
Share issue expenses  RETTFX 35037 - (37) - - - - - - - - - - (37) - (37)
Interim 2011 dividends
in the form of new
shares HRE 3587 4,303 129,945 - = = = = = = = - - 134,248 - 134,248
Equity-settled share
optionexpense  WRAZMTZEBRERL 36 - - - - MM - - - - - - - U6 - MM
Share of reserves of
associates EEBENARE - - - - 1,326 - - - - - - - 1,326 - 1,326
Interim 2011 dividend =ZF——%FHRE 1 - = B - - B - - B - (4779 - (47,799 - (47,799)
Proposed final 2011
dividend RE-F-—FAERE 12 - - - - - - - - - - (9008) 290,082 - - -
Dividends paid to
non-controlling
shareholders INEERREZRE = = = = = = = = = = = = - (105877)  (105,877)
Transfer from retained
profits ERARDER - - - - - - - - 136,645 - (13664) = = = =
RZE——%
At31 December 2011 tZA=1-8 181301 5,537,268* (311,240 2,036* 46,577* 59,019¢ 63,571% 1,687% 1,306,694* 3,221,691*  5,144693* 290,082 15543379 1,469,558 17,012,937
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * REHEREBURGEAVBRARPZEEHB

HK$15,071,996,000 (2010: HK$13,050,515,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GeREREBR

Year ended 31 December 2011
BE—_T——F+_A=+—HI&E

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 55 FET FH T
Restated
wE5
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES REREXBZRERE
Profit before tax: B 56 Al A - 2,892,293 2,440,527
Adjustments for: BT EIRFE:
Finance costs A& A AR 7 200,562 206,000
Finance income R I ON (369,333) (182,675)
Depreciation me 6 89,390 80,417
Increase in fair value of investment
properties REWEZ RN REEM 19 (311,316) (595,372)
Dividend income from investments REREZKREBA (1,108) (1,080)
Share of profits and losses of: JEME T FI48 5 -
Associates NG| (609,575) (392,521)
Jointly-controlled entities HEEH E 88 (185,265) (39,579)
Amortisation of vehicle licences YUE R RS 6 6,446 7,102
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments FEAT £ b 70 B SR 8 6 1,546 294
Gains on disposal of items of property, HEYE  BERREER 2
plant and equipment i 6 (1,395) (2,177)
Gains on disposal of investment
properties HEREMEZFE 5 - (2,011)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRHBRQRZFE 5 - (106,906)
Impairment loss of an investment in — R E R R Z
an associate REREEE 6 200,000 307,000
Net fair value gains on financial
liabilities at fair value through BRBERBRANEAEZS
profit or loss MEBEQFERE (65,861) (103,019)
Net fair value losses on equity
investments at fair value through FRERRANEFEZR
profit or loss BREZ A RFEEE 1,077 954
Equity-settled share option expense VA PR S 32 A5 2 B P 4 B =2 36 24,746 10,661
1,872,207 1,627,615
Decrease in trade receivables JE W BR SRR 2> 56,042 224,484
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TARRIE - 5] & S E A FE UL
other receivables FIFE N (929,335) (896,941)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL () (31,391) 2,914
Increase in completed properties for sale B &K 2 15 & 1) % 3 10 (959,144) (706,456)
Increase in properties under development R AP YN (3,221,021) (943,276)
Increase in trade payables B 5 & FRIE LS 0 122,818 53,566
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and b &1 5k 18 & fE 51 & A
accruals #m,/ G ) 916,924 (534,014)
Increase/(decrease) in due to the ultimate JET & & IEAX A B E
holding company #m, O ) 13,025 (60,774)
Increase in restricted cash IR 3R & 10 30 (126,425) =
Cash used in operations CEEBMACE S (2,286,300) (1,232,882)
Interest paid EAIFE (734,806) (430,935)
Mainland China taxes paid B 15 /R B At R 1E (627,765) (496,341)
Net cash flows used in operating
activities KEEBFAZHSREFE (3,648,871) (2,160,158)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GeREREBR

Year ended 31 December 2011
BE—_T——F+_A=+—HI&E

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$"000
Bt THET FET
Restated
wE3
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES RERETHZRERE
Interest received 24 F 8 247,267 174,506
Dividends received from investments Eﬂﬂxﬁ % B 1,108 1,080
Dividends received from associates B Y B & R F AR B 581,639 168,448
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEMFE MENRZXEEE
property, plant and equipment FiS 5k IA 6,559 3,773
Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties HERE Y FEPIEHRIE - 3,251
Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment PN Jﬁ?ﬁ%&?&ﬁﬁ 5] (70,667) (67,461)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE B B A (17,767) -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests g & JE 4% HXTE I (51,533) (141,180)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary i &5 — Al BT B8 12 B AT 1S 5R0R - 232,199
Purchases of available-for-sale
investments EARHEERE - (3,177)
Additions to investment properties N E Y% (47,764) -
Loans to associates BLTHERNTZER (207,338) (10,415)
Disposal/(additions) of investments in
associates BEARREALRE  (Em) 624 (76)
Additions to investments in jointly-
controlled entities R 2 ) E B 4% B 1 0 (61,695) -
Decrease/(increase) in other long term HEWRBEEZ
assets A (3 ) (1,220,952) 226,727
Additions to intangible assets A E LN (345) =
Increase in pledged deposits [EEEEi R ¢ il 30 (12,427) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) ®EEBFE, (FTA)Z
investing activities RensEFs (853,291) 587,675
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES REMETH2RERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FT1S 3R 35 7,361 10,832
Share issue expenses A7 81T B 52 35 (37) (10)
Dividends paid AR & (361,348) (495,120)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders [ERRE e Hxﬂx%ﬁ (105,877) (88,154)
New bank loans L IRITE K 14,254,267 5,534,920
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (10,550,248) (3,752,761)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEESFIB RS REFE 3,244,118 1,209,707
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS ReRESEBYRDFHE (1,258,044) (362,776)
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year FUzBEeRReEEY 6,179,790 6,365,549
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net N B 3k S Bl 52 22 BR 175,778 177,017
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR FRZESRRSEEY 5,097,524 6,179,790
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReRBEBSEEYERD N
Cash and bank balances R& RRITEEER 30 3,766,916 5,756,809
Non-pledged time deposits with
original maturity of less than BARERIBMBEINR=EAZ
three months when acquired I E BF R 30 1,330,608 422,981
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FNReRERZHSRRD
in the statement of cash flows EEY 5,097,524 6,179,790
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Statement of Financial Position

B B AR O AR

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

31 December

31 December

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
+=A=+-—H +=—A=+—8H
Notes HK$’000 HK$"000
Bt 3 FHET TET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz BE Rk&EE 14 1,502 2,240
Investments in subsidiaries M A rRE 20 6,625,439 5,934,130
Investments in associates e RN RIRE 22 364,532 935,532
Held-to-maturity investment FEERHMKE 23 - 385,938
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 24 1,720 1,720
Total non-current assets EMBEEMLTE 6,993,193 7,259,560
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables TERTRIE « 5] & R HE A EUGRIE 28 7,710 195,233
Due from subsidiaries & W B 18 A R RIR 20 4,740,097 3,486,988
Equity investments at fair value FERBHRARETE 2 IRHE
through profit or loss K& 29 8,027 18,381
Held-to-maturity investment FHAEZIHERE 23 387,968 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 30 1,255,619 1,085,605
Total current assets MENEEBE 6,399,421 4,786,207
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans FFRERITERK 31 260,000 4,619,235
Derivative financial instruments MESMIA - 65,861
Other payables and accruals HAn R RIA K BB A 33 54,033 139,982
Due to the ultimate holding company JEAT R A AE IR A BRI 5,207 -
Due to subsidiaries AR EINGIE @ 20 156,983 57,466
Total current liabilities MEBEBE 476,223 4,882,544
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBEE(AfE)FE 5,923,198 (96,337)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES BEERABDAMR 12,916,391 7,163,223
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Interest-bearing bank loans FEERITE R 31 6,599,106 1,078,003
Total non-current liabilities EmBBELEE 6,599,106 1,078,003
Net assets BEEFE 6,317,285 6,085,220
EQUITY &
Issued capital B EITAIR AR 35 181,301 176,828
Reserves ki 37(b) 5,845,902 5,660,832
Proposed final dividend Bk R B AR S 12 290,082 247,560
Total equity A 6,317,285 6,085,220
GUO Limin LU Hua
IR BE
Director Director
EE 3
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 3R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Shenzhen Investment Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office of the Company
is located at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal
activities:

—  Property development

—  Property investment

—  Property management

—  Provision of transportation services

- Manufacturing and sale of industrial and commercial products

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
of the Group is Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip
Holdings”, 2 (% &) AR A A, which is a private company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The ultimate holding company of the
Group is REEEBR AT (formerly JREREFREHFR A A, which
is a private company established in Shenzhen, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC").

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations ) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments, which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated
on consolidation in full.

FIERERAT 2011FFH
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 3R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) QARBEE(EF)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the
non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value
of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit

RERBEZEE (&)
—BEBARAZ 2 H KR EFRIGEBNIFER
REaR o BN fE U 2R G B IR B AL A

—RMNBARZMA EESEE (WRKEER
) TERERR S AR

fis 7N 68 B 2K K8 — R P /BB 8 @) o2 12 il g - Al EL AR
IFREROVEZMWBARIZEE (RIEEE) REE:
(I FEERRAE 2 2 BR T (B K (i) A 2 N RE 8% 2
,\uﬂﬁ-;:%éﬁﬁ RAERBOFRRE 2 R ARE - (i)PF
B2 EMIEE 2 AAE KBRS E A E
FEEZE’Q?YJ%% S AT A H Ath 2 T W 2= %Wﬁﬁ

RZAEBREHNEF DB EREHRE & A

recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or (@R ) -

in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously

loss or retained profits, as appropriate.
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 228 BRRBEERET
DISCLOSURES
2.2.1 The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs 221 AEBEERAFEZPBEHREKEREH T3
%ﬁuT&Z«% DTE/%EA%R?F:& &EJJ(’

for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time ERMBREEN HEEMBRERUZIREL
Amendment Adoption of Hong Kong Financial FVRETA BAEBIBHEER-BEX
Reporting Standards — Limited BREREE B HREER
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7 FEIERBENLBHFZERE
Disclosures for First-time Adopters #EZER
HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures BB GRS B RE
(Revised) B24%: (BETT)
HKAS 32 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial BB GRS %T?/%A?ri& 5‘@32%75?/%'@1
Amendment Instruments: Presentation — EXYL A HEN A 25-HR A 2 B5
Classification of Rights Issues
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 &8 (ERME 453 (ERMEREREZR

Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum Funding BERBZEE) §) RBEFURREED
Requirement —ZER145% BEBNHE ZEF]
ERIA
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 55\5% (BB 75 BT AAHTHEE
Equity Instruments ERBZEE)
—ﬁ&%wﬁ

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in May 2010

H-E-—FF HR-Z-ZERARMZET
BREABHE BREMBREEN BT
ER 2

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 3R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.2.1 (Continued)
Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 1
and HKAS 27 included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2010, the
adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant
financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions
of related parties. The new definitions emphasise a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify
the circumstances in which persons and key management
personnel affect related party relationships of an entity.
The revised standard also introduces an exemption
from the general related party disclosure requirements
for transactions with a government and entities that are
controlled, jointly-controlled or significantly influenced
by the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised to
reflect the changes in the definitions of related parties
under the revised standard. The adoption of the revised
standard did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group. Details of the related
party transactions, including the related comparative
information, are included in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
2.2.1(Continued)
(b) /mprovements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There are separate

transitional provisions for each standard. While the

adoption of some of the amendments may result in changes

in accounting policies, none of these amendments has had

a significant financial impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group. Details of the key amendments

most applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment
clarifies that the amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS
32 and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for
contingent consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business combinations
whose acquisition dates precede the application of
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interests.
Only the components of non-controlling interests
that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured
at either fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their acquisition
date fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced and
voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
2.2.1(Continued)

(b) ¢ HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can be
presented either in the statement of changes in equity
or in the notes to the financial statements. The Group
elects to present the analysis of each component
of other comprehensive income in the statement of
changes in equity.

e HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31
shall be applied prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier if HKAS 27
is applied earlier.

2.2.2 Changes in accounting policy for the investments in jointly-

controlled entities

During the year, the directors elected to change the accounting
policy used to account for the Group's jointly-controlled entities
from proportionate consolidation to the equity method, both of
which are allowed under HKAS 31. The directors considered
that HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, published in June 2011
and being effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, removes the option to account for joint ventures
using proportionate consolidation. In addition, the directors
also considered that other country’s framework, such as
China, requires equity method accounting and does not allow
proportionate consolidation, which is consistent with the policy
adopted by the Group’s ultimate holding company, &% & &
B2 A who prepares the statutory financial statements in
accordance with the Chinese Accounting Standards (“CAS”).
Given the above considerations, the directors believed that
the adoption of the equity method for investments in jointly-
controlled entities would provide more relevant and comparable
information about the economic activity of the Group to the
readers of the financial statements. The effect of this change did
not result in any impact on the profit and equity attributable to
owners of the parent in the periods prior to the change.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

228 BRERKESHES (F)

221 (#)
b) » BAGHEAFIRYBFHREXZZE
i/ &R RBA Bt 2 E W F D 2
TﬁTﬁA%*“@J%&ﬁMxi&%W
RN - AEBEERNEREHRE
) E At 2 T U 2R & B 1D 2 9 AT o

o BEGHEANF2IRAELSREE
B#HEZ EIRARBSERSE
275 (ZEENELER] ) HBEES
FTERIE215% BB S £ 528
FREBSFERIFEIRAELD
BEBEETBEE-_ZENFELA—A
&Rz FEAMERSME
BEErAERIFE279 1R B A R AR
PrER-

22HEEHERRECZETRREH

FN EFRBETNASEARZERERAR
FRERA 2 5T BER - MR DG S S50ENA
BagstE(BREEESFENENRME
BRFHRA) BEEZRE BEREUBRELR
FNRHAFLH (ER_T——F AT
YR-ZE—=F—A Bz zFEHMH
%ﬁ%i?ﬁ()ﬁliﬁTﬂ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁtt e gstiz
EHERBZARERE I EENRA
Eﬁﬁl%(QDEF'I)ZK””EI%%%AW
EXAE ZﬁthtbﬁlJ FEERA BEAKE
ZEREERARRESRBARABMEAZ
BR-—B-REEEERARRRDE S
i‘i@'J(TEF'IA‘EJr;‘i@'JJ)%%%%%EHM@&%%
BN EE R EEAE ARZEGERKE
REAEDRGAR ?JEZIS%I%“/E&@HM%
Eﬁ%ﬁ&—fttféﬂ%ﬁﬁ%a&ﬁ%z&ﬁﬁ%
5 Eh 30 A B B ) BT AR 2R A K &
“T%ﬁﬁ/\&‘fﬂi BRI E -



Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 3R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.2.2 Changes in accounting policy for the investments in jointly-

controlled entities (Continued)

This change in accounting policy has been applied

retrospectively and resulted in:

228 BRRBESEHESY (&)
222 HAEEFERRECETRRES (&)
e BRESHEEY AL T
Effect of the adoption
of equity method

(increase/(decrease)
in net profit)

RS ET iz E

(M, OR2) )
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue 1 7= (301,622) (82,138)
Other income and gains H At W A K F15 31,562 21,499
Selling and distribution costs HE KD HARA 1,932 328
Administrative expenses TR X 7,653 339
Other expenses H B 2 2,933 6

Share of profits and losses of: T3 FEAE A K 4R

Jointly-controlled entities HRAEH E g2 185,265 39,579
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR B A %= R (72,277) (20,387)
Income tax expense FTisHi X 72,277 20,387
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F AR - =
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 22BN KRR BBESEEES (2)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
2.2.2 Changes in accounting policy for the investments in jointly- 222 HEEHEERECETREEE (&)

controlled entities (Continued)

Effect of the adoption of equity method
(increase/(decrease) in net assets)
RAERENEZRE
(BEFEEM L))

31 December 31 December 1 January
2011 2010 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
= —TFF —T-TF
+=—A=+-8B +=ZA=+—H” —HA—8
FHET T T FH&T
Investments in jointly-controlled — F[FZEH| EEBHEE
entities 430,866 171,008 125,927
Property, plant and equipment MR- BERRE (1,186) (1,237) (667)
Other long term assets HitwRHEAEE (943,305) - (726,684)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE (513,625) 169,771 (601,424)
Inventories FE (1,001) (3) (4)
Properties under development ERBPYE - (1,346,674) =
Trade receivables JE WS BR 5Kk (151,916) = (109,003)
Loans to a jointly-controlled BT —EEEEG T
entity included in prepayments, B s AR RIE
deposits and other receivables e R EAEKGRIANR 440,754 697,992 235,748
Prepayments, deposits and other A FRIE 5] € e H Ath
receivables excluded loans to FEUWGRIE  NEt R4E T
a jointly-controlled entity —EHREHERE 2 EX (110,779) (8,903) (1,505)
Cash and cash equivalents Re KRB EEY (76,268) (65,673) (68,688)
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE 100,790 (723,261) 56,548
Interest-bearing bank loans FFEIRITER - 120,003 173,778
Other payables and accruals HiESIERETER 144,301 164,490 15,730
Tax payable JE& - 35 38 98,833 47,189 25,382
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE 243,134 331,682 214,890
Interest-bearing bank loans FESRITEXR 169,701 221,808 329,986
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE 169,701 221,808 329,986
NET ASSETS EEFE - - -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 22BN KRR BBESEEES (2)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
2.2.2 Changes in accounting policy for the investments in jointly-

222 HEZHERREZSHREED (4£)
controlled entities (Continued)
Effect of the adoption

of equity method
(increase/(decrease))

KRR EZE
(#m,  CE2))
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES REREZH2RERE
Profit before tax: B B A1 a8 A - (72,277) (20,387)
Adjustments for: BRTHISIARE:
Interest income F B A (31,562) (21,499)
Depreciation e (176) (167)
Share of profits and losses of: JFEAGE T 21 Al B &5 98
Jointly-controlled entities HEZEHE (185,265) (39,579)
(289,280) (81,632)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables JE s BR TR (1 n) 151,916 (109,003)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TR FRIE » 5] & S Ho A B W R IE
deposits and other receivables wA, (#An) 325,495 (454,847)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEmD, (&) 998 (1)
Increase in properties under development %% & 1 1) 3 38 N - 552,223
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and b J& 15 3k 18 & fE &1 & A 3% fn,~
accruals ORLA) 12,164 (156,322)
Cash from/(used in) operations KRS, (FTA)2BRE 201,293 (249,582)
Interest paid B AT FE 51,460 52,767
Mainland China taxes paid BT B i A 18 20,631 -
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating mEESME (TR Z
activities RemE#8E 273,384 (196,815)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES REREETHZ2RERE
Interest received B B 31,562 21,499
Additions to investments in
jointly-controlled entities R 6 B 1 B 1N (61,695) -
Additions in other long term assets HibREFEE M (439,828) =
Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment BAWE BELKRBERE 65 714
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEHRE,/ (FFA)2EE
investing activities M= FEE (469,896) 22,213
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES REBEZH 2 RERE
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER 188,787 180,005
Net cash flows from financing activities MEFHMBZ2HEREFH 188,787 180,005
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERRESEMEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (D) F 8 (7,725) 5,403
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year FYZ2RENREEFEEY (65,673) (68,688)
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net SNEETE R B B 2 BF A (2,870) (2,388)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR FRZEESRESEEY (76,268) (65,673)
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 7
Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 12

Amendments

HKAS 32

Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters’

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets’

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities*

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial Statements*
Joint Arrangements*

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?
Fair Value Measurement’

Amendments to Presentation of Financial
Statements — Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income’

Amendments to HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes —
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets?

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities®

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements*

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures*

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of
a Surface Mine?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EMEMKRER BBV HERELEL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Further information about those changes that are expected to
significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets. Instead
of classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised
cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve and
simplify the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9 to
address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made to the
measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For these FVO
liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that
is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the change in fair
value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair
value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However,
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have
been designated under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on hedge
accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to apply.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EMEMKRER BBV HERELEL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured entities. It
includes a new definition of control which is used to determine
which entities are consolidated. The changes introduced by HKFRS
10 require management of the Group to exercise significant
judgement to determine which entities are controlled, compared
with the requirements in HKAS 27 and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation
— Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses
the accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also includes
the issues raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HK(SIC)-
Int 13 Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint arrangements with
joint control. It addresses only two forms of joint arrangements,
i.e., joint operations and joint ventures, and removes the option to
account for joint ventures using proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities that are
previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS
28 Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number of new
disclosure requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28
as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12 and
the consequential amendments to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 from 1
January 2013.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EMEMKRER BBV HERELEL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for
use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the circumstances
in which the Group is required to use fair value, but provides
guidance on how fair value should be applied where its use is
already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 January 2013.

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items presented
in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or
loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or
settlement) would be presented separately from items which will
never be reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 January 2013.

HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred tax
for investment property measured at fair value. The amendments
introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment
property measured at fair value should be determined on the basis
that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale. Furthermore,
the amendments incorporate the requirement previously in HK(SIC)-
Int 21 /ncome Taxes- Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets
that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured using the
revaluation model in HKAS 16, should always be measured on a sale
basis. The Group expects to adopt HKAS 12 Amendments from 1
January 2012. Upon the adoption, the Group’s deferred tax liability
with respect to investment properties located in Mainland China is
expected to be reduced.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or issued share
capital or controls the composition of its board of directors; or over
which the Company has a contractual right to exercise a dominant
influence with respect to that entity’s financial and operating
policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties having
unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled
entity.

The Group's investments in jointly-controlled entities are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and reserves of jointly-controlled entities is included in
the consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves,
respectively. Where the profit sharing ratio is different to the Group’s
equity interest, the share of post-acquisition results of the jointly-
controlled entities is determined based on the agreed profit sharing
ratio. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the jointly-controlled
entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of jointly-controlled entities is included as part of the
Group's investments in jointly-controlled entities.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in jointly-controlled entities
are treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

When an investment in a jointly-controlled entity is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4FTESHBEZ2BE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not
less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates and is not individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current
assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will
not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall
within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the
appropriate HKFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4FTESHBEZ2BE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
construction contract assets, financial assets, investment properties,
goodwill and non-current assets/a disposal groups classified as held
for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill and certain financial assets is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 ERGHREZHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties BT
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: FETFIERT - BEH BB SR EE AR -
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family (@) BABEA AR THMALTSHTHATEHEZ N
and that person, REKE
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) 7K 5 B 75 2 i) 4 o K (R 428 )
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) BAEEAMMERFE: 5K
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) RAKBEXEBRANEZEEEASR
Group or of a parent of the Group; B 8
or %
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) MAABEERFBETIGEZ — RIRSEE
applies: 7
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEBREASEBRE—SE/NKS:
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (i) ZBEAS—E i%ﬁ'] TR A % (5
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other RE—BRBNGRGE] - KB AR [E ZH
entity); BAA)
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) ZABEEEAEEBRA—E=705%
third party; B
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other (ivi —ARB=ZFNALRE S—HRZE
entity is an associate of the third entity; =W 0 FNE]
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit (v) ZEERUAEEESSHEMAERE
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the B R B A8 M R AR IR AR ETE
Group;
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person (vi) ZE X (a) BT A AR 6k
identified in (a); and RZEH &
(vii) person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (vii) ZEBEAZ()()BF RN EM A L
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of ﬂﬂéﬁwa Eﬁfﬁzﬁ*iﬁm (skzEe
the entity (or of a parent of the entity). BRAAMNEZEERBAENKE -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4FTEEHBRZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair
value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying
amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment
are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the
total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual
asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income
statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the
income statement to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An
annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits
is made for the difference between the depreciation based on the
revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based
on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of
previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement
in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:
Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements 20%
10% to 25%
9% to 20%
10% to 25%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
Plant and machinery

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T EEHBRZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the

retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from inventories
to investment properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognised
in the income statement.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Vehicle licences acquired by the Group are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances,
restricted cash, pledged deposits, trade and other receivables,
loans receivable, quoted and unquoted financial instruments, and
derivative financial instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T EEHBRZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in other income and gains or finance costs in
the income statement. These net fair value changes do not include
any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which
are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to sell them
in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable
future significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. The reclassification from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-
for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends
on the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss using
the fair value option at designation as these instruments cannot be
reclassified after initial recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any other expense discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in finance costs for loans and in
other expenses for receivables.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity when the Group
has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Held-
to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in the income
statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the
income statement in other expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response
to changes in the market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESEHBERZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement in other income, or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the income statement in other expenses. Interest and dividends
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments
are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in the income statement as “Other income”
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets
and management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial
assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted when
the financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables
and the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-
maturity category is permitted only when the Group has the ability
and intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate.
Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to
be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T EEHBRZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of loss is recognised in
the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If
a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
income statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the
end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination
of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income statement —
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income statement.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESEHBERZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded
for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference
between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
income statement. Future interest income continues to be accrued
based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income
is recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt
instruments are reversed through the income statement if the
increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the
income statement.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or loans and
borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, in
the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative financial
instruments and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading
are recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in the income statement does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria of HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when

appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T EEHBRZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option
pricing models or other valuation models.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instrument, such as interest
rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on
which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the

fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the
definition of a derivative as defined by HKAS 39 is recognised in
the income statement in cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are
entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt
or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the Group’s
expected purchase, sale or usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the income statement, except for the effective
portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESEHBERZBE (&)

106

POLICIES (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued) FTESBMITE (&)
Current versus non-current classification i By B2 I B 7 K

Derivative instruments that are not designated and effective hedging
instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated into
a current or non-current portion based on an assessment of the facts
and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

e Where the Group will hold a derivative as an economic hedge
(and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period beyond 12
months after the end of the reporting period, the derivative is
classified as non-current (or separated into current and non-
current portions) consistently with the classification of the
underlying item.

e Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host
contract are classified consistently with the cash flows of the
host contract.

e Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective
hedging instruments, are classified consistently with the
classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative
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instruments are separated into current portions and non-current 7o
portions only if a reliable allocation can be made.
Properties under development BREBPWE

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESEHBERZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the
total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties. Net
realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing
market prices, on an individual property basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
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equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term SRBTER BRERFR LERE RS-
deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
Income tax Fﬁ S

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T EEHBRZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) income from the sale of properties and industrial and
commercial products, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods and properties sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) income from the provision of transportation services, when the
transportation services have been rendered;

(d) services income, when the relevant services have been
rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the
statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”), further details of which are given in note 36 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by the management using the Black-
Scholes model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESEHBERZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the income statement for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period. If the share options granted vest immediately, the Group
recognises the fair value in the period in which the options are
granted.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification, that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in
respect of equity-settled awards and has applied HKFRS 2 only to
equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested by 1 January 2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January
2005.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Each of the subsidiaries operating in Mainland China participates
in the central pension scheme (the “CPS”) operated by the local
municipal government for all of its staff. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute 8% to 20% of their payroll costs to the CPS.
The contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPS.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences
arising on the settlement or transaction of monetary items are taken
to the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESEHBERZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or
loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation differences on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, associates
and jointly-controlled entities are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period and their income statements are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of
the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously
causing the impairment no longer exists, the Group has to exercise
judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value
or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow
projections including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.

Income tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition
primarily involves judgement regarding the future performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset
has been recognised. A variety of other factors are also evaluated in
considering whether there is convincing evidence that it is probable
that some portions or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately
be realised, such as the existence of taxable temporary differences,
tax planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
and related financial models and budgets are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and to the extent that there is insufficient
convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available
within the utilisation periods to allow utilisation of the tax losses
carried forward, and that the asset balance will be reduced and
charged to the income statement.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of
the Public on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of
real estate properties in Mainland China with effect from 1 January
1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including amortisation
of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property development
business in Mainland China are subject to LAT, which has been
included in income tax. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various Mainland China cities and the Group has not
finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises these liabilities based on management’s best estimates.
When the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and provisions of land appreciation taxes in the
period in which such determination is made.

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangement that
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it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 2 B R b Ko B % o
properties which are leased out on operating leases.
Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied REWEREFYFZEHH

properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties (Continued)

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out
separately under finance leases, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
described below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market
for similar lease terms and other contracts. In the absence of
such information, management determines the amount within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its judgement,
management considers information from (i) current prices in an
active market for properties of a different nature, condition or
location by reference to available market information; (ii) recent
prices of similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments
to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the dates of
transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iii) discounted cash
flow projections, based on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
supported by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts,
and (where possible) by external evidence such as current market
rates for similar properties in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the
uncertainty in the amount and timing of cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the fair
value include those related to current market rents for similar
properties in the same location and condition, appropriate discount
rates, expected future market rents and future maintenance costs.
The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31 December
2011 was HK$5,560,792,000 (2010: HK$4,902,151,000).
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purpose, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services, and has six reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) the property development segment engages in the development
of residential, industrial and commercial properties;

(b) the property investment segment invests in residential, industrial
and commercial properties for their rental income potential;

(c) the property management segment engages in the management
of both properties developed by the Group and external parties;

(d) the transportation services segment consists of the provision of
passenger transportation services, automobile maintenance and
other related services;

(e) the manufacturing segment engages in the manufacture and sale
of industrial and commercial products; and

(f) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the manufacture
and sale of aluminum alloys products and other businesses.

Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s business
units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that finance
income, finance costs, dividend income, fair value gains from the
Group's financial instruments as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits,
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents, equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss, derivative financial instruments and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative financial instruments, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, an amount due to the ultimate
holding company, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. REDEER (&)
BE-E--F Property Property Property  Transportation
Year ended 31 December 2011 TZA=Zt-HLEE development investment  management services  Manufacturing Others Total
NERR NERE NEER ERRB i Hit ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TR TR TR TER TiER TiERT
Segment revenue: FERE:
Sales to customers WETRP 5,053,060 446,782 899,707 240,678 311,489 368,868 7,320,584
Intersegment sales PEMEE 49,890 5,756 6,441 - - 86,716 148,803
5,102,950 452,538 906,148 240,678 311,489 455,584 7,469,387
Reconciliation i
Elimination of intersegment sales %345 BRI E (148,803)
Revenue g 7,320,584
Segment results before increase
in fair value of investment BRENERNABEME Z
properties PEEE 1,808,821 479,356 19,306 13,525 12,781 214,616 2,548,405
Increase in fair value of
investment properties REMERABEEM - 311,316 - - - - 311,316
Segment results after increase
in fair value of investment RENEARERMEZ
properties SEEE 1,808,821 790,672 19,306 13,525 12,781 214,616 2,859,721
Reconciliation £/
Elimination of intersegment results  ¥{$3 9 AR %5 (75,124)
Finance income BBUIA 369,333
Dividend income and
unallocated gains REMA KK E K 22,038
Fair value gains of the financial
instruments, net SRIAZARERSFE 64,784
Corporate and other
unallocated expenses RAREMADEER (147,897)
Finance costs BERAK (200,562)
Profit before tax BB AR 2,892,293
Segment assets SEEE 26,314,617 7,366,521 137,780 360,719 208,446 969,664 35,357,747
Reconciliation E13
Corporate and other
unallocated assets AR REMASBREE 6,182,877
Total assets BEE 41,540,624
Segment liabilities SEAE 3,735,697 464,483 297,681 264,360 94,779 198,225 5,055,225
Reconciliation i
Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities AR RAMAPEAE 19,472,462
Total liabilities BEE 24,527,687
Other segment information: Hit 2 REH:
Depreciation 7E 15,715 9,805 8,726 34,833 7,649 12,662 89,390
Amortisation of vehicle licences AREERAH - - - 6,446 - - 6,446
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments B LR EREE - - - - - 1,546 1,546
Impairment loss of an investment ~ R—FEEtE AR 2R ERE
in an associate B 200,000 - - - - - 200,000
Share of profits and losses of
associates EEBERRERRER 441,236 134,046 5,177 4,706 - 24,410 609,575
Share of profits and losses of
jointly-controlled entities DN R ER - - - - - 185,265 185,265
Investments in associates 4,624,886 115,090 15,013 47,129 15,133 458,830 5,276,081
Investments in jointly-controlled
entities EREHERRZE 61,695 - - - - 369,171 430,866
Capital expenditure BRI 8,140,824 35,207 18,023 12,570 8,577 13,337 8,228,538
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4, REPEER (&)

BE-R-%F Property Property Property  Transportation
Year ended 31 December 2010, ToAZT-HLEER: development investment ~ management services  Manufacturing Others Total
as restated L NEEE NERE NEER EHRH e £ pt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER THEL FEL FEL TAL TER
Segment revenue: FERE:
Sales to customers HETEP 4,660,705 390,849 732,283 238,911 280,540 199,172 6,502,460
Intersegment sales PEMEE - - 15,437 - - 43,772 59,209
4,660,705 390,849 747,720 238,911 280,540 242,944 6,561,669
Reconciliation B3
Elimination of intersegment sales %345 BRI E (59,209)
Revenue L6 6,502,460
Segment results before increase
in fair value of investment RENERABEMATZ
properties PEER 1,196,739 448,877 (7,250) 35,159 10,548 73,537 1,757,610
Increase in fair value of investment
properties REMENLEEM - 595,372 - - - - 595,372
Segment results after increase
in fair value of investment RENEDAELRMEZ
properties PEEE 1,196,739 1,044,249 (7,250) 35,159 10,548 73,537 2,352,982
Reconciliation £y
Elimination of intersegment results £33 AR %5 (3,718)
Finance income A 182,675
Dividend income and
unallocated gains REMA KRS E K 19,238
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary i & — R E 27 2 7§ 106,906
Fair value gains of the financial
instruments, net SRTAZARERSFE 102,065
Corporate and other
unallocated expenses REREMADEER (113,621)
Finance costs RAKA (206,000)
Profit before tax BR AR R 2,440,527
Segment assets AEEE 20,146,050 5,143,753 100,063 372,323 188,643 845373 26,796,205
Reconciliation H%
Corporate and other
unallocated assets AR REMASBREE 7,021,312
Total assets BEE 33,817,517
Segment liabilities FEER 3,194,820 225,954 167,507 248,745 90,240 186,520 4,113,786
Reconciliation ik
Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities DAREMADERE 15,003,934
Total liabilities Bafk 19,117,720
Other segment information: A2 EER:
Depreciation 7E 11,128 8,981 7,444 33,523 7,047 12,094 80,417
Amortisation of vehicle licences /& K2 ER &5 - = = 7,102 = = 7,102
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments AN TS IEREH = = = = = 294 294
Impairment loss of an investment R —FEEE AR 2 RE
in an associate REBR 307,000 - - - - - 307,000
Share of profits and losses of
associates BB E R AR RER 179,205 178,598 3,558 4,431 - 26,729 392,521
Share of profits and losses of
jointly-controlled entities e HREHERET REE = - - - - 39,579 39,579
Investments in associates BELRARE 4,319,786 106,614 13,249 44,187 15,133 511,415 5,010,384
Investment in jointly-controlled
entities LREEHEERE - - = = = 171,008 171,008
Capital expenditure BRI 5,208,865 14,245 6,817 12,778 6,157 11,592 5,260,454
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4.

As the Group generates substantially all of its revenues from

customers domiciled in the PRC, no geographical information is

presented.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents proceeds

from the sale of properties, commercial and industrial goods, rental

income, management fee income, income from transportation and

others.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

REIBER (#F)

HRAEERAMBHERELEBNRTERZES

B 2 7 30 (% B A -

Wi HbR AR A E

WanBIASENARBZ 2558 HRABEEDE

BMERIXERAERRE HERA BREK

A ERWAREMWA -

W3 E WA RFIEZ AHMT

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Restated
KE7
Revenue W 2
Sale of properties SHE Y 5,053,060 4,660,705
Gross management fee income BB A LT 899,707 732,283
Gross rental income from investment
properties KEMFEE WA LR 446,782 390,849
Sale of commercial and industrial goods HENERIEER 311,489 280,540
Income from transportation EiHlA 240,678 238,911
Others Hfth 368,868 199,172
7,320,584 6,502,460
Other income Hplr A
Bank interest income RITH B IRA 67,860 54,320
Interest income from: NTEBEZMBWA -
Held-to-maturity investment BEZEHEE 48,374 48,014
A jointly-controlled entity —fRHEZEGEE 119,389 38,350
Associates NG| 5,848 18,840
A non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary —AFRAIZIFERRER 7,432 =
Finance income from independent third parties R B %837 2 = 75 Z B U A 120,430 23,151
Others HAth 92,461 63,839
461,794 246,514
Gains &
Gains on disposal of investment properties HEREMEZNE - 2,011
Gains on disposal of items of property, plant
and equipment HEME BEEREBEE 2FE 1,395 2,177
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — R B AR 2 M - 106,906
Others Hity 589 151
1,984 111,245
Other income and gains H U A K 15 463,778 357,759
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PBRBLAT R
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEEZBRFB A MBI, (5FA) TF&SIEE
EE
2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
B = THET THET
Restated
K&
Cost of inventories sold SHEFERAN 3,207,965 3,063,053
Cost of services provided TR AR 5 AR AR 738,623 583,294
Auditors’” remuneration 1% 2D B 4,650 6,912
Depreciation e 14 89,390 80,417
Impairment of trade receivables JFE U Bk FORL B 27 1,632 14,110
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables & U AR 5 (8 # 2] 27 (3,356) (2,861)
Impairment loss of an investment in R—EBERRREZ
an associate* BB K> 22 200,000 307,000
Direct operating expenses (including WHREMEZ
repairs and maintenance) arising on HELEXH
rental-earning investment properties (BREHERRE) 73,027 48,508
Minimum lease payments under operating Tl RIEF 2 L& HE
leases in respect of land and buildings REH TR 11,968 11,101
Amortisation of vehicle licences VT EE 8 AR A 6 15 6,446 7,102
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments TEAT £ b 70 & FRIAHE 8K 16 1,546 294
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERMAX (TR
directors’” remuneration, note 8): EEM< HEs) :
Wages and salaries TERHE 713,937 565,535
Equity-settled share option expense VAR AR 52+ 2 B8 B #E ) =2 19,926 8,371
Pension scheme contributions RIRSETEIER 99,663 84,008
Less: Amount capitalised BBz 288 (31,401) (26,468)
Net: Pension scheme contributions BN EIHEFE 68,262 57,540
802,125 631,446
Foreign exchange differences, net HME = B IF R 8,727 16,789
REWFEHSWAREE
Rental income on investment properties #iE X 173,027,000/ 7T
less direct operating expenses of (== —24 : 48,508,000
HK$73,027,000 (2010: HK$48,508,000) o) (373,755) (342,341)
Gains on disposal of investment properties i & & ¥ % 2 F15 - (2,011)
Gains on disposal of items of property, HEME  BERKHEEA 2
plant and equipment M1F (1,395) (2,177)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBRRZHE - (106,906)

*

The impairment loss of the investment in an associate is included in

“other expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

* R—RBERB 2 REZRERKREFAKE

Wk [E ] Ae
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BEMAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEXARZATAT :
Group
rEH
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$"000
THET THET
Restated
KE5
Interest on: MEXZH:
Bank loans RITE R 672,215 310,247
Total interest expense on financial liabilities WIkFBEBERRANEFHEZ
not at fair value through profit or loss TRBEZMNERXERE 672,215 310,247
Less: Interest capitalised W A BB AR (538,970) (246,433)
133,245 63,814
Other finance costs H {th & A 67,317 142,186
200,562 206,000

The average capitalisation rate for the year used to determine the

amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 5.55%

(2010: 5.27%).

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors” remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, is as follows:

ERANBEABRETEMZIEERASEZ
BRI, R B5.55% (ZB—FF :527%) °

ESMe
FEEREETRBREEDARGIE 61152 E
EMEHBMT :

Group

AEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Fees ik 1,220 1,500

Other emoluments: EME :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUMREYAN R 4,400 3,743
Equity-settled share option expense VA RS 7R 32 A5 2 B S 7 2 4,820 2,290
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 570 597
9,790 6,630
11,010 8,130

122 FYERERAR 2011 FF5F



Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R AR M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the

year were as follows:

8. EEME (&)
@ BYFHTES

AEEENBIIFATESTBENT

Employee
share option
Fees expense Total
’&
B
we i3 M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAET TAETT
2011 —E——F
Wong Po Yan =IRM 330 - 330
Wu Wai Chung, Michael RE5R 280 - 280
Li Wai Keung FE®’ 330 - 330
940 - 940
2010 —E-T&
Wong Po Yan =IRM 330 - 330
Wu Wai Chung, Michael R 280 = 280
Li Wai Keung ZF{E58 330 = 330
940 = 940

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2010: Nil).

AEFWEELMEMNBIIFRTEREZHE

ZE—TF E)o
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. ExM<E (&)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HITEERIHTES
Salaries,
allowances Employee Pension
and benefits  share option scheme
Fees in kind expense  contributions Total
He 2MR EEBRE BiRg
ne BYAE X BN B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THERT TR TERT TERT
2011 —2—-F
Executive directors: HITES:
Guo Limin BIR - 1,254 1,571 157 2,982
Xu Ruxin* R - 552 746 85 1,383
Lu Hua** IR - 653 501 42 1,196
Mou Yong £ - 790 1,001 119 1,910
Liu Chong IS - 1,151 1,001 167 2,319
- 4,400 4,820 570 9,790
Non-executive directors: FNTEE
Wu Jiesi R 280 - - - 280
Liu Biao*** BfRexx - - - - -
280 - - - 280
280 4,400 4,820 570 10,070
*  Resigned as director on 21 June 2011 L BRZE——FAATBHIEEERS
**  Appointed as director on 21 June 2011 “* BRZE——FRAZT—HEZIRES
*#*  There was an arrangement under which a non-executive director, o FRCARRREMFEATERIEREENS
Liu Biao had waived his remuneration of HK$280,000 during the 280,000/ 7T 1 HH % #E
year
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (Continued)

8. EEME (&)
b) BTEERFUTES (&)

Salaries,
allowances Employee Pension
and benefits  share option scheme
Fees in kind expense  contributions Total
e Rl EEBRE Rike
we REVM= HX HETEEA okl
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T TR T T TH7
2010 —E-Z2F
Executive directors: HITES:
Guo Limin BUR = 1,105 710 148 1,963
Xu Ruxin D = 1,061 674 144 1,879
Liu Weijin SR - 948 453 203 1,604
Mou Yong 25 = 629 453 102 1,184
Liu Chong EES = = = = =
- 3,743 2,290 597 6,630
Non-executive directors: FHITES:
Wu Jiesi RiER 280 - - - 280
Liu Biao 2z 280 - - - 280
560 - - - 560
560 3,743 2,290 597 7,190
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2010: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two
(2010: two) non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as

9. ZAEREHEE
rEEZAEBRHEERE=2(Z2—2F:
ZR)EE ZFESZHEFBEN LS -
AEEHRTRE (ZE-—Z2F MB)IEFHES
FREREZMEFBNT

follows:

Group

AEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUEREYH = 2,432 2,015
Equity-settled share option expense VARR 7R 52 A~ 2 B s 4 ) 52 2,342 533
Pension scheme contributions RIRSEFEIE R 422 384
5,196 2,932

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

HWeBATHEZFESRRFREREHB MO T

Number of employees

EBE#E
2011 2010
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001,% 7c £1,500,000/%5 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,500,001,% 7c 3,000,000/ 7T 2 1
2 2

In prior years, share options were granted to two non-director,
highest paid employees in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are included in the disclosures in note 36 to
the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has
been recognised in the income statement over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the financial statements for the current year is included in the above
non-director, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

RBEFEN MEFEETRSHEERRER
AEBRBMERBRE BRE-LFELR
REBRERIEI 2 WBEEHN -ZEBREZ
ARE(EERGBHBNKERAER) EREK
HEHEE Mt ARFERBRR 2 SEEF
ALXFEERRHEEMS 2 REERA -
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10. INCOME TAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2010:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2010: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group operates.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are subject
to corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a statutory rate of 25% (2010:
25%) on their respective taxable income, except for certain PRC
subsidiaries in the Shenzhen Special Economic Zones which are
entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 24% in the year ended 31
December 2011 (2010: 22%).

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including amortisation
of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures. LAT of HK$478,451,000 is charged to the consolidated
income statement for the year (2010: HK$319,695,000).

10. FR &8

EBFNEHERBEANRBEBEE 2 G ERBR
EAIE16.5% (ZE—ZFF :16.5% ) 2B EFHE -
FRN - AEBWEERBEETAERTETN
W EELESBFNEHBEE(ZE—FF &) -

B A E AR B s A BB 2 IR IR R A S B2
BRDZRIREFE -

WAL TENB AR AR S B ER
B AR A ERE25% (Z T —ZF :25%) BM
EMEH ([REMRER]) EBE=ZT——F
+ZRB=+—HItFEE BETHENBERRMNF
NEEFEEEZEEECEMBRE24% (=
T—ZFE22%) BRI

B+ b 38 (E i I £ 38 (B 2 30%E60% R i T
REU - 3B E B E Y ERTS FIER 2 IE i
EAEENE BEXNARMAMEZRIHZA
MY - AFE - B AiAA WK F Mk L
{E71478,451,000%7C (ZZF—=Z4 :319,695,000
BIT) e

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Restated
wE3
Group: AEHE:

Current — Mainland China BVEA — rp B K e 555,531 395,724
LAT in Mainland China AR OK B £ Hb 3B E R 478,451 319,695

Deferred Mainland China corporate iR AE B KB 1 AT AS A
income tax (note 34) (Fi5E34) 42,552 148,241
Total tax charge for the year RNEEHIAX H A 1,076,534 863,660
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

11

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory income tax rate to the tax expense at the Group’s

10. FREH (&

NPT A PR TE B R G E 2 8 R BB A A A
ZHERX ERAREARFEEERB AR 2B

effective income tax rate for the year, and a reconciliation of the AR 2 B AR B B R (AAE B R ) B A
applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate, =7 SR
are as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
THET THET
Restated
KE7
Profit before tax B 75 A1 i A 2,892,293 2,440,527
Tax at the statutory tax rate in 2B KPEATER Rt & 2
Mainland China | 723,073 25 610,132 25
Lower tax rates for specific
provinces or enacted by local % E & Mkt E BEHIEZ
authorities BRH = (43,166) (1.5) (39,520) (1.6)
Profits and losses attributable to
associates B 28 A B JE R s T RS 18 (129,000) (4.5) (81,411) (3.3)
Profits and losses attributable to 2k [F] 22 | & 88 & {5 % 5l &2
jointly-controlled entities &8 (44,464) (1.5) (8,708) (0.4)
Tax losses not recognised RERZ BIAEE 3,883 0.1 13,263 0.6
Tax losses utilised EFRZBIEER (903) (0.0) (28,769) (1.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax 7~ A] Bt & B 40 2 F 2 118,229 4.1 93,409 3.8
Effect of withholding tax on
distributable profits of the HAEEZPEMERRZ
Group’s PRC subsidiaries Al K F 2 TR & 78,368 2.7 68,106 2.8
LAT I Hb I E L 478,451 16.5 319,695 13.1
Tax effect of LAT THIEER BB (107,937) (3.7) (82,537) (3.4)
Tax charge at the Group’s BRAEEB MR EMNGZ
effective rate IE 1,076,534 37.2 863,660 35.4

The share of taxes attributable to associates and jointly-controlled
entities amounting to HK$723,512,000 (2010: HK$505,805,000)
and HK$72,277,000 (2010: HK$20,387,000),
included in “Share of profits and losses of associates”

respectively, are
and “Share
of profits and losses of jointly-controlled entities” on the face of the
consolidated income statement.

. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
year ended 31 December 2011 includes a loss of HK$796,546,000
(2010: HK$283,970,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

11.

ng/Kﬂ

fE AR RERZESE SR D R EMGTIE
723,512,000/ 7T (=& — T £ : 505,805,000/
70) 72,277,000 T (= F — T £ : 20,387,000
BIT) BIIALGRE Wa K [EGE & Q8% R E
B R TEMERZEHE SR REE] A -

BARBEAEBEEE
BHE-Z——F+-A=+—HILEFEERAH
BARBRERE R FIE1E796,546,0007 T E 1 (=
T — T4 :283,970,000/8 78 ) E R AR & 2 B %
MERP R -
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. R B
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET TET
Interim — HK7 cents (2010: HK7 cents) REIRR S - F R E R AR7 AL
per ordinary share (ZZ—ZF: 78l) 247,798 247,560
Adjustment to prior year’s final dividend NEFERIRE Z AR 238 612
Proposed final dividend of HK8 cents
(2010: final dividend of HK7 cents) itk AR HA RS B & % B AR 8B (1L
per ordinary share (ZZ2—ZF : REPKS7E) 290,082 247,560
538,118 495,732

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,551,123,432 (2010: 3,535,689,759) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of

all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

13.

ARE KR AR SRR AR AR E IR R
BERE LHER HAEE-

BAREERESERFREABRGERAER

FREABFNESENZBEAREBRERES
ABEFEFRBENRERNBETETBRMNETS
13,551,123,432/% (=& —Z 4 : 3,535,689,759

B E -

SREBANSBENRERTHRRMEREA
M8 6375 PO Pt 8 < FB R UL TE AHEE 2 BB IR IR
FHBAENERTERRYKA (DAUHES
BEABFIE) AR BRAFAEE B ERRE
1T 6 SR B 75 26 S ARES 46 (6 347 ) 2 B IR 0B
FHH -
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13.

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are

BAREERESERFREABRGERAER
(%

Y
=
=

BREAREERNTIZTIISEGE

based on:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAETT
Earnings 27
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, used in the basic and diluted ~ MG EFRERREERF 2 &R
earnings per share calculations Al BB ERT A AR R 1,522,078 1,324,780

Number of shares

g 4=
2011 2010

Shares B 2

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FLGTESREREF 2
in issue during the year used in the basic FAEETEBR
earnings per share calculation D4 15 21

&

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of ##& 522

ordinary shares: — BRI 8
Share options B A

3,551,123,432 3,535,689,759

418,557 12,641,367

3,551,541,989  3,548,331,126
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. 9% BERRE

Group rE
Land and Land and
buildings in ~ buildings in
Hong Kong Mainland
under  China under Furniture,
medium medium Leasehold ~fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
term leases term leases  improvements equipment vehicles machinery in progress Total
DR
REEREZ BE KA 2B
THhRER NERE &L AE HBERRE ERIR ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TR TET TER TR
31 December 2011 “B-—-£+-A=+-H
Net carrying amount RZZ-%%
at 31 December 2010 and +ZA=+-Hk
at 1 January 2011, RZB—%-A-Bz
previously stated: REEE £A25) 2,837 347,106 27,679 23,364 124,921 71,698 32,510 630,115
Changes in accounting policy £ BUREE
(note 2.2.2) (M#E2.2.2) - - - (121) (1,116) - - (1,237)
2,837 347,106 27,679 23,243 123,805 71,698 32,510 628,878
At 31 December 2010 and
at 1January 2011, as restated: & E5:
Cost or valuation KA A 2,939 424,628 69,386 86,424 287,101 156,600 32,510 1,059,588
Accumulated depreciation it E (102) (77,522) 41,707) (63,181) (163,296) (84,902) - (430,710)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,837 347,106 27,679 23,243 123,805 71,698 32,510 628,878
At 1 January 2011, net of
accumulated depreciation, RZZ—45-f-R"
as restated TNRZHHE L85 2,837 347,106 27,679 23,243 123,805 71,698 32,510 628,878
Additions RE - 200 29,222 12,373 22,506 6,366 - 70,667
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE—HNEAR - 171 35 7 - - - 213
Reclassification ENAE - - - 481 - - (481) -
Disposals tie - - - (504) (4,357) (303) - (5,164)
Depreciation provided during
the year RERHERRE - (8,737) (15,481) (11,513) (42,887) (10,772) - (89,390)
Exchange realignment EXRE 139 13,456 1,109 858 4,862 3,373 1,159 24,956
RZE——%
At 31 December 2011, net of TZR=+-8-
accumulated depreciation ENREHHE 2,976 352,196 42,564 24,945 103,929 70,362 33,188 630,160
R-E——F
At 31 December 2011: +=A=t-H:
Cost or valuation A4 3,083 443,719 101,555 98,993 285,229 169,053 33,188 1,134,820
Accumulated depreciation 23 E (107) (91,523) (58,991) (74,048) (181,300) (98,691) - (504,660)
Net carrying amount FEEE 2,976 352,196 42,564 24,945 103,929 70,362 33,188 630,160
Analysis of cost or valuation: RAREED
At cost KA 1,282 269,769 101,555 98,993 285,229 169,053 33,188 959,069
At 2006 valuation ZEENEME 1,801 173,950 - - - - - 175,751
3,083 443,719 101,555 98,993 285,229 169,053 33,188 1,134,820
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

14. ¥ BMERERE(Z)

Group (Continued) NEME (&)
Land and Land and
buildingsin  buildings in
Hong Kong Mainland
under  China under Furniture,
medium medium Leasehold fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
term leases term leases  improvements equipment vehicles machinery in progress Total
bAeh R 4
NG RREAE
REERAZ REZIH HE R RE
T REF kEF NERE L] "E  BEREE EEIR ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET FHL THT FHT FHL T T
31 December 2010 Z2-E2E+ZA=t-H
Net carrying amount
at 31 December 2009 and
at 1 January 2010,
previously stated: BEFE 2,739 221,010 23,823 14,659 134,360 73,702 117,121 587,414
Changes in accounting policy £ BUREE
(note 2.2.2) (Miz*2.2.2) - - - (118) (549) - - (667)
2,739 221,010 23,823 14,541 133,811 73,702 117,121 586,747
RZEThEF
TZA=+-HkK
At 31 December 2009 and RZ2-%%-A-8"
at 1 January 2010, as restated: X E3:
Cost or valuation KA E 2,837 288,922 51,278 68,871 263,053 146,795 117,121 938,877
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (98) (67,912) (27,455) (54,330) (129,242) (73,093) - (352,130)
Net carrying amount EEFE 2,739 221,010 23,823 14,541 133,811 73,702 17,121 586,747
At 1 January 2010, net of
accumulated depreciation, RZZ-Z4-f-R"
as restated AMBRGE LE)) 2,739 221,010 23,823 14,541 133,811 73,702 117,121 586,747
Additions "E - 552 11,065 17,395 26,352 6,755 9,407 71,526
Reclassification EHNNE - 65,224 5117 - = - (70,341) =
Disposals HE - 6) = (483) (790) (317) - (1,596)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHBAR - (2,072) - (16) - - - (2,088)
Transfer from properties under ~ BEBHERNE
development (note 18) (Hizt18) = 63,759 = = = = = 63,759
Transfer to prepaid land lease ~ ERERFLHBEFHR
payments (note 16) (HzE16) - - - - - - (27,706) (27,706)
Depreciation provided during
the year REEHERRE - (6,862) (13,278) (9,849) (39,914) (10,514) - (80,417)
Exchange realignment B A% 98 5,501 952 1,655 4,346 2,072 4,029 18,653
RZE-2%
At 31 December 2010, net of +ZA=+-R"
accumulated depreciation MG 2EIE 2,837 347,106 27,679 23,243 123,805 71,698 32,510 628,878
RZE-2%
At 31 December 2010: +ZA=+-A:
Cost or valuation KA (A 2,939 424,628 69,386 86,424 287,101 156,600 32,510 1,059,588
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (102) (77,522) (41,707) (63,181) (163,296) (84,902) - (430,710)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,837 347,106 27,679 23,243 123,805 71,698 32,510 628,878
Analysis of cost or valuation: KAREEDT -
At cost KA 1,221 258,770 09,386 86,424 287,101 156,600 32,510 892,012
At 2006 valuation “ETRERE 1,718 165,858 = = = = = 167,576
2,939 424,628 69,386 86,424 287,101 156,600 32,510 1,059,588
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Group’s land and buildings were revalued at 31 December
2006 by Greater China Appraisal Ltd., an independent firm of
professionally qualified property valuers. These land and buildings
were revalued at their open market values based on their existing
use.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would have been
approximately HK$72,530,000 (2010: HK$72,659,000).

At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s land and buildings
in Mainland China with a net book value of approximately
HK$4,742,000 (2010: Nil) were pledged to secure bank loans
granted to the Group (note 31(a)(i)).

14. ¥ BMERERE(Z)

AEEZ T REFERZERFT_A=+—
PHBYEXAERMEGLEMEEFEEGRA
AETEMA-ZELHEBFIREARTEER
EIRHIE 7 A ETER -

RNz % i KA TR £ AR 2T E S IR
HEEMESE 5472,530,0008 7T (ZE—Z4F:
72,659,000/ 7T ) °

R-E——&F+_-_A=+—RH A&EEETEE

REFHAZ LW REFT HEBIERAEBER
RITERZER (KFE31@)03)) °

Furniture and Motor
Company /N fixtures vehicles Total
BRREE AE M
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7 FHT FHT
31 December 2011 —2——-%+=ZA=+—-8
At 1 January 2011, net of RZE——F—H—81"
accumulated depreciation KR RET T E 135 2,105 2,240
Additions NE 53 - 53
Depreciation provided during the year NE I E B (75) (716) (791)
RZTE——F
At 31 December 2011, net of +=—A=+—81"
accumulated depreciation KB 25T E 113 1,389 1,502
RZIE——%F
At 31 December 2011: +TZA=+—H8:
Cost AR 1,293 4,324 5,617
Accumulated depreciation E i (1,180) (2,935) (4,115)
Net carrying amount BREFE 113 1,389 1,502
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

14. ¥ BMERERE(Z)

Leasehold Furniture Motor
Company ARA] improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
HE
MEEE EKRREE "E R
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T T
31 December 2010 —2-BF+-A=t—-8H
At 1 January 2010, net of RZE—ZEF—H—8"
accumulated depreciation B 2ETITE 119 222 1,371 1,712
Additions NE - 55 1,360 1,415
Depreciation provided
during the year REZHERB (119 (142) (626) (887)
At 31 December 2010, net of R-ZZE—ZF+-_A=+—8"
accumulated depreciation Lk RETITE = 135 2,105 2,240
At 31 December 2010: R-ZB—ZF+-A=+—A8:
Cost B AR 593 1,240 4,324 6,157
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (593) (1,105) (2,219) (3,917)
Net carrying amount fREFE - 135 2,105 2,240
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
HK$'000
Group rEH THET
Vehicle licences VRE R AR
31 December 2011 —E-——H+ZH=+-—H
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of R-FE——F—H—HZKA
accumulated amortisation AR RET S 84,305
Addition NE 345
Amortisation provided during the year RNEEHEEE (6,446)
Exchange realignment ME 5 3R B 3,168
At 31 December 2011 RZT——F+=_A=+—H 81,372
At 31 December 2011: RZE——F+=A=+—8:
Cost AR 137,779
Accumulated amortisation Eg 1 (56,407)
Net carrying amount FREFE 81,372
31 December 2010 —E-TF+=-A=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of R-E—FTF—F—BZHA
accumulated amortisation HRR R AT 8 88,092
Amortisation provided during the year RNEZHHEE (7,102)
Exchange realignment HE 5 5 B 3,315
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZEF+=-A=+—H 84,305
At 31 December 2010: RZTE—ZTF+_RA=+—8:
Cost B 7R 131,784
Accumulated amortisation BT # (47,479)
Net carrying amount FREDFE 84,305
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. A LA ERE
Group
REE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET TET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEKHEE 31,626 4,214
Transfer from properties under development
(note 18) BRAZRTYE (HE18) 18,330 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
(note 14) BREAME BER&E (HE14) - 27,706
Recognised during the year FAER (1,546) (294)
Exchange realignment M 5 A B 2,207 -
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZR=+—BZKRHEE 50,617 31,626
Current portion included in prepayments, SEATERRIA 5T & R
deposits and other receivables H {th fE W BR FR 2 BN ER SR & (1,754) (888)
Non-current portion FEB EA &L 5 48,863 30,738

The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease and is

situated in Mainland China.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H
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17. GOODWILL 17. B8
HK$'000
Group rEH THET
Cost at 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZTF-—H-—HZKAR 322,600
Exchange realignment [ 3 & 25
Cost and carrying amount R-ZE—ZF+-_A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2010 B K B T (B 322,625
At 31 December 2010: RZZE-—ZTF+-_A=+—8:
Cost %N 322,625
Accumulated impairment ZRE =
Net carrying amount FRmEFE 322,625
Cost at 1 January 2011 R-E——F— A —HZHA 322,625
Exchange realignment [ H 2K 79
Cost and carrying amount WRZEBE——F+=-A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2011 BN K R TEE 322,704
At 31 December 2011: R=-E——F+ZA=+—H:
Cost BN 322,704
Accumulated impairment ZERE -
Net carrying amount FREDFE 322,704

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of interests in subsidiaries has
been allocated to the following cash-generating units, which are
reportable segments, for impairment testing:

e  Property development cash-generating unit
e Property investment cash-generating unit

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units have been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The key assumptions adopted on
growth rates and discount rates used in the value-in-use calculations
are based on management best estimates. The growth rate of 2%
(2010: 2%) is determined by considering both internal and external
factors relating to the relevant segments. The discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections is 12% (2010: 12%).

BERENE
RKBEMBARZESMEEZBHECOEET
FIReEEENM (BrAIREDH) ETRERR

s YERERASELEM

s WMERBASELEM

REEABEM A REHECIRZBESHEEA
B EZ AF RN BRECERR RERAF
HFEREEEE FABEAERRERER
MR EEAZ EZRIDIBREEEE 2 & EM
MEBE - BER2% (ZT—TF:12%) IEEERH
HESHzRNINEERREBE - Ren=HAEA
2B R B12% (ZE—FF:12%) °
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17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. %% (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued) BmERENR (&)
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key EREMRE MERETREHBERKEZEE
assumptions on which the recoverable amounts of goodwill is based BREREMSEAEES T35 WEER
would not cause the carrying amounts of goodwill, to exceed its TE B 78 38 L A] Yo [B] 2058 -

recoverable amounts.

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 18. BRI
Group
REE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET TET
Restated
KE7
Land in Mainland China held AR EAF AR R BIRBERE R 2 + 3
under medium term leases, at cost: TR
At beginning of year F1) 8,170,836 6,563,688
Additions NE 2,596,629 2,694,140
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — BT B8 2 &) 28,406 -
Transfer to completed properties
held for sale ERERESEZEERME (612,002) (1,209,447)
Transfer to prepaid land lease payments BEEEN T EERE
(note 16) (HizE16) (18,330) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEHEA A - (121,575)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 78 2 410,260 244,030
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 10,575,799 8,170,836
Development expenditure, at cost: SRR
At beginning of year F4) 2,642,926 2,840,694
Additions NE 5,513,120 2,768,915
Transfer to completed properties
held for sale BREEREHEZEERDE (3,737,756) (3,001,713)
Transfer to property, plant and EREYE BE IR
equipment (note 14) (Mi3E14) - (63,759)
Disposal of a subsidiary & — R BT B A A - (1,896)
Exchange realignment b 5 5 B 117,663 100,685
At 31 December ®R+=—A=+—8 4,535,953 2,642,926
15,111,752 10,813,762
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18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

18. MEHYEE (F)

Group

rEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Restated
KE7

Properties under development
expected to be recovered: T8 HA AT iz [0 25 ' R 4 3

Within one year —&R 4,110,381 3,792,234
After more than one year Bl —FE 11,001,371 7,021,528
15,111,752 10,813,762

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s properties under development
with a net book value of approximately HK$1,585,366,000 (2010:
Nil) were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group (note
31(a)(ii)).

As at 31 December 2011, the application for certificates of land
in Mainland China held under medium term leases with a net
book value of RMB415,470,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$512,648,000) was still in progress.

R-ZE——F+_F=+—H8 AEFEZHREmF
{E491,585,366,000/8 0 (—E—ZTF : ) 2 % E
RYEE BIEANSEBERBITER 2K (K=
31(a)(ii)) °

R-ZZE——F+_F=+—H BREFEAREK
415,470,0007T (#4985 5512,648,00078 7T ) Z LA
FHBAARFEAEREZ L EES ZBBNE
HEITH o

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

139



140

Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R AR M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REY X

Group

TEH
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEKHEE 4,902,151 4,105,782
Additions = 47,764 =
Net gain from a fair value adjustment N EFHEZAR 311,316 595,372

Reclassified from completed properties BREFEZEEXYE

held for sale BN 52,742 40,229
Disposals H& - (1,240)
Exchange realignment M 5 A B 246,819 162,008
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-ZRA=+—RAZEEE 5,560,792 4,902,151

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland China
and are held under a medium term lease.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2011 by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent firm
of professionally qualified property valuers, at approximately
HK$5,560,792,000 on an open market, existing use basis. The
investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 38(i)
to the financial statements. The net surplus arising on the revaluation
has been credited to the consolidated income statement.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s investment property with
a net book value of approximately HK$694,920,000 (2010:
HK$504,518,000) was pledged to secure bank loans granted to the
Group (note 31(a)(iii)).

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

REE 2 BEW MR BIREE WA HBHELY
KB

AEBZEREMEECR=_ZT—F+=A=1+—
HEBYEXSAEREGLEMEETERER
BRAREAMMBEAMRAZEESHAN
5,560,792,0008 JC - BV HE AL EHLAO LA T
E=F AEE—THEFBHRPBERETME
38() c B AR FHEE A ALZAMERF -

R-ZZE——F+-HF=+—B KAN&EBEKM
BR T ¥ 49694,920,0008 T (T — T F:
504,518,000% 70 ) Z B E M E B A S B ATER
TEFZ R (MEE31@)(G0)) °
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

20. B RARIKRE

Company
¥ YN
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost IEETRRG  EAAA 5,427,660 4,754,518
Due from subsidiaries* JE U B 8 2 B FRIE 1,227,918 1,219,554
Capital contribution in respect of
employee share-based compensation 1& B CARR 19 /R B 2 AR 3R 13,496 3,693
6,669,074 5,977,765
Impairment** B ** (43,635) (43,635)
6,625,439 5,934,130
*  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and have no < FEU PR A RIIE A AR - WRE BN B - .

fixed terms of repayment. The amounts due from subsidiaries of
HK$1,057,916,000 (2010: HK$1,055,905,000) are interest-free, while
the remaining balance of HK$170,002,000 (2010: HK$163,649,000)
bears interest at rates ranging from 5% to 6.31% (2010: 5% to 5.31%)

per annum.

** An impairment was recognised for certain unlisted investments and
amounts due from subsidiaries with carrying amounts of HK$5 million
and HK$108 million (before deducting the impairment loss), respectively.
There was no change in the impairment during the current and prior

years.

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in the
Company’s current assets and current liabilities are unsecured,
interest-free and are repayable on demand or within one year.
The carrying amounts of amounts due from and to subsidiaries
approximate to their fair values.

U Bt /B8 A ] 3K TE1,057,916,000/8 7T ( =T — T4 :
1,055,905,000/8 7T ) A% 2 £2%8170,002,000% T
(ZZ—Z % :163,649,0008 L) ILEF N F5EZE
6.31E (ZE—ZFF :5EE531F)TEFE -

* EFELEMERERBKRHBARREROES A
5,000,000 7T }2.108,000,0007% 7T (4& 40 k& 5 B /&
BAT) DHERBE - RANFERBEFEL EREE
§on

FARRBZRBEER B EEZEREERN
MEBARRALEER 25 WARERKR—
FAEE - RFRERENHERRRAZER
BEEEANERS-
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20. B RARRE (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: TEMBRARFEET:

Nominal value of

Place of issued and fully Percentage of equity
registration paid-up capital/ interest attributable
Name and operation registered capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERTR
i3 BRRE/ FRREEZ
& REhE EMEFEE RERZEIL FEXK
2011 2010
Shum Yip Southern Land (Holdings) Mainland China HK$1,702,500,000 100 100 Property investment and
Co., Ltd. (note b) development
AFEAME (RE)ERAA (MEb) PEIAR 1,702,500,000% 7T NEEERER
Shum Yip Centre Development (Shenzhen) Mainland China HK$40,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Co., Ltd. (notes a & ¢)
RERLER ORI BERAT hE AR 40,000,000/ 7 NERE
(Pizrake)
Shum Yip Shumkang (Group) Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB95,500,000 80 80  Provision of transportation
(note d) services
ARERB (RE)BRAF (HiEd) PEIARE AR#95,500,0007C REER RS
Shum Yip Terra (Holdings) Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB800,000,000 75.05 75.05  Property investment and
(note d) development
AEER (RE)ROERDA (MaEd) PEIARE AR #800,000,0007T NERERER
Shenzhen Terra Construction Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB10,000,000 75.05 75.05  Manufacturing and sales of
(notes a & ¢) aluminum products
ANTARFXFERERTRERAA PEAKE AE#10,000,0007C RENHERARER
(Pizrake)
Shenzhen Terra Property Management Mainland China RMB5,060,000 75.05 75.05  Property management
Service Co., Ltd. (notes a & ¢)
RITRADEEERBERDA hE AR AR #5,060,00070 NEEE
(Pizrake)
Wuhan Shum Yip Terra Property Mainland China RMB137,000,000 75.05 75.05  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (notes a & c)
REMAXFREHEREERDA PEIARE AE#137,000,0007C MRERE
(Pizrake)
Shum Yip East China Property Development ~ Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100 100  Property development
Co., Ltd. (notes a & ¢)
AXERMERFARAA PEIARE AR #50,000,0007C B
(Pizrake)

FIERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R AR M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

20.iBRARKRE (&)
FEMBATRBEOT: (£)

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Place of
registration

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid-up capital/

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

Name and operation registered capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERTR
i3 BERE/ FRREEZ
& REhE EMEFEE RERZEIL FEXH
2011 2010

Shum Yip TaiFu Logistics Group Holdings Mainland China RMB85,966,370 95.37 95.37  Operation of warehouses and
Co., Ltd. (notes a & ¢ ) property development

REFEMREERNERA] KR AR #85,966,3707 BEERRMEER
(Pizrake)

Shum Yip Pengji Holdings Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB932,050,000 100 100 Property investment and
(note b) development

AEBE (RE)BRAF (M) PEIARE AE#932,050,0007C NERARER

Shenzhen Pengji Property Management Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100 100  Property management
Services Limited (notes a & c)

RITHEENEXEERBERDA hEARRE AR #20,000,00070 NEEE
(Pizrake)

Shenzhen Shum Yip Steel Centre Ltd. Mainland China RMB19,920,000 100 100 Manufacturing of steel products
(notes a & ¢ )

ANAREEERAF (Mtake) PEIARE AE#19,920,0007 HERSER

Shenzhen Wondershine Residence Mainland China RMB15,000,000 100 100  Property management
Company Limited (notes a & c)

ANMBEERERAA (MiEake) B AR AR#15,000,0007C NEER

Shum Yip Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Mainland China US$150,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(note b)

REZB ORI ERAR (M5Eb) PR 150,000,000 70 BAZR

Changsha Pengji Property Limited Mainland China RMB?75,000,000 80 80  Property development

(notes a & ¢)

RPEEEFRAA (MEake)

hEKE

AR #75,000,0007C

NEERE
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20. B RARRE (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Place of
registration

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid-up capital/

TEMBARGFENAT: (&)

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

Name and operation registered capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERTR
i3 BERE/ FRREEZ
& REhE EMEFEE RERZEIL FEXH
2011 2010

Huizhou Pengji Investment Limited Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Property development
(notes a & ¢)

BMNBEEREGRAR (Matake) PEIARE AE#10,000,0007C MRERE

Shum Yip (Shenzhen) Property Management ~ Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100 100  Property management
Limited (notes a & ¢)

AEEE (R DRERERAF PEIARE AR #30,000,0007C MEER
(Pizrake)

Dongguan Shum Yip Property Development  Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Limited (notes a & ¢)

REMAXEHEERAR (MEake) PEARE AE#10,000,00070 ESE

Foshan Shunde Shum Yip Property Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100 100  Property development
Development Limited (notes a & c)

BlmERERAXEHEFRAT hEARE AE#20,000,00070 ESE
(Pzrake)

Changzhou Shum Yip Property Mainland China US$99,800,000 100 - Property development
Development Limited (note b)

BMRRAERRRA (Kizb) AR 99,800,000% T MRER

Shum Yip Land Company Limited (notes a & ¢c) Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100 - Property development

REBMBERAR (Mzake)

hEKE

AR #50,000,0007C

ESE

ERBINEERREAFERABREIZZEL
HRAEEEEFEZEZMD 2 ARFMB LR
AEE-BERL JIHEMMERRFBEHEH

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, BERBRITE -

result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes: B 3 -

a. Indirectly held by the Company a. HAARFMBESHE

b.  Established in Mainland China as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise b. RABIAKEKRYAINGBERE

c.  Established in Mainland China as a domestic enterprise with limited c. MPRKEXZABABREELHE
liability

d.  Established in Mainland China as a Sino-foreign joint venture enterprise d  REBEREKRZAFINMGEDLE
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21. INVESTMENT IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

21. HEEFERRE

Group
rEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FH&T
Restated
Fed==pdl
Share of net assets BEEEFE 430,866 171,008

The loans to the jointly-controlled entities included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are disclosed in note 28
to the financial statements.

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows:

SEARKEZ BNFIR A& REMBKFIA G
THEES ERE 2 BRI Tk M 28 % 5

HRZEHEEFBENOT

Percentage of

FzEatt
Place of
Nominal value of registration  Ownership Voting Profit
Name registered capital and operation interest power sharing  Principal activities
MR R
1 EMEREE ReEwd REEER BRE BRAE EEXH
Taizhou Shum Yip Investment RMB100,000,000 Mainland China 51 50 51 Provision of development
Development Limited service
(“Taizhou Shum Yip”)
MM ARREERBRAA AE#100,000,0007C FEAR R R B AR T
(T=MAED)
Shenzhen ShumYip Pengji Bachua ~ RMB100,000,000 Mainland China 50 50 50 Property development
Investment Limited
(“ShumYip Pengji Baohua”)
AN AREEEEREERAAT  AKH100,000,0007 TEAR NRER

(TRXBEEZE])

Both of the above investments in jointly-controlled entities are

indirectly held by the Company.

i mERHEFEZEGEE 2 REHTRAR R BE
"B
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21. INVESTMENT IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES 21. HEEFHEBRE (&)
(Continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information

TRIRAEE 2 KRZHIER 2 M BEERBE

of the Group's jointly-controlled entities:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Share of the jointly-controlled entities” assets DG FEEE G E i 2
and liabilities: BERAE:
Non-current assets SERBEE 1,008,156 1,237
Current assets MENEE 342,647 2,091,872
Current liabilities mEN B & (686,570) (1,670,422)
Non-current liabilities JEMEBNAE (169,701) (221,808)
Net assets EEFE 494,532 200,879
Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ results: 51 2£ [F 4% I & 58 2 4%
Income WA 301,622 82,138
Total expense > 42 %E (12,518) (673)
Tax Ti1E (72,277) (20,387)
Profit for the year A5 A 216,827 61,078
22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. BEQNRRE
Group Company
AEE FNN|
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$"000
FET T T FExT FHT
Unlisted shares, at cost I EMRRD » A AN - = 15,133 15,133
Shares listed in Hong Kong,
at cost RERE EmIRG - IR A - = 920,399 920,399
Share of net assets BEEEFE 5,394,924 5,136,565 - =
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEZHE 126,917 126,917 - -
Loans to associates * il /N o= 325,240 117,902 - =
Provision for impairment
(note a) BB R (FisEa) (571,000) (371,000) (571,000) -
5,276,081 5,010,384 364,532 935,532
Market value of listed shares EmkmmE 1,061,147 1,742,002 183,017 315,546
*  The loans to associates are unsecured and have no fixed terms * KBTHEARZERAEEAR BEEEEEES

of repayment. The loans to associates of HK$90,285,000 (2010:
HK$45,985,000) are interest-free, while the remaining balance of
HK$234,955,000 (2010: HK$71,917,000) bears interest at rates ranging
from 5.81% to 7.05% (2010: 5.31% to 6.75% ) per annum.

PR o 45 T B & N 5] 2 B 38 490,285,000/ 7 (=&
—Z 4 :45,985,0008 ) AR S MB TEHRA
234,955,000 L (=& — T4 :71,917,0007% 7T )
BEFNTF581EE7.05B (T —ZTF 531E2E
6.75[2 ) sTE A 8 -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The loans from associates included in the Group’s other payables
and accruals totalling HK$286,303,000 (2010: HK$50,828,000) are
unsecured, interest-free and are payable on demand.

(a)

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost is an objective
evidence of impairment. In consideration of the fluctuation in
the share price, management performed impairment testing
for its investments in associates. The recoverable amounts of
the investments in associates have been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using the Group’s share of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by the associates. The cash flow projections of
the associates were made based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period. The key assumptions adopted on growth
rates and discount rates used in the value-in-use calculations
are based on management’s best estimates. Growth rates are
determined by considering both internal and external factors.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 14%.

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

2. BEQNRRE (&)
BENRMG T 2ERDYAREE 2 E i EA
KB R EETZIAN - %8 5286,303,000/8 T (=

[ —
=

T4 150,828,000/ 7T ) - BEKF 28I

(a)

RERERTIAZ ARBEELERNLARMRE
ERERA - AIEIRREZ FBTR - 5t &
REZKS ERERENEERARZREE
TTRERIR - OB & AR 218 E 2 A B Y £ 58
TREE R E R REE 2 AR AEE S
Bt ZARRRERBZREZEBEEFE
EBE -BEARZASRERAEBREDFH
Mz BREEFEL - EREARFERRER
ERUBBMERAZTEZRRDBEEEEZ
REMFTMERE - BRETDZEBAINARERE
E-ReRBEAER ZBREXR14% -

TEMERRFEAT:

Place of

Nominal value of
issued and fully

Percentage of

Business incorporation/ paid-up capital/ ownership interest
Name structure registration registered capital attributable to the Group  Principal activities
R/ BRARAERE/ FEEEELZ
8 ES 2 i HMEFEE FERBEEESL ERXE
2011 2010
Coastal Greenland Limited Corporate Bermuda HK$279,058,000 22,62 22,62 Property development and
(“Coastal Greenland”)* (note a) investment
HEREFRERAR (THEREZE])* 2R BRE 279,058,000/ 70 NEEERRE
(Hizta)
Road King Infrastructure Ltd. Corporate Bermuda HK$74,193,000 27.27 27.27  Provision of investment and
(“Road King")** (note b) management of toll roads
and property development
RYRRARAR ([RF)) = Nl BRE 74,193,000 7T RERBARIRARER
(Hf&ED) DS IES S
Shenzhen Tianan Cyber Park (Group) Corporate Mainland China US$62,000,000 37.53 3753 Property investment and
Co., Ltd. (note b) development
ARz HEHARLA (HEb) 27 HEAR 62,000,000% 7T NERARER
Shenyang Wuai Shumkang Company Limited ~ Corporate Mainland China RMB400,000,000 46.925 46.925  Property development
(“Wuai”) (note b) and investment and
transportation station
management
EGAERBEEBUARDA 27 HEAR AE400,000,0007 NEERREEUR
(TRE]) (Mh) BHUER
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

None of the associates are audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or
other member firms of the Ernst & Young global network.

* Coastal Greenland is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and its ordinary shares with a nominal value of HK$0.10
each are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The principal location of Coastal Greenland’s business is
Mainland China.

**  Road King is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and its
ordinary shares with a nominal value of HK$0.10 each are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The principal

location of Road King's business is Mainland China.
Notes:
a.  Directly held by the Company
b. Indirectly held by the Company

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

All the above associates have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of the Group’s associates extracted from their financial statements.

22 BEQNTRRE (&)

BEEABE R RKEBERKEAMEBARE

KB EBAERE R AR AERK-

AR ERERRNBEREEMRLZEREER
EHxﬁ@mOlﬁngﬁﬂxﬁééﬁéﬂﬁééi%ﬁﬁﬁ

RARERET -HBRERE T EEXMRME
B RRE

o BYHREREXMAIZARAF LERAE
01087 2 ¥ AR EE BB AR B ARA R LR
ET BT B I AR EARE -

T

a BAAREEHA

b. BMARRMEFE

NEREERRYAFEXEERNIEZZERA
RARBEEFRELERNRLY 2 RSB E QA
FE-BERR JIREMEERRFEEEHE

BRI K -

LAt PR A S R REREM B RER A E R E S

= E+ /jﬁ— f? 5” EE °

TR A M RRAE c NEEE S AT 2
BEHME

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Assets BE 62,705,242 53,742,731
Liabilities =L 45,345,157 38,018,578
Revenues 1 7 15,502,613 8,124,198
Profit piagll 1,963,198 962,642
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23. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT 23. B 52 HKRE
Group Company
AEE ¥ NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET FTHT FHET
Held-to-maturity investment BEEIHKE 387,968 385,938 387,968 385,938

Held-to-maturity investment represented investment in guaranteed
senior notes of US$50,000,000 issued by Coastal Greenland, at
a consideration of US$47,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$361,000,000). The guaranteed senior notes will be due on 8
November 2012 and bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum. The
senior notes are listed on the Singapore Securities Trading Limited
and the investment is classified as a held-to-maturity investment and
measured at amortised cost.

BHEZIEREANBEERBERTTZ
50,000,000k T2 EREEZE REAR
47,000,000 7T (A Z£ 7 361,000,000/ 7T ) °
ZEEREBEZBREN - ——F+—ANBE
B IRFBI12ER B - RSB ERBERIMEFES
RZERAB LT MEBKERSIBARBEZRE
B HRIE A W IR S P AR = o

24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24, JHHERE
Group Company
AEH ¥ NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T F& T FE T FHE T
At fair value: BAE
Listed equity investments in FEBIARRE 2
Mainland China ERERE 25,428 29,657 - =
Club membership {BLER & 45 4,485 4,357 1,720 1,720
29,913 34,014 1,720 1,720

During the year, the net loss in respect of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$4,257,000 (2010: HK$14,291,000).

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

FRNAEEREMEERETFERZAEREE
WE BB FEREE4257,0008 L (T — T4
14,291,000/ 7T ) °

LFTREREZARBENIRENISREETE -
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25.

26.

27.

OTHER LONG TERM ASSETS

As at 31 December 2011, other long term assets mainly represented
prepayment of HK$1,340,090,000 (2010: HK$112,212,000)
related to acquisition of land use rights. The remaining balance of
HK$46,849,000 (2010: HK$44,664,000) included receivables from
other independent third parties.

25 HittRBAEE
R-ZZE——F+-_HF=+—B HHEBHZE
EXEREUHE TR 8B &
1,340,090,000& 70 (== — T4 : 112,212,000
HBIT)  H $46,849,0008 T (T — T 4
44,664,000 70 ) FEULE 8 7 88 = 75 2 5KIE °

INVENTORIES 26. 7 &
Group
rEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FH&T
Restated
&5
Raw materials JR A 32,051 29,064
Work in progress FEE m 43,014 17,044
Finished goods SUEK 16,612 14,178
91,677 60,286
TRADE RECEIVABLES 27. EWBR X
Group
rEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FH&ET
Trade receivables JE U2 BR 3k 181,667 237,615
Impairment VERIE] (38,260) (38,166)
143,407 199,449

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant any credit
terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is
no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

EEEBRAT AEE TERETEFPEHEME
S8 AR ERES E R D 2 8 U RIA RS B
R4 FOR R E B R - RN Lt [RE K A & E
ZRWEFERZETEZRZER MAKHE
WA E &P 2 EE R K- 75 H 5 H g
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contract date and net of provision, is

27. BEUWBRRR (&)
PSR ERSR LA 40 B ERET 530 3R 5 45 2 B U BR
HIERATMT

as follows:

Group

rEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FH&T
Within one year —FR 131,726 147,272
One to two years —FEMWFER 2,316 16,947
Two to three years MEE=FR 9,365 35,230
143,407 199,449

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

FEM RN 2 M ER R B IT

Group

TEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At 1 January K—A—H 38,166 25,780
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) ERERZBEEE (KiEe) 1,632 14,110
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) BEE 2 REEE (KiEe) (3,356) (2,861)
Exchange realignment M 5 A B 1,818 1,137
38,260 38,166

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables
is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
HK$38,260,000 (2010: HK$38,166,000) with a carrying amount
before provision of HK$49,243,000 (2010: HK$80,749,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers
that were in financial difficulties or were in default in both interest
and/or principal payments and only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered.

AALMERNERBREREERAENEREZ
JiE Us B 7K B #838,260,0008 T (Z T — T4 ¢
38,166,000 7T ) * M E W AR KR B E R < BRE
{E7549,243,000/# 70 ( ZZF —Z 4 : 80,749,000/
JT) °

18 B (B 2 8 Us AR 35k T B T o B 765 ) 86 o 3 R R

BR/FAReNRZEFER BHE-HHZ
F W AR A [ -
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27.

28.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. EWARSK (42)
The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually 18 5l 5% £ (R 2374 3 8 [ 3R (B 2 FE AR T 2 BR e
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: DT
Group
rEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Neither past due nor impaired A8 R AR E 131,716 145,876
Less than one year past due BN —F 708 10,990
132,424 156,866
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a AR IR AR B 2 IR RS | & E1T % 2 &R
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent ZEFEH MESFOPETRIERLE-
history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of BB EREE B EFER S M2 E P
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. Bl ZERXFEASEER R FAELE KIE
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the BELR ARZEERCEEEZRLEETRE
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of PHEERDER AT 2HKE  HARABEER
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit REF LS AL RERE -
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. FB{fFIE - sT& R H b FE R 1E
Group Company
rEH N
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$"000
THERT FET FTHER FET
Restated
K&
Prepayments TE RIE 1,461,241 186,448 - 186,448
Deposits and other receivables 7] 4 K H b & W 308 669,885 487,672 7,710 8,785
Loans to a jointly-controlled BT —RARZEHER
entity ZER 864,224 1,368,611 - -
2,995,350 2,042,731 7,710 195,233
Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables AEEBZEMKIE T RkEMERRES R

are loans to the Group’s jointly-controlled entity totalling
HK$864,224,000 (2010: HK$1,368,611,000), which are unsecured
and have no fixed terms of repayment, and bear interest at rate of
12% per annum (2010: 6.39%).

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

BRTASEZERZFERBZERERE
864,224,000 7T (=T —Z 4 :1,368,611,000/8
TL) R ERAREER R ERTEERAR - MR
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29. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

29. ZBPBRBRAANEHEZRERE

Group Company
AEH AT
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT FExT TAT
Listed equity investments, at EHRERE RHE
market value (note a): (Ffz¥a) :
Hong Kong & 8,023 16,693 8,023 16,693
Overseas ST 11,460 2,183 - =
Investment in warrants of BENR 2 RREBIRE
an associate (note b) (BF7EDb ) 4 1,688 4 1,688
19,487 20,564 8,027 18,381
Notes: B o

(@) The above equity investments as at 31 December 2010 and 2011 were
classified as held for trading.

(b)  On 18 December 2007, the Company purchased from an independent
third party up to 37,207,500 warrant shares issued by Coastal Greenland
at a consideration of HK$27,000,000. According to HKAS 39, the
warrants were recorded as derivatives, which should be measured at fair
value at each period end. The revaluation loss of HK$1,684,000 (2010:
HK$5,431,000) was recorded in the consolidated income statement in
the current year.

@ EAR-P-FER-F-——F+-A=t+-AZ
ETRERE DA RARHERS

by R=FETELtF+ A+ NA ARARNUKE
27,000,000 THBYE=FBERSHREREE
12 5% %37,207,5000) RREFRMD - RIBEEAE
FTERIFE39%  RREEBIIASTELR - WEN S
HERBFRANEFE - AFEEMEET, 684,000
BT (ZF—F 45,431,000 70 ) 5| AR & W=
2%@
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30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

0. RERASEBYRCERERN

Group Company
AEE ¥ NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET T FHEx FH&T
Restated
KET
Cash and bank balances Re RRITEER 3,766,916 5,756,809 33,509 1,080,712
Time deposits T Bi7F 3K 1,469,460 422,981 1,222,110 4,893

5,236,376 6,179,790 1,255,619 1,085,605

Less: Pledged time deposits: B B EBER
Pledged for long term RERITER 2 HE A
bank loans (FFEE31(@)(iv) )
(note 31(a)(iv)) (12,427) - - -
Restricted cash* X IR IR & * (126,425) - - -
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 5,097,524 6,179,790 1,255,619 1,085,605
*  In accordance with relevant documents issued by the PRC State-Owned * BREPEBEALMEREERREMNE B, RE

Land and Resource Bureau, certain property development companies
of the Group are required to place in designated bank accounts certain
amount of presale proceeds of properties as guarantee deposits for
constructions of related properties. The deposits can only be used for
purchases of construction materials and the payments of construction fee
of the relevant property projects when approval from PRC State-Owned
Land and Resource Bureau is obtained. Such guarantee deposits will only
be released after completion of related pre-sold properties or issuance of

the real estate ownership certificates, whichever is the earlier.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$3,814,631,000 (2010: HK$5,066,652,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

FIERAERAT 2011FFH

BHETYERBERADVANBEERTRSFERET
BENHAENERSRR ELAEENEREER
MERTFR - ZEREATRESTRES LBER
ERRIEFEARBEEM XN ERYEHRE D
EEER -AHEREXASGNEHESHRERT
FBEBEFHERE ARPHEE BE) RS AR

RMERR AEEBUARE (ARE])EZ
B4 MBS S EWHES6814,631,0008 7T (=T —
T4 :5,066,652,000/57L) c ARBIW TR EHK
BB A EHE « SR - R IR B HNE B HI K F K 45
E -EERNEEEHTE ASERESREEE
THNEEB 2 BTBARBLBRAEEMER -

FRRBT2REBRERATRITEREXZFH
FERRBMAE - BHAERFRLERAR—BE
ZEATE RIEAEEZARERESFTEME I
RAA R B B R B R BRERAI B - RITAEERTD
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

31.EFERITER

2011 2010 Restated
|
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
Group rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
ERaHN EREH
A£H FE(E) ) TR FE(E) Ealp FET
Current nE
Secured Pegiigi 6.31-7.34 2012 186,296 5.35 2011 29,749
Unsecured il 4.86-7.93 2012 4,778,953 3.9825-7.63 2011 9,465,730
HIBOR+1.95, HIBOR + 0.42-
HIBOR+2.85 HIBOR+0.8
LIBOR+0.48
ERRITAE EERTRE
FE+41.95 FE+0.42-
EARITAE BERTRE
5+2.85 FE+0.8
BBRITRFE
FE+0.48
4,965,249 9,495,479
Non-current kR 8
Secured Pegiigi 6.37-8.645 2013-2021 1,352,664 5.35 2012-2017 168,576
Unsecured EHA 4.86-7.6475 2013-2015 10,161,374 4.1301-5.6 2012-2014 2,783,143
HIBOR+0.7- HIBOR+0.7
HIBOR+2.95, LIBOR+2
LIBOR+2-
LIBOR+2.95
ERBTRE BRRITRAE
FE+0.7- FE+0.7
FRBTRE CECIEES
FE+42.95 FE+2
RBEBTRE
KE+2-
RBERITRE
FE+2.95
11,514,038 2,951,719
16,479,287 12,447,198
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS (Continued)

31. 5t 28R

2011 2010
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
Company rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
ERaH ERAH
AR F FAE(E) E) THER FE(E) 58 FEL
Current ok
Unsecured EER HIBOR+1.95, 2012 260,000  HIBOR+0.42- 2011 4,619,235
HIBOR+2.85 HIBOR+0.8,
LIBOR+0.48
FRBTRE EERTRE
FE+1.95 FE+0.42-
ERBTRE BRRITRAZE
FE+2.85 HE+0.8,
wABTRE
HE+0.48
Non-current E' 37|
Unsecured EHR HIBOR+0.7- 2013-2015 6,599,106 HIBOR+0.7, 2012-2014 1,078,003
HIBOR+2.95, LIBOR+2
LIBOR+2-
LIBOR+2.95
EARITAE BERBTRE
£ E+0.7- 8407,
BRBTRE wRABTRE
54295 FE+2
wBBTRE
FE+2-
wBEBTRE
FE+2.95
6,859,106 5,697,238

FIERERAT 2011FF#H
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS (Continued)

GTERITER(E)

Group Company
AEE ¥
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT FHET FHET
Restated
KET
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: JEEE Z RITER
Within one year —&R 4,965,249 9,495,479 260,000 4,619,235
In the second year A 2,771,562 1,260,172 730,383 =
From third to fifth years —FERER 8,443,696 1,641,966 5,868,723 1,078,003
Over five years RERE 298,780 49,581 - -
16,479,287 12,447,198 6,859,106 5,697,238

(a)

Bank loans amounting to HK$1,538,960,000 (2010:
HK$198,325,000) were secured by:

(if)

(iii

certain of the Group’s land and buildings in Mainland
China with a net book value of approximately
HK$4,742,000 (2010: Nil) (note 14);

certain of the Group's properties under development with a
net book value of approximately HK$1,585,366,000 (2010:
Nil) (note 18);

certain of the Group’s investment properties with a net
book value of approximately HK$694,920,000 (2010:
HK$504,518,000) (note 19); and

certain of the Group’s bank deposits with a net book value
of HK$12,427,000 (2010: Nil) (note 30).

(b) Except for the bank loans equivalent to approximately

HK$4,883,106,000

(2010: HK$4,547,238,000) and

HK$1,976,000,000 (2010: HK$1,150,000,000), which are
denominated respectively in United States dollars and Hong

Kong dollars, all borrowings of the Group are in RMB.

(c) The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s

borrowings approximate to their fair values, which have been

calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at the

prevailing interest rates.

(a)

% % 51,538,960,0008 T (- T — T F:
198,325,000/ 7T ) Z RITERA LA TEEE
A

(i) ANEEIREFEL4,742,00087T (==
—F E)ETAMRPREAREZ i
MIEF (HeE14)

(i) ANE&EER®EFEX1,585,366,0008 7T
(Z2—Z2F B )2ETEREFME (W
5118) :

(iii) ZN 5 & B FF (B 49694,920,0005% 70 ( =
T —FF:504,518,0008 L) 25 T
B (19 &

(iv) NEERMFE12,427,00087C (=& —
TF |2/ TRITFR (HEE30) ©

B T ABE 5 494,883,106,0008 T (—ZF —=
% :4,547,238,0007% 7t.) & 1,976,000,000/%
7T (ZZ—Z 4 :1,150,000,000 7t ) Z $R1T
BRDBIAET RATEIN MERER 2
BEHUAREE-

AEERARRZEEZ RAERERAE
BE - THRIRAT AR SRR SRR 2B T
BRIREESH -

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

157



158

Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 3R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

32. TRADE PAYABLES

32. BFERRX

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting RRERRREZAMFE 2 BRNERRZRRD

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Mo :

Group

rEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FH&T
Within one year —FR 221,772 88,548
One to two years —FEMER 1,069 8,638
Two to three years MEEZ=FA 6,818 2,672
Over three years =FLAE 35,058 41,867
264,717 141,725

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing.

33. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

PR BR R R B KRR -

3. HMENFERESER

Receipts in advance A W R IE
Other payables H fth A RRIB
Loans from associates A =/NCIN-E
Accruals FEET & R

Group Company
REHE KA T
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET FEx THETT
Restated
KE
1,749,563 1,910,944 - -
2,121,551 1,556,349 326 86,135
286,303 50,828 29,213 28,115
657,634 567,206 24,494 25,732
4,815,051 4,085,327 54,033 139,982
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34. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year

are as follows:

34 EERIE

AEEEEHRABEREEZEEBHMT

Deferred tax liabilities: BREHIRAE:
Group rE
2011
Fair value
adjustment
arising from Accelerated
acquisition of tax
Withholding  Revaluation subsidiaries  depreciation
tax  of investment  Revaluation of Revaluation and  on investment
on dividend properties assets  of investments associates properties Total
B B B
DEARBE RENFE L
RENE ARAEERZ MEHE
REENHK Bff BEEfM) REER  AAERE il /it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT THET TET TET TET TERT
At 1 January 2011 RZF-——%-A—H 100,203 658,608 13,263 7,652 35,337 120,452 935,515
Deferred tax charged to the
income statement AEERRBERMBRZ
during the year (note 10) BIERIE (FaE10) 39,659 77,829 - - - 13,171 130,659
Deferred tax charged to equity REFRERT R
during the year BRI - - - (1,419) - - (1,419)
Exchange realignment ESEE 6,345 34,290 590 310 = 1,006 42,541
Gross deferred tax liabilities R=B--f+=fA=t-8
at 31 December 2011 CEERAAEAE 146,207 770,727 13,853 6,543 35,337 134,629 1,107,296
Deferred tax assets: RERIBEE
Group RE
2011
Losses
available for
offsetting
against future
taxable Tax effect Unrealised
profits of LAT profits Others Total
A AR
RRERB  LHIZEH
BHZER ZBEBEXE KREREF Hity &t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THERT THET TET TERT
At 1 January 20711 R-Z——F—fF—H 22,413 281,211 = 28,724 332,348
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ ANFFEiF AlzEER
the income statement during (KamKPHR) 2
the year (note 10) EEFE (MsE10) 20,984 28,666 38,522 (65) 88,107
Exchange realignment BE 5 AR 1,609 14,294 947 1,540 18,390
R=ZB——-%
Gross deferred tax assets at +TZA=t+—-HZ
31 December 2011 EEBEEEAST 45,006 324,171 39,469 30,199 438,845
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34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

34 RFEBLE (&

EERTAEME

Group AEE
2010
Fair value
adjustment
arising from  Accelerated
acquisition of tax
Withholding ~ Revaluation subsidiaries  depreciation
tax  of investment Revaluation Revaluation and  on investment
on dividend properties of assets  of investments associates properties Total
FR R B
REREE  REWEZ
RENE REAEEZ IRHE
REFEMH Bff EEEf REEMR ARERE & &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FHL FAL TER TEL THEL FET
At 1 January 2010 RZF-2F-f—-H 51,387 484,721 12,845 10,550 40,218 102,938 702,659
Deferred tax charged to the
income statement AEEYHRPARZ
during the year (note 10) BREHA (HE10) 46,390 148,843 - - - 12,424 207,657
Deferred tax charged to equity AEERRPNGRZ
during the year EEHE - - - (3,229) - - (3,229)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HNBAR - - - - (5,056) - (5,056)
Exchange realignment E3EE 2,426 25,044 418 331 175 5,090 33,484
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZE-2F+-A=+—-H
at 31 December 2010 BB AEAELS 100,203 658,608 13,263 7,652 35,337 120,452 935,515
Deferred tax assets: RIERIAE EE -
Group rEH
2010
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
future
taxable Tax effect
profits of LAT Others Total
A] A {ER 85
RRFERT LI ED
Mz EE ZHRBTE Hit A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET TET FET
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZT5—H—H 28,502 209,570 24,570 262,642
Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to the income statement AFEE AEER/ (KaiF
during the year (note 10) MR ) 2 EFEBLIR (KiEE10) (6,937) 62,568 3,785 59,416
Exchange realignment b i, 848 9,073 369 10,290
Gross deferred tax assets RZZE—ZHE+-ZA=+—H
at 31 December 2010 ZIEER BB ERE 22,413 281,211 28,724 332,348

FIERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 3R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 34 EEBIE (£)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$322,367,000
(2010: HK$220,291,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$108,604,000 (2010: HK$105,088,000). Accumulated losses
amounting to HK$4,263,000, HK$15,263,000, HK$25,863,000,
HK$54,623,000 and HK$8,592,000 as at 31 December 2011 will
expire in 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively, for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for years and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008. As at 31 December 2011, the Group recognised a
deferred tax liability of HK$146,207,000 (2010: HK$100,203,000)
in respect of the withholding tax on future dividend distribution by
these PRC subsidiaries.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

AEBREB 2 H K EE A322,367,0008 70 (=
T —T4:220,291,000%70) Al A{ESHEE &£
EIEZARZRRERTAF - NREBMNHER
R 2 T 75 B 18 108,604,000/ 70 ( —Z 2 — T4
105,088,000 L) R =_FE——F+ A =+—
H& % %4,263,0008 7T 15,263,000/ 7T *
25,863,000/ JT * 54,623,000/ 7T 18,592,000/
T2 BEEED IR —=—F T —=%F"
—EMF T -AFRZFRFHE - AH
IR RERDUAF - ARZEBEIREEES
F 2 EBAT] - AL E1E R & ] B A DA SH FE
RBEA MW ERZEEERRREHIBEE -

BIRR B EMBRE 1A BB R85
FERERIIEIZEE SRR S AR 0% W TE
MB R EBR-_TTNF—A—HRBRER Wi#E
AR -_ZEZ+F+-_A=+—HENEF - fHiH
B i BLANBI IR B E W) R AR B R AT HE B S
Wi A ERARENENTX AEEEREH
R BRI NZERNBARR T NE—
A—BREENEF D IR RS ERT -
RZF—F+_A=1+—8 F~EEHEZEFH
Ff B A 7l 2 R 2R AR B 9 Ik 2 T8 0 F% i 72 3 AT % 18
B15146,207,0007% 70 (= —Z4 : 100,203,000
EIT) °

AR E) AT E R 2 BB B B A A R AT 1S R
‘R
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. RA
Shares % 4 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Authorised: JERE ¢
5,000,000,000/% ( == — =4 :
5,000,000,000 (2010: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,0000% )
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (2010: SR MEEO0.05/8 T
HK$0.05) each (ZE—ZFF:0.058m) 2 EBER 250,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRARE:
3,626,024,304 (=T —ZTF :
3,626,024,304 (2010: 3,536,568,090) 3,536,568,090/% )
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (2010: FAREE0.05%8 T
HK$0.05) each (ZE—FF:0.0587mL) 2 LB 181,301 176,828

FR-RAEBMT

During the year, the movements in share capital were as follows:

162

(a)

The subscription rights attaching to 3,400,000 share options
were exercised at subscription prices of HK$2.165 per share,
resulting in the issue of 3,400,000 shares of HK$0.05 each for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$7,361,000. An
amount of HK$1,972,000 was transferred from the share option
reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of the
share options.

On 25 August 2011, the Board resolved to declare an interim
dividend of HK7.00 cents per share for the six months ended
30 June 2011. The Board further resolved that such interim
dividend be satisfied wholly in the form of an allotment of new
fully paid share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.05 each in the
share capital of the Company (“scrip shares”) but shareholders
will be given the option of receiving such interim dividend
wholly in cash in lieu of such allotment, or partly in cash
and partly in the form of scrip shares. The interim dividend in
the form of scrip shares, resulted in the issue of 86,056,214
shares at an issue price of HK$1.560 per share for a total
consideration, before expenses, of HK$134,248,000.

FIERERAT 2011FFH

(a)

3,400,00010 BERREFTM RBEE X TR
21658 T 2 BHRITE Bt BARMEK
MY 28R EeKE7,361,000/8 T M 217
3,400,0000% & J& EI{E0.058 ;L 2 B 15 ° & 58
#31,972,0007 7L 1T 3 B IR i 14 FR RE AR M 8
fEE AR & B o

EFeR =2 ——FN\A=-+HBBAEK
HE-_FT——FXA=1tHILANERZHTEH
B EFR7.0081l - EESE— B RURE
AA B R A F IR EE0.058 T 2 # AR iR
B ([RERG]) 2 H X EERNH B HI%
B HRRAIEESMUIRSAR B G HER K
B9 LAIR @ R BD M LA B AR 15 75 =X W B A B
HRRE - R B AR BB D AT &
BHIEIITEER.560/8 TTE1786,056,214
ARAR 17 - BRE (INBRFZAT) 4134,248,000
S IT ©
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 35. A ()
A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to 2Z P AARBEBITRAZH 2 FARZH
the above movements in the Company’s issued share capital is as LU
follows:
Number Issued Share
of shares share premium
in issue capital account Total
BT
R & B ERITRAE 1 43 3% 18 Bk Agt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET
At 1 January 2010 R-ZZE—ZF—H—H 3,527,835,090 176,392 5,384,872 5,561,264
Share options exercised TR 8,733,000 436 13,335 13,771
Share issue expenses R BT = = (10) (10)
At 31 December 2010 and i ZE+-_HA=+—H
1 January 2011 k—Z——%—HF—H 3,536,568,090 176,828 5,398,197 5,575,025
Share options exercised (a) TR () 3,400,000 170 9,163 9,333
Dividend in the form of
new shares (b) AR A0 71 22 BB (b) 86,056,214 4,303 129,945 134,248
Share issue expenses PR AT - - (37) (37)
At 31 December 2011 R=ZZ——F+=ZA=+-—H 3,626,024,304 181,301 5,537,268 5,718,569
Share options B AR e

36.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 36 to the financial
statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any employee or director
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
director) of any member of the Group, or any employee, partner or
director of any business consultant, joint venture partner, financial
adviser and legal adviser of and to any member of the Group,
as absolutely determined by the board of directors. The Scheme
became effective on 5 June 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from
that date, after which period no further options will be issued but in
all other respects the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect. The remaining life of the Scheme will expire on 5
June 2012.

36.

ARARBRESE RAREZAEC BT 2B E
EACEiNp E Ey

Eﬁﬂi%*—l'il

ARmRAE —IREEERE (T%FHE)) REAR
EI%?’I’%EXUH‘E&EEKZAﬁT%%EE%?ﬂ B
K2R - 2t 2 R ERSHE B AKEERK

BRRIZEEHES (BERT FRTRBUIE
HITEE) HAKEEMKE AR ZEABER

a8 VEERREEEMZES B
REF HHESEERARAE ZAER 2T
FRATBER MERIFFRBUESHLERT - B RIZ
sTEIERE BT TFERB R - 5 RHAEmE - Al
N B L AR EARE BB EAM 5 HE @ Zat
BJEI’J %?Mﬁﬁ‘f'ixﬂj] Zat & 2 8RN B BRI
AN—E——FAABEM-
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the Scheme unless the Company obtains a fresh approval
from its shareholders. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating
such 10% limit. Notwithstanding the above, the maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30
percent of the shares in issue from time to time. The 10% limit was
refreshed by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at
the annual general meeting held on 12 June 2006, which enabled
the grant of further options to subscribe up to 250,271,396 shares,
representing 10% of the shares in issue as at 12 June 2006. As at the
date of this Annual Report, the total number of shares available for
issue under the Scheme was 189,131,396 shares (including options
for 98,778,000 shares that have been granted but not yet lapsed or
exercised) which represented 5.22% of the issued share capital of
the Company.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme is
that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each Participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The period under which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the board of directors at their absolute discretion
and notified by the directors to each grantee as being the period
during which an option may be exercised, and shall expire no later
than 10th Anniversary of the date upon which the option is granted
and accepted in accordance with the Scheme. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board and specified in the offer letter at the time
of the offer, there is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before the option can be exercised.

An option is open for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the
date of offer. The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$1. The full amount of exercise price for the subscription for
shares has to be paid upon exercise of an option.

FIERAERAT 2011FFH

36. BIRESTEI (&)

BRIEA R B R STt - BRI EBEITERE
ZaT B R AN A B A A] E B AR AT B S 2 BB AR
REMAlREE T2 EMARE B ERABBBNILE
ZiTElE BB RITROBEZ10% - BIBZTE
ERRBZ BRIEB TSR AKI0%MREE - &
WA - REEITERIR & AT 8 R A A RlEA H A
R AR A o B3R (T A4S 7T 58 2 18 AR 17 {5 AR R i ]
BEEITZIRMNEE LRTFBBNREZHTRN
REZ30% °##%10% ERER=ZZSTNFAATZ
ARTHBRRBFAS ERRBANTBRZR
E - BNA] B A Hi8250,271,396 8 B 15 HY B8
BE HER-ZZEZANFNAT-BNEETR
1310%  RAFE 3R A 8 - RIEZAT B FEHITZK
B EA189,131,396% (B IEE EH B M AR KK
171 2 Al 53 #%98,778,000% i 10 2 FE Ak 4 ) + {h
RRRBEEITRA25.22% °

BHR2EERBZETESHORD LR - BIETT
EREM2EABERETE2EEZEBRE (R
BB AT S im RATE Z PR AR ) T 3517 R i 34T
2R TNEEBBEBEITRN BB Z1% °

BREZATEARMESSE2RRE LHE
FRAMZARA MABTEMRAREZE
REBRER L R ERAE B R10BSE B Al
Em-BIEEETTRERERDBEREFNE T
Bt iER - BRIETRBREN TRUARE
BREN RERR -

BREAMKEEEACN -+ \RAEZRE
BEMBRERAXNRIENET - BBRMO 2176
BANTTEERER 22 -
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the board of
directors and notified to a participant and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of offer of grant, which must be a business day, (ii) a price being
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer of grant, and
(iii) the nominal value of a share in the Company.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

36. BIRESTEI (&)

TEEHEFSEEBNSZEE TREEARD
BUATZzE&ERE: INEHER (BARZEER)
EEEMAaRIMBERAAGABRERMAZK
W HE: (MREXRREE AT AEEXAES
BBARSMERARERRERME 2D
MEFAE: RGiAR BB ZEE-

VAT 310 6 AR 5 % T 1 7 1) AR 7T 152 22 P A A

2011 2010

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options

per share per share

HK$ HKS$

il fntE
FHTEE  BREHA FHITEE A

BRET BRAET
At 1 January R—H—H 2.4201 102,178,000 4.2072 70,713,000
Granted during the year RERNE L - - 2.4074 97,878,000
Exercised during the year RERTTE 2.165 (3,400,000) 1.2404 (8,733,000)
Lapsed during the year RERKR - - 4.7680  (57,680,000)
At 31 December R+=A=+—H 2.4289 98,778,000 2.4201 102,178,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share
options exercised during the year was HK$2.576 per share (2010:

HK$3.159 per share).
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. BB ECHE (&)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options MR EHIR M ARITEZ IR 2 1T (B R ITEH
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T :
2011 =
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE~ TREHE
HK$ per share
BRERT
900,000 4.7680 4-7-2007 to 3-7-2012
CEELFLtANBE=Z—=FtHA=H
93,862,000 2.3900 19-7-2012 to 18-7-2015
ZE--HFtA+HNBE=Z-AFEtA+NH
4,016,000 2.8140 19-7-2012 to 18-7-2015

ZE--HFtA+HNBE=Z-AFEtA+NH

98,778,000
2010 —T_T&
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
B ESE TEE" 1T A
HK$ per share
BRET
3,400,000 2.1650 29-5-2006 to 28-5-2011
“ERRFREA-TAAE-—ZE——FHA-TNR
900,000 4.7680 4-7-2007 to 3-7-2012
—EEtF+tANBE_E——-FtHA=H
93,862,000 2.3900 19-7-2012 to 18-7-2015
—T——FtA+hBE=E—AFtA+/N\H
4,016,000 2.8140 19-7-2012 to 18-7-2015
—T——FtA+hBE=E—AFtA+/N\H
102,178,000
*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * BRETEEAREHRSAIREITRARFRA
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share ZEAMR U S R -
capital.
No share option has been granted during the year. The Group FAMERHERE - AEEREE T ——
recognised a share option expense of HK$24,746,000 (2010: FTZ_RAR=+T—HILEFECERABRERX
HK$10,661,000) during the year ended 31 December 2011. 24,746,000 L (ZZE—ZFF 10,661,000/

JT) e

166 RIZRERDT 2011FFR



Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 3R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

36.

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The 3,400,000 share options exercised during the year resulted in
the issue of 3,400,000 ordinary shares of the Company and new
share capital of HK$170,000 and share premium of HK$9,163,000
(before issue expenses), as further detailed in note 35 to the financial
statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 98,778,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in
full of the outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 98,778,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$4,939,000 and share premium of HK$234,984,000
(before issue expenses).

As at the date of this report, options carrying rights to subscribe
for 98,778,000 shares remain outstanding and yet to be exercised,
which represented approximately 2.72% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

RESERVES

(@) Group
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 71 to 72 of the
financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries and associates in Mainland China has been
transferred to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

36

37.

ERESTTE (F)
AN BT S IR R N RE3SFTE — A FRITE
3,400,00017 i A% # 5 B8 17 2K A 7]3,400,000/%
LAk - FARZN170,0007% 7T K& A% {7 42 {89,163,000
BT (RIMBREEITH ) °

R¥mEBRR RIFEZTE - N2 FHF98,778,000
MERERNRITE- KRR Z AR A RALE
B BEATEERITE 2B RESBUE T
% 40N98,778,000/% AN A A 2 & i AR - 35 hn AR AR
4,939,000/ 7T AR 17 5 E234,984,0005%8 7T (R0
BREEITRL) ©

FEARRETIZ A E - ] RHE98,778,0008% 8% 15 (1&
ARARRZEEBITRNA2.72% ) 2 BRER
BT

&

(@ &T&£E
AEBAFERBAFEZHESERES
IRV BEREBNENBEGAESEHER
REF -

BIER SN A O K BREDIRAL  A%HE
BB A e 2 Y S R R 2 B
HEBBEARE MR ETHE -
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37. RESERVES (Continued) 37. % (&)
(b) Company (b) AAF
Share Capital Share
premium  redemption option Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
B BRE
IR 108 1B IR W i REBEF BE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P £ THET TET TET TET TET
R-Z—ZF
At 1 January 2010 *H —H 5,384,872 2,036 43,288 336,934 5,767,130
Total comprehensive FEZEKSR
income for the year %@%ﬁ - - - 368,387 368,387
Share issue expenses B E1TH X 35 (10) = = - (10)
Share options exercised IR i 35 13,335 = (2,939) = 10,396
Share options lapsed B Rz BkE - - (38,125) 38,125 =
Equity-settled share option ~ MBRAZ (T2
expense BRERX 36 = = 10,661 - 10,661
Interim 2010 dividend “E-TERHRE 12 - - = (247,560)  (247,560)
Adjustment to prior year's  FEEREKREZ
final dividend HE 12 - - - (612) (612)
Proposed final 2010 BE-Z—Z4F
dividend R 8 12 - = - (247,560)  (247,560)
RZE-ZF
At 31 December 2010 +-A=+—~H 5,398,197 2,036 12,885 247,714 5,660,832
Total comprehensive AEREZERE
income for the year ik - - - 561,343 561,343
Dividend in the form of
new share B 2 BB 35 129,945 - - - 129,945
Share options exercised TR AR 35 9,163 - (1,972) - 7,191
Share issue expenses AR B AITR X 35 (37) = = = (37)
Equity-settled share option ~ MBAZfF2
expense IR RER X 36 = = 24,746 = 24,746
Interim 2011 dividend —T——Fw Eﬁﬂ” 12 - - - (247,798)  (247,798)
Adjustment to prior year's  FEERERE
final dividend HAE 12 - - = (238) (238)
Proposed final BR-Z——%F
2011 dividend REBE 12 - - = (290,082)  (290,082)
R=Z——F
At 31 December 2011 +-A=+-H 5,537,268 2,036 35,659 270,939 5,845,902
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37. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Company (Continued)

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when
the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained
profits when the related options lapsed.

38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(0]

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 19 to the
financial statements) and property, plant and equipment under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from two to eighteen years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants falling due as follows:

37. % (&)
(b) AAF(4)

BREREEBEERLEMRITEZ BRE
RAE E—FFBERRPEIRERMFE2.450
BROINRZZ 2 G BEK - 22 BEN A B
T REEREERMNEERINEBE
PRAER AR ERBRF

38. REHNZTHE

(0]

fEREEE

BRELLBEOLHE AEEREBETREY
¥ (M BMKRIE19) RDWE - BERRE
HBZEERMEE T N\FELE - OGS —
RERBEFPAGBNREERBERFERT
SREMBHEFEHES -

RZEBE——F+ZA=+—H xEERUT
HEER 2 TABUEEEBOERR Z KD
FEM AL EERIT

Group

rEH
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within one year —FR 351,647 345,751
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEENF (BREEME) 499,728 544,463
After five years e F 185,485 288,867
1,036,860 1,179,081
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38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (Continued) 38. MEMNZH (&)
(i) As lessee (i) #ERMAP
The Group leases certain of its properties under operating lease AEBRBELCLHEERPFEAETYE W%
arrangements. Leases for the properties are negotiated for terms HRBEBER=ZFETNFI F-

ranging from three to nineteen years.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group and the Company had RZZ——F+=-RA=+—08 AEERAR
total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable AR AT B JE i 2 1 AT BUH & 2 O E R
operating leases falling due as follows: 2 B b RN AL AR AR T
Group Company
rEE AN
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$"000
FHERT THT THET T
Within one year —F A 8,179 7,095 1,825 1,825
In the second to fifth years, F_FEFERHF
inclusive (BEERME) 11,938 12,721 608 2,434
20,117 19,816 2,433 4,259
39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. BARAE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B £ PR EE38(i) R it 2 48 S A ) AN RIS
38(ii) above, the Group and the Company had the following R AEBEARAZEREEMNT :

commitments at the end of the reporting period:

Group Company
rEE AN
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$"000
THET FET THET THET
Restated
KET
Commitments in respect of
acquisition of land and
buildings, and development
costs attributable PLURE T RAETF
to properties under AREBERPDE
development: BERAAN 2 A
Contracted, but not provided for £ 5] 41 i) A B A 5,683,011 6,822,677 - =
Authorised, but not
contracted for EREERARETN 1,641,265 405,268 - 337,552
7,324,276 7,227,945 - 337,552
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided
for in the financial statements were as follows:

40. RAREE
RBEHR T EAMBBERBEAREE
m

Group Company
AEE ¥ YN
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET FET FET
(i) Guarantees given to banks
for credit facilities Gy BNBEAREREER
granted to subsidiaries MERITIEL Z B R - - 1,604,070 1,117,675

The guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to the
subsidiaries by the Company will expire on 31 December 2012.

(if) As at 31 December 2011, the Group has given guarantees to a
maximum extent of approximately HK$1,401,107,000 (2010:
HK$962,473,000) to banks for housing loans extended by the
banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default
of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to banks. The Group is then entitled
to take over the legal title of the related properties. The
Group’s guarantee period commences from the date of grant
of the relevant mortgage loan and ends after the buyer of the
Group's properties obtained the individual property ownership
certificate.

The directors consider that in case of default in payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties can cover the
repayment of the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty and therefore no provision has
been made in connection with the guarantees.

(iii) A statement of claim dated 27 August 2002 was issued by
Fancheng Property Development Co., Limited (the “Plaintiff”)
against Shum Yip Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Shum Yip
Shenzhen”, renamed as Shum Yip Southern Land (Holdings)
Co., Ltd. in the year of 2007), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company as the first defendant and Yaoheng Development
Co., Ltd. as the second defendant in a civil claim at the court in
Mainland China.

ARARMEAREREENMIRTERZ
ERER _F——F+_A=+—H2H-

(i) RZZE——F+-_A=+—8 A5EHRRTT
BTAEEMEERZEEERARITRME
% 491,401,107,00088 T (Z T —ZFF :
962,473,000/ 7T ) KIHE(R o

RBERGT  MZEFERERIZBTA A
SEEEEX N RN RS EFARIER K
1B 2 BR RN RITH) E RS R E K e
AEFEBERAUZEBEBYMENRIEMARE-
AEENERPBBELERREERE AR
REBEEASENEERBISER XA #
EERE

EEZRR WERFA  ARYROR 28 %
18 R PA ST 10 o 58 1248 B 508 Rl (E (o] JE &t
B R F R B A R S PR AR A A

i) EFBEAEEEN —RREREF  LKY
FERERAR ([RENNR_FT_F\A
“ttEtERARRIZEENBARIRESE
(RINBRRAR (DRFFRI] - R_FTLF
SARAEETHE (RE)BRAR) (F
—HE)RBEERARAR (F-_HWE) R
HRE-
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)
(iii) (Continued)

The Plaintiff claimed against Shum Yip Shenzhen for, inter alia,
damages suffered by the Plaintiff as a result of the breach by
Shum Yip Shenzhen of the terms of a cooperation agreement
entered into between the Plaintiff and Shum Yip Shenzhen dated
8 July 1991, which include (i) Shum Yip Shenzhen’s deliberate
register of the properties named Shenfa Garden under the name
of Shum Yip Shenzhen and its refusal to give the properties to
the Plaintiff and (ii) Shum Yip Shenzhen’s appropriation of the
Plaintiff’s sales proceeds to compensate the individual owners
and the construction party of Shenfa Garden while keeping the
income in relation to certain car parks and the kindergarten
situated within the area of Shenfa Garden. The Plaintiff claimed
a total compensation of approximately RMB170 million against
Shum Yip Shenzhen. Shum Yip Shenzhen lodged a defence and
a counter-claim for compensation of RMB1.3 million against the
Plaintiff on 22 October 2002. This case was heard in court on
26 March 2003 and 5 November 2004, the arbitration process
was complicated and time-consuming.

On 4 January 2008, the Plaintiff and Shum Yip Shenzhen
entered into an amicable settlement agreement, pursuant
to which the Plaintiff agreed to partially waive the claim
mentioned above, and the remaining claim was RMB40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$45,432,000). On 4 August
2009, the High Court of Guangdong province arbitrated the
partial waiver of the claim.

On 23 December 2009, the High Court of Guangdong province
(“Guangdong High Court”) arbitrated to overrule both the
claims of the Plaintiff and the counter-claim of Shum Yip
Shenzhen. On 2 February 2010, the Plaintiff appealed to the
Supreme People’s Court of the PRC, in which the Plaintiff
claimed for revocation of the judgement of the Guangdong
High Court and affirmed part of their original claims of
RMB26,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$29,530,800).
On 9 September 2010, the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC
opened a court session on the issue. On 11 February 2011,
the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC arbitrated to overrule
the judgement of Guangdong High Court and the case was
remanded to Guangdong High Court for a new trial. As at the
date of this report, the case was still subject to final judgement
of Guangdong High Court.

As advised by Hong Kong lawyers, pursuant to a deed (the
“Deed”) entered into on 12 February 1997 by Shum Yip
Holdings as covenanter in favour of the Company as covenantee
in connection with the listing of the Company, the Company
could claim indemnity from Shum Yip Holdings if the Plaintiff
and/or the applicant is successful in its claim against Shum
Yip Shenzhen on the grounds that Shum Yip Shenzhen had
materially breached the cooperation agreement, and the
circumstances which gave rise to the above litigation were
already in existence at the time of execution of the Deed.

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

40. RAREE (£&)

(iii)

(#)

REWRERYIRERE  BEREE (HP
BIEAFRFREFINEREFR—AN—F
tANBRINZEEREZGRMEZ 2B
K ZEERBE: (VRERNMEE—BES
BRBETEEZMEZTAELRBT  WIBRERR
ERXHZWE: RNFERINBARE HE
MEMBZHIE  AUNHERBR 2 EERFRE
TEEZ B WREEMNFEILEANE T
EEISRNERFREZUA  RERIERERY
RESGEHARK170,000,0007T © % % FE I
R-ZEE_FE+ A+ _ARKEELHE
REFM - EHRERREARE,300,0007T
HRR-_FEZE=F=A=-+ "BR=-ZFTNW
Fr+—ARBRA - (THIBERIIER BB

R N\FE—AMAB - REEFEEFRIEK
MEEHE B RERZRE LAt 2 35
DRE BRRESTEREAARE40,000,000
7T (#4748 % 145,432,000 7T) - R=-FBEE A,
FNAMA BERESHERMEREEZDD
ﬁre.«

=Ilg°

R-ZZBEENFE+—_A-+=0 BEREAS&E
PR (TERERE]) FERERE 2 RERFE
Az REE- R_T—FF_A=H R&
MR BE&EARERREEFA  REZRKEE
BRERELZHR THIZREERERE
AR #26,000,0007T (448 & 729,530,800
BIL) RZE—ZTFNAAE FEES A
RERBESEAHESZ -N=F——F=A
+—B FESEARZERAHEKDERSR
ZHHR - MR EEER SR ERS - RAR
A WRMARBEERSREL Z&EH
RNAT ©

BESAMREZER  RERERE (fF5
REFHEANR-AALE-B+ZBAXK
AT (ERRMEMA) 2T L 2RI
(([%RE) DEEARAT ETHSET 2R
B WEREAR HRBALRERYZ
BRI AR AT AR EE SRR
W REARERYBEERA GBS T
SR ERFRZERRBIRREE LR
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

(b)

The Group had the following material transactions with related
parties during the year:

41.

BBAERXS

(@)

FRANEEEBE T ETATERRS

Group
rEE
2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$"000
Bt FExT TAT
Restated
wE7
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, BEEZERATRE (5H)
the immediate holding company: BRAAE
Rental expenses paid ENESHS (i) 5,479 4,978
Associates: iR/
Purchase of properties ,ﬁﬁ,\%% (ii) 721,203 -
Interest income .8 %Z)\ 5,848 18,840
A jointly-controlled entity: *F'EJ G EE
Interest income (note 28) %M%A&J\(thza) 119,389 38,350
Notes: B &

(i)  The rentals were recognised at prices based on mutual agreement
between the parties.

(i)  The transaction with the associate was the purchase of properties of

Tianan Golf Longyuan at the average price of HK$35,697 per square

meter.
Commitments with related parties:

On 1 May 2008 and 1 January 2011,
a subsidiary of the Group respectively entered into lease

the Company and

agreements for periods ending 30 April 2013 and 31 December
2013 with Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, the immediate
holding company, respectively. The amount of lease expenses
for the year is included in note 41(a) to the financial statement.
The Group expects total lease expenses in 2012 and 2013 to be
approximately HK$5,184,000 and HK$3,967,000, respectively.

(if)

(b)

METHRETHEE T 2 BRHER

‘E”E

RNAEIZ RS R/AETFTK35,697%8 T2 F15
AERBABEEZWE -

K
L
=

BREE

Bt 77 2 A

m:;”\iﬁﬂ—E&:%——i—ﬂ—

B AARRASEEz —HWEARSDBIHRE
BEERARRE(EE)ERA Jin%Mé
T —FNA=ZFTAR-ZE—=%+=A
=+ BEHIHRAzAERZ FAAEMAX
SR AP ERERW F41(2) c NEETEH
m T——FRk= —:izm i 4858

5 B4 45,184,000 7T 3,967,000/ T ©
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)

(if)

(iii

(iv)

Details of the Group's loans to/from its associates as at the
end of the reporting period are included in note 22 to the
financial statements.

As disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group had payable amounting to
HK$54,641,000 (2010: HK$41,616,000) to & % & &
AR AF], the ultimate holding company. The payable
is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of

repayment.

Details of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables with its jointly-controlled entity as at 31
December 2011 are disclosed in note 28 to the financial
statements.

The loans to fellow subsidiaries included in the
Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables of
HK$117,669,000 (2010: HK$10,499,000) are unsecured,
interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

The loans from fellow subsidiaries included in the Group’s
other payables and accruals totalling HK$103,522,000
(2010: HK$15,298,000) are unsecured,
payable on demand.

interest-free and

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

NBHERS (&)
BN 5 2 R E R

(c)

d) RAEETZE

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

AEEMAARESTHEAT 2 H
/?%%’?” B BE R B R &M
53522 °

WA EMHERRERABEE  NEEE
NERERABFESEEFGRAAZ
FIB#ES54,641,0008 L (Z T — T F ¢
41,616,0007 7T ) © FE N FRIE & MIEHA -
BNV EETERBH -

ZKEIE/\_%**¢+_H =+t—R&
HERZHEEZEARE T2 kEM
JEH&ZMIETE&%/%EH%%&&%M‘T 528 °

AAREECENKRE ST REM
FE WG IE 2 4 %H?W%"TZ%
117,669,000 L (=T —F F:
10,499,000 7T ) AEEIR - £ 2RI &
& E (E 38 BAPR o

ATAARSEE 2 H MR HIE & E G
ERACZRERZRZWB AR 2 ERE
103,522,000 7T ( :gfgi :
15,298,000/ 7t ) A EIK I - £ B WA
RERER-

BAEZME :

2011 2010

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Short term employee benefits EEEE RN 7,908 7,312

Post-employment benefits RN 1,142 1,217

Equity-settled share option expense VARR 7R 32 A+ 2 B s 1 el 32 8,410 3,277
Total compensation paid to key

management personnel ENFEERBAEMeERE 17,460 11,806

Further details of directors’” emoluments are included in note 8

to the financial statements.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY N EZEERNz2E/MIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERAR - BEERAN ZERTAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: LU
2011 —E——F
Group
rEE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity Loans and financial
Financial assets SREE for trading  investments  receivables assets Total
ZBRER
BARE
tEZ
SREE BEZE EXR AHHEZ
—-BEXS IWRE FE W R X STREE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR FTET THET TR FTHET
laTHE N A2
Loans to associates (note 22) B (HizE22) - - 234,955 - 234,955
Loans to a jointly-controlled entity — # T — & £ RIE§] & &

(note 28) Z B (P 5E28) - - 864,224 - 864,224
Held-to-maturity investment BEZIHRE - 387,968 - - 387,968
Available-for-sale investments AJHEERE - - - 29,913 29,913
Trade receivables FEUWRBR 3R - - 143,407 - 143,407
Financial assets included in SPAEMNFRIE FTE R

prepayments, deposits and other Hip WK R/l

receivables (note 28) BE (Mf7£28) - - 669,885 - 669,885
Equity investments at fair value FBRBEREANE

through profit or loss AHEARERE 19,487 - - - 19,487
Pledged deposits EERER - - 12,427 - 12,427
Restricted cash SR G e - - 126,425 - 126,425
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY - - 5,097,524 - 5,097,524

19,487 387,968 7,148,847 29,913 7,586,215
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42 REEAFZEMIA (£F)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERAR BEERAF ZERTAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W ()
(Continued)
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
Financial liabilities SRasE cost Total
L 8
R ER
SRBaE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT
Trade payables FE AT BR 3K 264,717 264,717
Financial liabilities included in AEMENRBERESER
other payables and accruals (note 33) 2B E (ME33) 2,121,551 2,121,551
Interest-bearing bank loans TEIRITE R 16,479,287 16,479,287
Due to the ultimate holding company A R AR AR IR R R FRIE 54,641 54,641
Loans from associates (note 22) Bt N R B (F5E22) 286,303 286,303
19,206,499 19,206,499
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2. REERBR2EMTA (&

REBEMR ZXERIF R TAZEEE

W (&)

(Continued)
2010 —E—TF
Group
rEE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale
Restated KE7 loss-held maturity Loans and financial
Financial assets TREE for trading  investments  receivables assets Total
FERER
BARE
AEZ
EREE BEZE Rk AMtHEZ
—HIERS R E JFE LS B 5K SRBE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET TET FET
BTHEDRZER
Loans to associates (note 22) (PfzE22) = = 71,917 = 71,917
Loans to a jointly-controlled entity 4 T — R £ REHI F 8
(note 28) ZER (KiE28) - - 1,368,611 - 1,368,611
Held-to-maturity investment BERIHKRE = 385,938 = = 385,938
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE = = = 34,014 34,014
Trade receivables FEWBR SR - - 199,449 - 199,449
Financial assets included in SPARRRIE FT2 R
prepayments, deposits and other Hi RUTIAZ £/
receivables (note 28) BE (KiE28) - - 487,672 - 487,672
Equity investments at fair value BREREANENE
through profit or loss HRERE 20,564 - - - 20,564
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY - - 6,179,790 - 6,179,790
20,564 385,938 8,307,439 34,014 8,747,955

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

177



Notes to Financial Statements

B 85 R 2R M

31 December 2011
—E——F+=ZA=+—H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 2. REEHRR2EMIA (F)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERAR ZEEHEA ZERTAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W ()
(Continued)
Group
rEE
Financial
liabilities
at fair value Financial
through profit liabilities
Restated KE| or loss-held at amortised
Financial liabilities TRIBME for trading cost Total
BEiRBH
BARE
HEZ AR S8R R
Ea=Li B
—HER S ERARE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET FTET
Trade payables JE T BR R = 141,725 141,725
Financial liabilities included in other SPAEMENRIEREFTERZ
payables and accruals CRMAE - 1,300,359 1,300,359
Derivative financial instruments TEeRMITA 65,861 - 65,861
Interest-bearing bank loans SFERITER - 12,447,198 12,447,198
Due to the ultimate holding company — FEf & &R 2 &5 - 41,616 41,616
Loans from associates BERNRER - 50,828 50,828
65,861 13,981,726 14,047,587
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2. ZEEEF2EMIA (

R|ERAR - BEERAN ZERTAZREE

W (&)

=)

=

(Continued)
Company
LA
2011 2010
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through Available- through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity  Loans and financial loss-held maturity  Loans and financial
Financial assets SREE for trading investments  receivables assets Total  fortrading investments  receivables assets Total
BBRAE BRER
BRASRE BARE
itEZ Bk GHEZ Gk
SREE BEE ERR HE SREE BEE EFRR hEZ
-KERS HHRE EWFE SREE & w5 HERE  EKRE  SREE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR TET TR TR TR FHL THT THL FHL FHL
Financial assets included in
investments in subsidiaries &F AMIE2 &% &M
(note 20) SRAE (f:20) - - 170,002 - 170,002 = = 163,649 = 163,649
Held-to-maturity investment #8228 % - 387,968 - - 387,968 = 385,938 = = 385,938
Available-for-sale
investments AHEHERE - - - 1,720 1,720 = = = 1,720 1,720
Equity investments at fair
value through profitor ~ BBRBREZAAEHE
loss MR ERE 8,027 - - - 8,027 18,381 = = = 18,381
Financial assets included in  sf ABBHFE 71 & &
prepayments, deposits and ~ Eft YA 7
other receivables (note 28) & (HiF28) - - 7,710 - 7,710 - - 499 - 499
Due from subsidiaries ) NG - - 4,740,097 - 4,740,097 - - 3,486,988 ~ 3,486,988
Cash and cash equivalents ~ H& RAEZEN - - 1,255,619 - 1,255,619 - - 1,085,605 - 1,085,605
8,027 387,968 6,173,428 1,720 6,571,143 18,381 385,938 4,736,741 1,720 5,142,780
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42 REEAFZEMIA (£F)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERAR BEERAF ZERTAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W ()
(Continued)
Company
N
2011 2010
Financial
liabilities
Financial at fair value Financial
liabilities through profit liabilities
at amortised or loss-held at amortised
Financial liabilities SHEE cost Total for trading cost Total
FRBRE
BARE
DS 3 5% HEZ B A
HEM SHARE FHEM
LHEE EoH -RKfER 5 CREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TET FET TART
AT AH R 5008 K&
Financial liabilities included in other EAERZERAR
payables and accruals (note 33) (FizE33) 326 326 = 54,979 54,979
Loans from associates (note 33) BENAER (M) 29,213 29,213 = 28,115 28,115
Derivative financial instruments fTEERMTA - - 65,861 = 65,861
Interest-bearing bank loans FTEHRTER 6,859,106 6,859,106 - 5,697,238 5,697,238
Due to the ultimate holding company N REERARHA 5,207 5,207 — = —
Due to subsidiaries ERHBARZE 156,983 156,983 = 57,466 57,466

7,050,835 7,050,835 65,861 5,837,798 5,903,659
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. 2ARERAARESERES
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the AEBEARARZ M ITAZRAERRAEN
Company’s financial instruments are as follows: I
Group AEE
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE ARE
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET FExT FH&T
Restated Restated
=l K E 5
Financial assets SREE
Cash and cash equivalents RekBE2EFED 5,097,524 6,179,790 5,097,524 6,179,790
Restricted cash SR #3E & 126,425 = 126,425 -
Pledged deposits [BEE RSN 12,427 — 12,427 =
Loans to associates 4 %H“A AlZE R 234,955 71,917 234,955 71,917
Loans to a jointly-controlled BT —RAREHER
entity Z‘ﬁm 864,224 1,368,611 864,224 1,368,611
Trade receivables JE i BR 3K 143,407 199,449 143,407 199,449

Financial assets included in

prepayments, deposits and ST ATERFRIE - 7T & R H A fE

other receivables WHEzSREE 669,885 487,672 669,885 487,672
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE 29,913 34,014 29,913 34,014
Equity investments at fair value ZEBEHZALEFTERN

through profit or loss R E 19,487 20,564 19,487 20,564
Held-to-maturity investment BEZIHKE 387,968 385,938 322,203 421,865

7,586,215 8,747,955 7,520,450 8,783,882

Financial liabilities SREE
Trade payables FERR K 264,717 141,725 264,717 141,725
Financial liabilities included in &t A E 4th &~ 7008 K fE =1 &

other payables and accruals Brzemats 2,121,551 1,300,359 2,121,551 1,300,359
Derivative financial instruments T4 & @l T & - 65,861 - 65,861
Interest-bearing bank loans T EIRITE R 16,479,287 12,447,198 16,479,287 12,447,198
Due to the ultimate holding

company FE AT S AR AR A B 5RIE 54,641 41,616 54,641 41,616
Loans from associates HE/NEIN=E 286,303 50,828 286,303 50,828

19,206,499 14,047,587 19,206,499 14,047,587
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

(Continued)

3. ARERIABESERERE(

)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the AEBEAARZ BT AZRAERRAEN
Company’s financial instruments are as follows: (Continued) T (#)
Company AN
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ARE
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T FExT FHT
Financial assets ERMEE
Investments in subsidiaries WEBARKE 170,002 163,649 170,002 163,649
Held-to-maturity investment REZINHKE 387,968 385,938 322,203 421,865
Cash and cash equiva[ents RERIREEBY 1,255,619 1,085,605 1,255,619 1,085,605
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and SEATANFRIA ~ 512 RHE b &
other receivables WHRIE S REE 7,710 499 7,710 499
Equity investments at fair value #EBIER RN AE HARE
through profit or loss "E 8,027 18,381 8,027 18,381
Due from subsidiaries JE W BT B A B FRIE 4,740,097 3,486,988 4,740,097 3,486,988
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE 1,720 1,720 1,720 1,720
6,571,143 5,142,780 6,505,378 5,178,707
Financial liabilities SREE
Due to subsidiaries & AF B B8 1% R SR IR 156,983 57,466 156,983 57,466
Financial liabilities included in  FF AEALE RIBE R EFE
other payables and accruals RAzeraE 326 54,979 326 54,979
Loans from associates A RNCII 29,213 28,115 29,213 28,115
Interest-bearing bank loans STERITER 6,859,106 5,697,238 6,859,106 5,697,238
Due to the ultimate holding
company J& 5 B A% 42 IR A B RRIR 5,207 - 5,207 -
Derivative financial instruments 74 & @l T & - 65,861 - 65,861
7,050,835 5,903,659 7,050,835 5,903,659
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

(Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, amounts due from/to
subsidiaries, amounts due to the ultimate holding company, loans
from associates and investments in subsidiaries approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of loans to associates, pledged deposits, interest-
bearing bank loans and held-to-maturity investment have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments on similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs)
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. AARERAABEERER (£F)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2011, the Group held the following financial RZB——F+-A=+—H AEEFEUT
instruments measured at fair value: BEARBEFEZERMIA:
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2011: RZZE——F+_A=+—HEAREBEFEZE
=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—B £=E E=E ot
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT FExT FET
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 29,913 - - 29,913
Equity investments at fair value ZEBE=IZALEBEFERN
through profit or loss R & 19,483 4 - 19,487
49,396 4 - 49,400
As at 31 December 2011, the Company held the following financial RZZ——F+=ZA=+—B ARAFAAT
instruments measured at fair value: BEARBEFEZERIA:
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2011: RZZE——F+-A=+—HEAREBEFEZE
=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E3=| EI=IA EI = st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT FET TET
Available-for-sale investments gt ERE 1,720 - - 1,720
Equity investments at fair value #EiRIBm IR A NEFTEH
through profit or loss xR & 8,023 4 - 8,027
9,743 4 - 9,747
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4. BHEEREE 2B WRBE

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivative
financial instruments, comprise interest-bearing bank loans, cash
and cash equivalents, equity investments and an investment in senior
notes. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Group is mainly due to the interest
rate fluctuations of its bank borrowings. Interest on these bank
borrowings is computed based on market rates. In the prior year, the
Group entered into interest rate swaps, in which the Group agreed
to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-
upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to
hedge underlying debt obligations.

The Group will constantly assess the interest rate risk it encounters
to decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 December 2011, if the interest rate of bank borrowings
had increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors remained
unchanged, the profit after tax for the year of the Group and the
Company would have decreased/increased by approximately
HK$47,137,000 (2010: HK$32,717,728) and HK$28,017,000 (2010:
HK$30,302,837), respectively.

AEEZTZERMTA(TEEMESRTA)E
EARRTER RS RBRSEEY RERER
BARBREBE - UESRITAZEIZAEIAA
SEXBESEES - AEEEFELHEMERE
EREE PINERREEERZERERRE
RHERFK ©

AEBz BT AMEEZRAREERFIRER -
SNERER EERE  RBESRREBRERKR -
EEERAVHEEELERKR 2 SBRE
R o

A %= E B

REBENF SRR EERERITERZFERKE
AL - ZFRITERZH B TIRETIH M E 5
B UEFEAEEFZANEEREGL Bt K
SERENFERRRBREDEZENEELE
B ESHNESRZEEERZER -%FEY
BRRIEEREMEBEEREEMRI L

A5 8 5 15 4B AT A P B B9 A & B LURTE B &
HEE AT AR E AR A R A o

R=ZZT——F+=A=+—8 HBTERDFE
EF TS KB EMERERERE - BIER
SERARRAEERE TGS DRI 1
IN#947,137,0008 T (ZF—F4F:32,717,7287%
70) }%28,017,0005 7t (= F — £ 4 :30,302,837
PEIT) °
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

Most of the operating income of the Group’s business is in RMB and
the Group’s assets held and all of its committed borrowings of the
Group are mainly denominated in RMB and US$. During the year,
RMB appreciated compared to US$ and HK$. Management believes
such an appreciation will not have any negative effect on the Group.
Hence, the Group has not adopted any financial instruments for
hedging purposes. However, the Group will constantly assess the
foreign exchange risk it encounters so as to immediately decide
the hedging policy required to hedge against the possible foreign
exchange risk that may arise.

On 31 December 2011, if HKD had appreciated by 5% against
RMB/US$ and all other factors remained unchanged, the profit after
tax for the year of the Group and the Company could have increased
by HK$235,650,767 (2010: HK$176,745,857) and HK$82,900,539
(2010: HK$53,806,560), respectively. The change mainly due to the
net value changes of the exchange gains in US$-denominated bank
borrowings and RMB-denominated cash and cash equivalents, after
offsetting the exchange loss in RMB-denominated trade payables.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets, trade
and other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit risk through
the granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 40(ii) to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with licensing
banks which are all high credit quality financial institutions. The
Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties
except for the sales of properties. The Group has policies in place
to ensure that sales are made to buyers with appropriate financial
strength and appropriate percentage of down payments. The
Group would not release the property ownership certificates to the
buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 27 to the
financial statements.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4. MERREEZBNRBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk i B 1 R B
Liquidity risk arises when the Group is unable to meet its current EASETREREEIHNRDEBRFAESE
liabilities that fall due. The Group’s objective is to maintain a mBMEE AREEEEBEREHRRIAR
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the TER #RESRBERERBERE 2 FE- 88
use of short and long term bank loans. Through maintaining a HEEEBRL §|J1%?#E91¥7K$‘$%Eﬁﬁ
reasonable proportion in its asset and liability structure, the Group is REBBZHBE
able to meet its ongoing financial needs.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end rEBZzeRBENRSHRZIBBERMDT
of the reporting period is as follows:
Group AEE
2011
Within One to Two to Over
On demand one year two years three years three years Total
RER —FH0A -E2f ZEZE =ENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAn ThR Thxn TER
Interest-bearing bank loans ~ 3t&H{TEH 9,871 5,677,223 3,276,362 6,239,163 2,982,284 18,184,903
Trade payables &R - 264,717 - - - 264,717
Financial liabilities included &t A A fERTFE R
in other payables and FEAERZ
accruals cRAR - 2,121,551 - - - 2,121,551
Due to the ultimate holding
company BRREERAFRE 54,641 - - - - 54,641
Loans from associates BENAER - 286,303 - - - 286,303
Total @zt 64,512 8,349,794 3,276,362 6,239,163 2,982,284 20,912,115
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4. BHEEREEZBENRBEK (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RENERE R ()
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end AEEZz2REBERRERARZBNPBERAT
of the reporting period is as follows: (Continued) (#&)
Group (Continued) AEE(#E)
2010
Within One to Two to Over
On demand one year two years three years three years Total
Restated L =3 REK —EHR —E°F ZEZE “ENE &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THER THL TR TR
Interest-bearing bank loans & 8HETEH 108,000 9,875,547 1,492,600 759,032 1,149,543 13,384,722
Trade payables JE 1 B R - 141,725 - 141,725
Financial liabilities included
in other payables and AR MERTRER
accruals EHERZERER - 1,300,359 - - - 1,300,359
Derivative financial
instruments TESRTA - 65,861 - - - 65,861
Due to the ultimate holding
company JER R IR D R FU8 41,616 = = = = 41,616
Loans from associates BENRER - 50,828 - - - 50,828
Total @it 149,616 11,434,320 1,492,600 759,032 1,149,543 14,985,111
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the RARBzeMBERRESHRZAHABERMOT:
end of the reporting period is as follows:
Company AAF
2011
Within One to Two to Over
On demand one year two years three years three years Total
#EX  -FMw  -E-F  ESF SHENE 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
45 7 A7 7 47 7
Interest-bearing bank loans  FHERRITEH - 480,149 943,125 3,644,799 2,440,293 7,508,366
Financial liabilities included
in other payables and STAEMERTRER
accruals EAERz eRAME - 326 - - - 326
Loans from associates Hﬁﬁ%@ﬂgﬁ - 29,213 - - - 29,213
Due to the ultimate holding
company ERREERAFRE 5,207 - - - - 5,207
Due to subsidiaries ERHBARTE - 156,983 - - - 156,983
Total @it 5,207 666,671 943,125 3,644,799 2,440,293 7,700,095
Guarantees given to banks
for credit facilities Al BAREREEM
granted to subsidiaries MR 2 R
(note 40(i)) (BizE4do0)) - 1,604,070 - - - 1,604,070
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4. BHEEREEZBENRBEK (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REN R ()
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the AARZ2RMEBERRERARZBPBERAT
end of the reporting period is as follows: (Continued) (%)

Company (Continued) RKATF (&)

2010
Within One to Two to Over
one year two years  three years  three years Total
_EELXW _:I::ﬁ; :;.:E¢ EEMJ: ?@§+
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHT FET FHET
Interest-bearing bank loans HRRITER 4,676,975 - 321,070 852,427 5,850,472
Financial liabilities included in st A E A - FRIE )2
other payables and accruals EEEBRzeRBE 54,979 - - - 54,979
Loans from associates BN R E R 28,115 = = = 28,115
Derivative financial instruments TESRBT A 65,861 = = = 65,861
Due to subsidiaries FE BB A B RIA 57,466 - - - 57,466
Total fmEt 4,883,396 - 321,070 852,427 6,056,893
Guarantees given to banks for RIBRAEREE
credit facilities granted to i RSRAT VI 2 4R
subsidiaries (note 40(i)) (T EE40()) 1,117,675 - - - 1,117,675
Equity price risk R 18 = B

The equity price risk of the Group mainly arises from the changes
in market prices for held-for-trading equity investments. The
book values of this type of financial assets held by the Group are
recognised according to market quotes as at the end of the reporting

period.

On 31 December 2011, if the price of listed equity securities held
by the Group had increased/decreased by 10%, and all other factors
remained unchanged and excluding tax items, the book values of the
listed equity securities of the Group and the Company would have
increased/decreased by HK$1,948,000 (2010: HK$2,056,398) and
HK$802,000 (2010: HK$1,838,113), respectively.

Capital management

The objectives of the Group’s capital management policy are to
ensure the financing capabilities of the Company in running its
operation on a going concern basis, to maintain an optimal capital
structure, to reduce capital cost and to maximise the value of

shareholders.

AEEZRERREZRERZUBREREZT
BEH - ERAEEREFEREEZREET
RIBRE MR T 5 REFER

R_TE——&+-_A=+—HB HWEAEEEEZ
EHREBRAZEBR LA THKI0%  MATEE
WEXRHRFEAE (TREHRE)  ARAEERAE
ARz LT REES 2 BREE D B, A
1,948,000 7T (= F —Z 4 : 2,056,398 7T) &
802,000/ (= F —=F4 :1,838,113/87L) °

EXEHE
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44.

45.

46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure appropriately
according to the specific features of the risks of its assets and the
changes in various economic conditions. Through adjustments
in dividend distribution, injections and repayments of capital
by shareholders or issuance of new shares, the Group is able to
maintain an optimal capital structure of the Company.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debts
divided by equity attributable to owners of the parent. The Group's
policy is, in the long run, to maintain the average gearing ratio no
more than approximately 70%. Net debts are interest-bearing bank
loans less cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits and restricted
cash. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as

44.

MEERREREZBENRERE (&)

BRE®R (£)
NEBEREAGEEZBRIFEREBLEMRR
THRZEHEEHEEAREETEERAR -
BRAEREDIK BETE REEERNRET
Pk NEBMEMBEARRZERNREBHSEE
{EIKFE o

AEBEFEAEAGELR (BAFABERUAT AR
A ANELEDS) EREER - ANEBZERET &
REFPHEREBLRERFETBBL70% o F
BEANERTERRECKRESZTEY BK
HEREZRHBE - RBEHRZELEEL
KT ¢

follows:
Group AEE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Restated
wE3
Interest-bearing bank loans (note 31) T EIRITE R (MIFE31) 16,479,287 12,447,198
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 30) B RERREEEY (KMEE30) (5,097,524) (6,179,790)
Pledged deposits (note 30) EHERFER (M5E30) (12,427) =
Restricted cash (note 30) 2R HI3E € (MIEE30) (126,425) -
Net debts FAaE 11,242,911 6,267,408
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BRAHEE AEGER 15,543,379 13,474,903
Gearing ratio BEARBEL X 72% 47%
COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 45. kB 28

As further explained in note 2.2.2 to the financial statements,
the Group changed to adopt equity method to account for its
investments in jointly-controlled entities during the current year,
therefore accounting treatment and presentation of certain items
in the financial statements have been revised to comply with the
accounting policy changed. In addition, the comparative income
statement has been re-presented as if the equity method had been

adopted at the beginning of the comparative period.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 27 March 2012.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

TFEMBRE

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET FHET FHET FHT
Restated Restated
K& KE7
RESULTS ES
REVENUE FROM BEQEER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 2z 7,320,584 6,502,460 5,284,032 4,080,821 3,342,802
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B AR FI
(Including profit from (BRI R
discontinued operations) BESRF) 2,892,293 2,440,527 1,660,249 1,700,585 2,658,933
Income tax expense PSR Y (1,076,534) (863,660) (525,758) (677,100) (725,530)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R F 1,815,759 1,576,867 1,134,491 1,023,485 1,933,403
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: T3 pE
Owners of the parent [SYNEIE 2PN 1,522,078 1,324,780 987,656 873,016 1,714,821
Non-controlling interests TR 293,681 252,087 146,835 150,469 218,582
1,815,759 1,576,867 1,134,491 1,023,485 1,933,403
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- ¥E- -8R
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER
Total assets BEE 41,540,624 33,817,517 30,531,796 27,719,073 25,526,228
Total liabilities BEE (24,527,687)  (19,117,720)  (17,120,118)  (16,160,462)  (14,301,280)
Non-controlling interests FEE IR M i (1,469,558) (1,224,894) (1,021,669) (866,735) (1,376,144)
15,543,379 13,474,903 12,390,009 10,691,876 9,848,804
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Property List
YME— B

Group | - Property interest held by the Group for sales
F-E-FARESRFEHEZWEER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEHER

ES i3k A% SEfFEER (F7XK) % A

1. Tianan Golf Longyuan Futian, Shenzhen Res. 37.5% 20,955.17 2009
ARBBAREE R A = FE

2. Noah Mountain Forest Phase | to Il Changsha City, Hunan ~ Com & Res. 80% 18,808.00 2008-2011
ol —==H MEARDT BEREE

3. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase Il to VI Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 97,439.00 2008-2011
BEMEMH—ERE BREBMNT FE

4. Garden Hill Phase 1 Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 32,320.00 2008-2011
FiliHm—H BREBMNT FE

5. Jinxiu Jiangcheng Phase | Taizhou, Jiangsu Com & Res. 100% 81,447.00 2011
REEN— 4 TEE TN T BEREE

6. Zhongxin Keji Building Shenzhen, Guangdong  Off. 100% 9,572.00 2001
REMBEAE BRA R I NES

7. Tianan Panyu Phase IV and VI Panyu, Guangdong Ind. & Res. 37.5% 118,789.00 2009-2011
ARBEENHERH EREER TERE=RE

8. Tianan Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 966.00 2011
Phase Il
AL REEFBHN=H BRA R I%

9. Tianan Changzhou Project Phase | Changzhou, Jiangsu Ind. & Res. 37.5% 20,796.64 2010-2011
R MEEEH I — L&A BN TERE=E

10. Purple Kylin Hill Shenzhen, Guangdong  Res. 100% 50,342.00 2011
ZEILTEE BRA R FE
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Property List
YME— B

Group | - Property interest held by the Group for sales
F-E-FARESRFEHEZWEER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HREEER
ES i3k Jitke SEFEER (F7XK) % A H
11. Royal Spring Villas Dongguan, Guangdong  Res. 100% 47,910.00 2010
MR A BRARED F=E
12. Shunde Shum Yip City phase | & II Shunde District, Res. 100% 68,532.00 2011
Foshan City, Guangdong
RG2S 5 - BRABLTIEER F=E
13. Shenyang Wuai Shengang Bus Station Shenyang, Liaoning Com. & Res. 46.9% 160,164.92 2011
and Meibo Trading Centre
KERERBREURREEFESD L BELRGT BEREE
14. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase I to IlI Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 47,358.00 2008-2011
HHRE == ML ET F=E
Sub-total /]N5F 775,399.73
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Property List
YME— B

Group Il - Property interest held by the Group under development

F-E-FKRERARRDPZNERES

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEHER

ES i3k A% SEfFEER (F7XK) % A

15. Rui Cheng Phase | Changsha, Hunan Res. 80% 141,591.00 2012-2013
B —H MEARDT FE

16. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase VIII Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 52,517.00 2013
BB\ BRAEMT FE

17. Euro-view Garden Phase | & Il Dongguan, Guangdong ~ Com. & Res. 100% 214,223.35 2012-2013
BBk 8 BRARRM BEREE

18. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase Il Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 111,212.00 2012-2013
SR E =1 MILA R ET FE

19. Terra Building Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 75% 131,268.94 2012
FAKE BRA R I%

20. Yihu Rose Bay Phase I-I Chengdu, Sichuan Res. & Com. 52.5% 119,306.66 2012
RHBRRE-IH M)l & s E T FEREE

21. Tianan Changzhou Cyber-City Changzhou, Jiangsu Ind. & Res. 37.5% 123,284.18 2012
RGN B0 73 L&A BN TERE=E

22. Tianan Jiangyin Cyber-City Phase | Jiangyin, Jiangsu Ind. & Res. 37.5% 135,257.00 2012-2013
A IREEN—H TIHATRT IXRE=E

23. Tianan Tianjin Cyber-City Phase | Xiging, Tianjin Ind. 37.5% 119,600.00 2012
REREHEH —H REMASE I%

24. Tianan Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 96,213.00 2012
Phase Il
AL REESEHA=H BRA R I%

25. Tianan Panyu Cyber-City Phase VI Panyu, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 56,659.40 2012
AREBYBHN S EREER I%

26. Tianan Dongguan New Cyber-City Dongguan, Guangdong  Ind. & Res. 29.3% 156,019.87 2012-2013
Phase |
REREEIEH A —H BRARRM TERE=E
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YME— B

Group Il - Property interest held by the Group under development
F_E-FREEFAREPIUXESR

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
REEER

ES i3k k= SEFEER (F7XK) % A H

27. Tianan Nanhai New Cyber-City Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 55,608.18 2012
Phase IV
K% 7 U 0 BRAHE I%

28. Tianan Chongqing Cyber-City Chongging Ind. 37.5% 145,000.00 2012
R EBHEH—H BEM I%

29. Longgang Kengzi Yuyuan Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Res. 100% 126,067.00 2012
B E BRE R F=E

30. Noble Times Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Com. & Res. 100% 327,251.00 2012
RAE R BRA R BEREE

31. Chaohu Yu Quan Zhuang Resort Club Chaohu, Anhui Com. & Res. 100% 22,333.00 2013
ERERERBEMR ZHE T BEREE

32. Jinxiu Jiangcheng Phase | & II Taizhou, Jiangsu Res. 100% 131,199.00 2012-2013
REER-—R=H TERE TN T F=E

33. Shunde Shum Yip City Phase II Shunde District, Res. 100% 130,077.00 2012

Foshan City, Guangdong

JIE 78 % 5 9 — B BRABLTIEER F=E

34. Heyuan Baie De Seine Phase | Heyuan, Guangdong Res. 100% 57,606.00 2013
RERE—H BRATRT F=E

35. Guangzhou Jinshawan Project Phase | Guangzhou, Guangdong  Res. 100% 129,348.00 2013
BM&LEEE -5 BEREEMNT F=E

36. Garden Hill Phase 1.3 Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 53,273.00 2012
FIHE%1.35 BREZMT T

37. Foshan Yundonghai Phase | & Il Foshan, Guangdong Res. 100% 202,723.00 2012-2013
FLERE—HR—H BRA GRS F=E

Sub-total /)&t 2,837,637.58
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YME— Bk

Group Il — Property interest held by the Group for future development
F-E-FRESRFRRBREZYXRER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEHER

ES i3k A% SEfFEER (F7XK) % A

38. Noah Mountain Forest Changsha, Hunan Res. 80% 83,196.00 2015
#h o LI AR MEARDT FE

39. Rui Cheng Phase | Changsha, Hunan Res. 80% 496,317.00 2014
B —H MEARDT FE

40. Wuhan Nanhu Development Site Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 246,716.00 2014-2015
BRI R A MILA R ET FE

41. Tianan Panyu New Cyber-City Panyu, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 338,541.00 2015
AR EBHBHN EREHE I%

42. Tianan Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 106,700.00 2014
R RE o BUHS 2T 3 BRARYIT I%

43. Tianan Dongguan New Cyber-City Dongguan, Guangdong  Ind. 29.3% 665,230.41 2015
AL R 5 B0 H73 BRARRM I%

44, Tianan Tianjin Cyber-City Xiging, Tianjin Ind. 37.5% 1,042,929.00 2015
RRREHER REMASE I%

45. Tianan Jiangyin Cyber-City Jiangyin, Jiangsu Ind. 37.5% 228,034.90 2015
A& TR BES TIHATRT I%

46. Tianan Chongging Cyber-City Chongging Ind. & Res. 37.5% 750,208.75 2015
RLEREHIEH BEM TERE=E

47. Terra Chengdu Yihu Project Chengdu, Sichuan Res. 52.5% 390,000.00 2015
TN HIER M)l & T T

48. Terra Chengdu Northern Chengdu, Sichuan Res. 52.5% 474,925.28 2016
New Town Project
TN ERALE TR IR B M)l & T T

49. Huizhou Jinbang Shan Project Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 257,490.00 2014
EMErELEE BRAEMT FE

50. Kashi Project Kashi, Xinjiang Res. 100% 245,786.00 2012
®TIEE HERTT FE
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YME— Bk

Group Il — Property interest held by the Group for future development
F-E-FRESRFRRBREZYXESR

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
REEER
ES i3k k= SEFEER (F7XK) % A H
51. Guangzhou Jinshawan Project Guangzhou, Guangdong  Res. 100% 153,708.00 2014
BM&DERE BEREEMNT F=E
52. Heyuan Baie De Seine Heyuan, Guangdong Res. 100% 443,946.00 2014
RERE BRATRT F=E
53. Foshan Yundonghai Foshan, Guangdong Res. 100% 477,840.00 2014
FILERE BRA GRS F=E
54. Shunde Shum Yip City Phase Il Shunde District, Res. 100% 280,451.00 2014
Foshan City, Guangdong
B 72 % 5 9 = 5 BRABLTIEER F=E
55. Chaohu Yu Quan Zhuang Chaohu, Anhui Res. 100% 121,709.00 2015
SR ZHE T F=E
56. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 54,985.00 2016
BB BRABMT F=E
57. Jinxiu Jiangcheng Jiangyan, Jiangsu Res. 100% 594,599.00 2015
MBER IHAZED F=E
58. Huizhou Daya Bay Project Huizhou, Guangdong Res. & Off. 86% 42,240.00 2014
EMATERR BRABMT EERRAE
59. Tianan Nanhai New Cyber-City Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 62,397.19 2014
XZHEREH ERLES T
60. Tianan Changzhou Cyber-City Changzhou, Jiangsu Ind. 37.5% 613,228.00 2015
KL N B0 73 TERAE BN I%
61. Garden Hill Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 472,569.00 2014
SHIEY BRABMT F=E
Sub-total /]N5F 8,643,746.53
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YME— B

Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FME-FAEESREREZWXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HEEEE
/S 131k A% SEfGER (EFK) &R B
62. Shun Hing Square Shennan Zhong Road, Com., Off., Res. 100% 18,367.11 1996
Jiefang Road and Baoan & Carpark
Road, Luohu, Shenzhen
Z HE% AImBERRERETE HE BAE EE
BHRREZTERA RiFES
63. Shum Yip Centre Shennan Zhong Road, Com. & Off. 100% 7,422.84 1997
Luohu, Shenzhen
RER L FIMBERRRETE HERERE
64. Hua Min Building Renmin Nan Road, Com. & Res., Com. 50% 5,853.09 1993
Luohu, Shenzhen & Carpark
ERAE FIMERRAREYE HEREE BER
FE5
65. Hua Min Building Renmin Nan Road, Com. & Res. 100% 1,376.98 1993
Luohu, Shenzhen
ERAE FImERRAREYE BHEREE
66. Shum Yip Building Wenjin Zhong Road, Off. 100% 3,931.39 1991
Luohu, Shenzhen
REANE RN TH 28 4 S 85 R R WRE
67. Shen Gang Garden Shennan Dong Road, Com. & Res. 80% 3,380.14 1994
Luohu, Shenzhen
B FIMBERRRERE HEREE
68. Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Com., Off., Com. 75% 132,707.76 1994-2010
& Res., Ind., Res.
& Carpark
HRBIXRE wYITiEEE BEBRAE-
BEREE T%-
FEREEG
69. No.10 Fuxing Nan Road Futian, Shenzhen Res. 75% 64.44 1990
BEEKI0% IR = (E=d
70. Shenhua Science & Technology Park Meilin Road, Futian, Ind. 75% 15,341.58 1994
Shenzhen
REREE R AE & AR I%
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Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FME-FAEESFREREZMXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HREEER
ES i3k Jitke SEFEER (F7XK) % A H
71. Shop in No.117 Fuxing Road Futian, Shenzhen Com. 100% 50.49 1993
RERKI7REHE R A = [GES
72. Shen Gang Xin Cun Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. & Carpark 80% 8,913.43 1992
R RN & IXREES
73. Fuxing Building No.9 Fuxing Road, Com., Off. & 100% 1,593.20 1993
Futian, Shenzhen Carpark
REKNE AT RARBERKE BE BIER
FES
74. Tianan Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Off., Ind., Res. 37.5% 51,587.38 2000-2005
& Carpark
REBEABIER AR R WA TH %
LEES
75. Tian'an Nanhai New Cyber-City Phase Il Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. & Carpark 33.8% 34,203.69 2011
PNCdEacs L i BRAHE IXREES
76. Tian'an Panyu New Cyber-City Panyu, Guangdong Ind., Res. 37.5% 31,391.77 2011
& Carpark
AL B B H BRAER I% FxkiEES
77. Tian'an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Com. & Ind. 37.5% 33,649.49 2011
R BE o BUHS T3 BRA R BERIE
78. Shenrong Building Futian, Shenzhen Com. & Res. 40% 6,883.78 2000
RERE IR H & BEREE
79. Huagang Xin Cun Futian, Shenzhen Res. 80% 2,198.73 1995
EEHN R A & F=E
80. Yitai Centre Luohu, Shenzhen Com 100% 627.48 1995
(=5 A E R [GES
81. Qing Shui He Warehouse Zone Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. 95.4% 163,200.00 2016
B R ER R 2 = I
82. Shum Yip Garden Futian, Shenzhen Com. 100% 2,646.43 2002
REIEE R R [GES
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Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FME-FAEESFREREZMXESR

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HEEER
IES i3k A% SEFEER (F7XK) % A H
83. Sungang Warehouse Zone Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Ind. & Com. 95.4% 102,658.00 1990-2002
Shenzhen
BERER RIMESBERILR TEREE
84. Composite Building on Taoyuan Road Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Com. & Res. 95.4% 4,812.73 1991
Shenzhen
hRR A RIMESRERILRE BEREE
85. Dormitory Building on Taoyuan Road Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Com. & Res. 95.4% 4,835.28 1998
Shenzhen
R ESE RIMESRERILRE BEREE
86. Zijing Yuan Futian, Shenzhen Carpark 100% 7,257.00 1997
ESap IR A E BES
87. Jinze Bldg. Tianhe District, Res. 80% 240.91 1997
Guangzhou
2ERE BM R & F=E
88. Guangzhou Fuxing Com. & Trading Bldg. Huangpu Da Road, Off. 80% 150.55 1997
Tianhe District,
Guangzhou
EMEEBERNE BENTRIBERANE HBAE
89. S.Z. Int'l. Trust and Investment Corp. Junction of Zhenxin Off. 75% 1,316.54 1990
Building Road and Shangbu
Zhong Road, Futian,
Shenzhen
RIBRETREBARKE RITRABKEER BLE
EHREZR
90. Shenyang Wuai Bus Station Shenyang, Liaoning Com. & Ind. 46.9% 32,674.80 1994-1996
EBHELEREL BELRGT BERIE
91. Shenyang Wuai Shengang Bus Station Shenyang, Liaoning Com. & Carpark 46.9% 48,728.63 2011
and Meibo Trading Centre
AERERERERREEESH D BELRGT BEREES
92. Pengji Properties Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Com., Res., Ind. 100% 289,368.53 1983-2005
& Carpark
EEME BRARYIT HE T IER
FES
Sub-total /]N5F 1,017,434.17
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—EBEx

Group V - Property interest held by the Group for self-occupation
FRE-FAREESRFERZXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEHER
LIES bobla ik KEfEER (P73K) ZERAH
93. Shum Yip Centre Shennan Zhong Road, Off 100% 1,880.50 1997
Luohu, Shenzhen
RERLD AITERARAETE  BAE
94. Shum Yip Building Wenjin Zhong Road, Com. & Off. 100% 2,060.20 1991
Luohu, Shenzhen
RERE RYMEREXETE BERBAE
95. Shenrong Building Futian, Shenzhen Com., Res. & 40% 3,846.54 2000
Carpark
RERE A E B ETEREES
96. No.4 Tengfei Street Shenyang, Liaoning Res. & Carpark 80% 153.93 1992
R AT45% BELELD FEREES
97. Land in Shawan Shawan, Shenzhen Carpark 80% 1,480.00 2002
DL wIITDE R FE5
98. Elaine Court Nos.211-215 Tong Choi  Res. 40% 43.01 1986
Street, Hong Kong
tHE ERNEBXENE [EE
2155
99. Forum Court No0.9-9B Peace Ave., Res. 40% 49.24 1979
Homantin, Hong Kong
= Hak EENEMXEATE (£
9-9B%%
100. Tian Yuan Xin Cun Futian, Shenzhen Res. 100% 103.23 1997
A 48 3 R E EE
101.  Sungang Warehouse Futian, Shenzhen Off. & Res. 95.4% 10,502.41 1988-1991
BHRE YN8 A = BAZEREE
102.  Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Com. & Res. 75% 4,270.08 1994-2005
BERAEIXRE AR A & AEREE
103.  Block 1, Liangtang Aidewei Industrial Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. 100% 337.08 1990's
Area
ERERHIXEIR RN &= I%
104. Block 709, Liangtang Industrial Area Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. 80% 4,941.49 1994
ERTIXE709R AT R R I%
105. Lian Nan Garden Luohu, Shenzhen Res. 80% 744.28 1993
ERLE R FE
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YME— B

Group V - Property interest held by the Group for self-occupation
FRE-FAREFRFERZXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEHER
LIES Eobla ik KEFEES (P7K) ZERAH
106.  Business Space-Time Centre Futian, Shenzhen Off. 100% 296.00 2006
ELEES AR A & VI UNES
107.  Shenyang Dongfang Weinisi Shenyang, Liaoning Res 46.9% 160.48 2005
SR B EEREGT e
108.  Shenyang Wuai Logistic Building Shenyang, Liaoning Off. 46.9% 1,831.20 1994-1996
EELEEER EEEEGT I NES
109.  Building on Xinghe Road Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 40% 1,358.24 2002
BMAKE TR ET EREZMNT T
110. Buildings and Land in Taihe County Jian, Jiangxi, Ind. 40.8% 13,574.32 1978-2004
NG THRERE IREAELM I%
111. Pengji Properties Shenzhen, Guangzhou, ~ Com., Off. Res. 100% 24,177.10 1983-1998
Zhuhai and Nanjing & Ind.
SIS AT BN BT BE WRE EE
R B R RI¥
Sub-total /N5T 71,809.33
Group VI — Property interest held by the Group under agreement
FERAE-AEEEGBRAZNERES
Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HBEEER
LUES ik iikes REBFERES (P 73K) %A H
112. Jintian Garden Nanshan, Shenzhen Res. 80% 90.12 1991
S HEE RN L F=E
113. Lian Tang Ind. Zone Da Gu Ling, Lian Tang,  Res. 100% 2,767.00 1994
Luohu, Shenzhen
BREIXRE RYNTH IR T
T
114. Dong Bin Res. Area Nanyou Oil Res. 45% 106.73 1992
Development Region,
Nanshan, Shenzhen
REEER R TR L EE
kA
Sub-total /)&t 2,963.85
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
REBFASES

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of
Shenzhen Investment Limited (“the Company”) will be held at Garden
Room, 2nd Floor, Hotel Nikko Hong Kong, 72 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui
East, Kowloon, Hong Kong on Friday, 22 June 2012 at 10:30 a.m. for the

following purposes :—

1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements, the report

of the directors and the independent auditor’s report for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

2. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011.

3. To re-elect directors and to authorise the board of directors to fix the

remuneration of the directors.

4. To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the board of directors to fix

their remuneration.

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or

without modifications the following resolutions:—

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

5. “THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (b) of this resolution, the exercise by
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to repurchase
shares in the capital of the Company on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) or on any other
stock exchange on which the securities of the Company may
be listed and is recognised by the Securities and Futures
Commission and the Stock Exchange for this purpose, subject
to and in accordance with all applicable laws and/or the
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange or of any other stock exchange as
amended from time to time, be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares to be repurchased
by the Company pursuant to the approval of paragraph (a) of
this resolution shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue
as at the date of the passing of this resolution and the authority
pursuant to paragraph (a) of this resolution shall be limited
accordingly; and

BEESRIERERAR ([ARA])EITR_F—=
FRAZT R (EHR) EF R =THOREFTEN

B

Iy
N

PIE BR DR 3B 72 5R B B AR S 2B IR B 2R 1T

IRERBEAE AEERE TFEIRA:

AEBE-_T——F+t-A=+—BLEFEZLK
ERPBRER EEQRERBEIRBERSE -

EMREHRE T ——F+_A=+—BIFE

ZREIBE
EREENERESSEETESME -

EERBMEEREEEETANS -

ERFRIEE ZREMBEBEBTIIRER (THRES
CHDE

5.

BEBERER

S5

(a)

ERRBRODBRZHAERT  — & & M5 5
HFHEAR R B EEN AR (T X7
E)RITEARBMEEN REEMERS
FAERAR ([BRXADXARBZESA
RELTYRBAEFRMEEBERZEAR
Bt X st Ut B A Z B E MR SR 5
BENRIRRTEEER] 2 RBEA AP R
SBRAES ETRAREMEMESFR S
Fr 2 35 - BB AR BIRR A Z B D

AR BUKBARFE R (B 2 HEE B R Z D)
AEAEITSEBTNARRERBE AAR
AR BTERAHEARZAD 2T MARE
R@QBRZEDMAZ RS : R

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

203



204

Notice of Annual General Meeting
REBFASES

6.

(c)

for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be

held; and

(iii

the passing of an ordinary resolution by shareholders of
the Company in general meeting revoking or varying the
authority given to the directors of the Company by this
resolution.”

“THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (c) of this resolution and pursuant to
Section 57B of the Companies Ordinance, the exercise by
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to allot, issue
and deal with additional shares in the capital of the Company
and to make and grant offers, agreements and options (including
warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other securities which
carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares of the
Company) which would or might require shares to be allotted
be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution shall authorise
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period to
make and grant offers, agreements and options (including
warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other securities which
carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares of the
Company) which would or might require shares to be allotted
after the end of the Relevant Period;

FIERERAT 2011FF#H

()

RARBERMS

[BERAME] DEARBREBRBZRHLEET
FIMEMRS 2 B8z #E

(i) ARATEBRBFERNSHERE:

(i) EPIREARAERIT TEKRRBFEX
SHREMZ B &

(i) RARBRRAEBRRAES LBBEBRA
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ZKEAN -]

6. [B)&&:

(a)

ERRBROBRZART RARE A BRG] £
57BffF —MRREMSEHERARESZR
ERBE (B TXMAE) ATEARRMAAE
BN PARLE BT REEARB AT ZHE
SNELAD - MAEH R T B R B A D 2 EAE
o e M (BEM AR RER A E R

RARBRMND 2 REER B GEES R
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ARBRQBRZHEBEEARAEERE
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RECE I < SRR 18 R (25K
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
REBFASES

()

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether
pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the directors of the
Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of this
resolution, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as
hereinafter defined); or (ii) the exercise of rights of subscription
or conversion under the terms of any existing warrants, bonds,
debentures, notes or other securities issued by the Company
which carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares
of the Company; or (iii) the exercise of options granted under
any option scheme or similar arrangement for the time being
adopted for the grant or issue of shares or rights to acquire
shares in the Company; or (iv) any scrip dividend or similar
arrangement providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of the Company in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount
of the share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of the
passing of this resolution and the said approval shall be limited
accordingly; and

for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be

held; and

(iii

the passing of an ordinary resolution by shareholders of
the Company in general meeting revoking or varying the
authority given to the directors of the Company by this
resolution.”

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares or issue of options,
warrants or other securities giving the right to subscribe for
shares of the Company open for a period fixed by the directors
of the Company to holders of shares whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company (and, where
appropriate, to holders of other securities of the Company
entitled to the offer) on a fixed record date in proportion
to their then holdings of such shares of the Company (or,
where appropriate such other securities) (subject in all cases
to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors of
the Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation
to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions
or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of any
recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any
territory applicable to the Company).”

()

ARBEBERBEARBER (B 2 HEREK
2 A M R s M s R 3 (TR =
BIREMESR AR T AL HE) 2 IRAE(ER
BORBOHEKR R TXARE)  R()ITE
Bt #E N PR B P R B AN R R D 2 AR ]
AERBER ES EREE RHEIHEGBAN
REVEIT 2785 2 REEIIRIAE iR
B2 R R AR 2 (E R AT BB U L BEA R
HRBETARB RO RBEARR AR 2 #
AR BT R(vREARE 2
BB ER AR ERARKBF BB UZ
PHRHACEBR D UK E R AR R RN IRE 2
2R AR BRI DSHRIB AR A RIER
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T bt g IR A XU BRI R
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“THAT subject to the passing of resolution nos. 5 and 6 set out in the
notice convening this meeting, the general mandate granted to the
directors of the Company to exercise the powers of the Company to
allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the Company pursuant
to resolution no. 6 set out in the notice convening this meeting
be and is hereby extended by the addition thereto of an amount
representing the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company under the authority
granted pursuant to resolution no. 5 set out in the notice convening
this meeting, provided that such extended amount shall not exceed
10 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of
the Company in issue as at the date of the passing of this resolution.”

“THAT subject to and conditional upon the Listing Committee of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
granting the listing of, and permission to deal in, the shares of the
Company which may fall to be issued and allotted pursuant to the
exercise of any options which may be granted under the share option
scheme of the Company (the “New Share Option Scheme”), the rules
of which are contained in the document marked “A” produced to the
meeting and for the purpose of identification signed by the Chairman
of the meeting, the New Share Option Scheme be and is hereby
approved and adopted and the directors of the Company be and
are hereby authorised to do all such acts and to enter into all such
transactions, arrangements and agreements as may be necessary
or expedient in order to give full effect to the New Share Option
Scheme including but without limitation:

(i) to administer the New Share Option Scheme under which
options will be granted to participants eligible under the New
Share Option Scheme to subscribe for shares in the Company;

(ii) to modify and/or amend the New Share Option Scheme from
time to time provided that such modification and/or amendment
is effected in accordance with the provisions of the New Share
Option Scheme relating to modification and/or amendment;

(iii) to issue and allot from time to time such number of shares in
the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued
pursuant to the exercise of the options under the New Share
Option Scheme and subject to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange;
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(iv) to make application at the appropriate time or times to the
Stock Exchange, and any other stock exchanges upon which
the issued shares of the Company may for the time being be
listed, for listing of and permission to deal in any shares of the
Company which may hereafter from time to time be issued and
allotted pursuant to the exercise of the options under the New
Share Option Scheme; and

(v) to consent, if it so deems fit and expedient, to such conditions,
modifications and/or variations as may be required or imposed
by the relevant authorities in relation to the New Share Option

Scheme.”

By order of the Board
Shenzhen Investment Limited
LU Hua

Acting Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 April 2012

Registered Office:

8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre,
9 Science Museum Road,
Tsimshatsui,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong.

Notes:

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote instead
of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

To be valid, a form of proxy, together with the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that
power or authority must be deposited at the registered office of the Company
at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the
meeting or any adjournment thereof.

To ascertain the shareholders” entitlement to attend and vote at the meeting,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 19 June
2012 to Friday, 22 June 2012, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the meeting, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrars, Tricor
Standard Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 18 June 2012.
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Subject to approval of the shareholders at the meeting, the proposed final
dividend will be payable to shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 28 June, 2012. To ascertain the shareholders’
entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 28 June 2012 to Friday, 29 June
2012, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all duly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrars, Tricor Standard Limited, at
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 June 2012.

Pursuant to rule 13.39(4) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), any vote of the shareholders
at the meeting shall be taken by poll except where the Chairman, in good
faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matters to be voted on a show of hands and the Company will
announce the results of the poll in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5)
of the Listing Rules.

With regard to items 3 and 5 to 8 of this notice, a circular giving details of the
re-election of retiring directors, general mandates to repurchase shares and to
issue shares and adoption of new share option scheme will be despatched to
the shareholders together with the Annual Report 2011 of the Company on 27
April 2012.

This notice is also available for viewing on the website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of the

Company at www.shenzheninvestment.com from 27 April 2012.

As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises 8 directors, of which Mr.
LU Hua, Mr. MOU Yong and Mr. LIU Chong are executive directors of the
Company, Dr. WU Jiesi and Mr. HUANG Yige are non-executive directors of
the Company and Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. LI Wai Keung and Mr. WU Wai
Chung, Michael are independent non-executive directors of the Company.
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